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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2009 to the
shareholders.

Year 2008-2009 was a stern and challenging year for the
Group. Affected by the 5.12 Wenchuan Mega Earthquake,
the development of the Group's piped gas fuel business was
dampened with decreases in both its connected customers
and piped gas fuel consumption. At the same time, however,
both LPG business and other business had developed steadily.
By overcoming various adverse factors, the Group achieved a
turnover of HK$579,510,000 for the year, representing a decrease
of HK$40,166,000 as compared to the corresponding period
last year and achieved a profit after taxation of HK$39,237,000
for the year. Loss for the corresponding period last year was
HK$309,400,000.

REVIEW AND PROSPECT OF CHINESE
ECONOMY AND THE INDUSTRY

2008 was an extraordinary year for China. By suffering from the
impact of snowstorm disaster, 5.12 Wenchuan Mega Earthquake
and global financial tsunami, the pace of economic growth had
slowed down with certain industries seriously affected. Despite
various difficulties, the overall Chinese economy still remained
healthy when compared with other foreign large-scale economies.
The GDP of China increased by 9% in 2008, among the top of the
world in terms of growth rate.

In order to sustain a stable economic growth, the PRC government
put forth a series of stimulating economic policies, which include
investment plan implementation with a total amount of RMB4
trillion, structural tax relief as well as large-scale implementation
of adjustment and development plan for industries. These
policies will exert enormous impetus in driving domestic demand,
improving economic structure and enhancing the overall economic
competitiveness of our citizens. Despite the short term adverse
impact on Chinese economy brought by international financial
crisis, however, it will not alter its long term growing trend.
The evolution of Chinese economy, in terms of its urbanization,
industrialization and modernization, will continue to progress.
During the first quarter of 2009, the GDP in China increased by
6.1%), showing signs of recovery in its overall economy.
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NATURAL GAS INDUSTRY

In 2008, total production volume of natural gas in China was
76.08 billion cubic meters (“m3”), an increase of 9.9% over the
previous year. Total consumption of natural gas was 80.7 billion
m3, an increase of 10.1% over the previous year. Despite the
slowing down of the development pace of natural gas business
caused by the dampening economic development, the growth
rate of natural gas production and consumption still rank the top
among various energy sources. Natural gas, being a kind of clean
and highly efficient energy, occupied an even more prominent role
in the energy structure and the growing demand trend for China
natural gas production and consumption had remained intact. The
development potential of Chinese economy is the tremendous
driving force in fueling the sustainable development of natural
gas production in China. The completion and operation of a series
of large-scale projects including the second pipeline under the
west-east gas transmission project and coastal Liquefied Natural
Gas (“"LNG") projects lay a strong foothold in the continuous
development of natural gas industry. Fujian LNG handling terminal
has commenced its operation to handle LNG from Indonesia since
May 2009, subject to a project period of 25 years. Its designated
capacity is to handle 2.6 million tons LNG per year. The operation
is based in Fujian and will become the propeller in speeding up
the development of Haixi, and also lays a solid foundation of the
Group’s continuous business development in that region. With
the sustained and steady growth of Chinese economy and the
continuous progress of its industrialization and urbanization, the
market prospect of natural gas will be promising. The Group will
leverage on this opportunity in continuing the development of our
piped gas fuel business.
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LPG INDUSTRY

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (“LPG") remains the primary energy
resource for people living in Yunnan, Guizhou and south-western
region of Hunan Provinces, the PRC. Affected by international
financial crisis, price of LPG also decreased in line with
international crude oil price and hence strengthening the
market competitiveness of LPG. A series of stimulating economic
measures including adjustment and development plan of the
petrochemical industry put forth by the PRC government will
further facilitate the development of petrochemical industry and
in turn, driving the growth of LPG in production and sales. The
Group will leverage on this opportunity to further expand the
market size of LPG industry and make it a major profit contributor
to the Group.

LOTTERY BUSINESS

According to statistics from China’s Ministry of Finance, total sales
revenues of lottery of the state in 2008 reached RMB106 billion,
exceeding 100 billion for two consecutive years, a market with
tremendous potential. In 4 May 2009, the State Council of China
promulgated the “Regulations on Lottery Management” which
is officially implemented on 1 July 2009. The promulgation and
implementation of “Regulations on Lottery Management” will
strengthen the administration of lottery industry, regulate market
order of lottery industry and protect the lawful interests of lottery
participants, thereby playing a prominent role in the rapid and
healthy development of lottery industry in China.
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RECONSTRUCTION OF SUBSIDIARIES IN
DISASTROUS AREAS AFTER THE EARTHQUAKE

In 2008, influenced by the adverse effects caused by 5.12
Wenchuan Earthquake, several of our subsidiaries located in
Sichuan, Chongging and adjacent areas had suffered from
various degrees of losses in properties and personnel. After the
earthquake, under the leadership of the Group’s directors and
management, all the staff of our subsidiaries in the disastrous
areas worked actively with local governments in contributing our
efforts to resume gas supply as well as engaging in the restoration
and reconstruction works. As at 31 March 2009, apart from the
gas supply of Bei Chuan Zhongmin and Mian Zhu Han Wang
which are still not fully restored, the gas supply of other affected
subsidiaries have already resumed.

To facilitate the reconstruction works of earthquake disastrous
areas, the PRC government put forth a series of encouraging
measures which mainly involved enterprise tax relief, expanding
the scope of value-added tax allowance and provision of
subsidized loans. At the same time, some of the stimulating
economic policies, aimed at combating international financial
crisis, are also related to post-earthquake reconstruction, which
include (among others) an early allocation of RMB20 billion from
the 2009 post-earthquake reconstruction fund to assist the post-
earthquake reconstruction in disastrous areas. With the smooth
progress of post-earthquake reconstruction, we believe the
operating results of the Group’s subsidiaries in the disastrous areas
will continue to improve and our piped gas business will still have
promising market development prospect.

Looking forward, by leveraging on the foundation of the
continuous and stable development of urban gas business, the
Group will continue to explore and invest in businesses with better
returns, aiming at bringing higher returns to our shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby gratefully acknowledge the
supports of all shareholders and all social sectors over the year.

Dr. Mo Shikang
Chairman

Beijing, 10 July 2009
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B E2009F3A31BIEFE - AEEE2RBET
EEBEEREEERET REERATE
BEREREE R REH BENEKTEFENT

For the year ended 31 March 2009, under the leadership of the
directors and management of the Group, all our staff put into
effect in executing the development strategies of the Group,

overcoming difficulties and had successfully completed their works VEERS
and assignments for the year.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBREE

For the year ended 31 March

HZ3A3MBLLEE
Change
2009 2008 gz
Items EH HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BET T
Turnover: HEER:
Provision of piped gas fuel business HEEBEMRES 312,141 425,846 (113,705)
Transportation and distribution of B A B RES -
LPG and retail of bottled LPG DERINETEER
business 267,369 193,830 73,539
Total At 579,510 619,676 (40,166)
Gross profit: E7:
Provision of piped gas fuel business HEEERRES 90,816 119,340 (28,524)
Transportation and distribution of BAL A hEEH
LPG and retail of bottled LPG DHNMIRETEEK
business 41,724 23,026 18,698
Total a5 132,540 142,366 (9,826)
Segment results: DEPHELE
Provision of piped gas fuel business HEEBENRRES 25,979 58,640 (32,661)
Transportation and distribution of BAL A H R E S -
LPG and retail of bottled LPG DERIMETEEY
business 15,568 9,626 5,942
Total &t 41,547 68,266 (26,719)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued) BMREEE (&)
For the year ended 31 March
BE3A31MBLEE
Change
2009 2008 gz
Items HH HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BT T
Change in fair value of convertible AMRERATEES
notes (4,496) (61,789) 57,293
Change in financial assets at fair BATEFAERZ
value through profit or loss TRMEEZD (7,507) 71,998 (79,505)
Reversal of impairment loss/ wEREEIERER
(impairment loss) recognised in CREEE)
respect of earthquake 65,002 (279,922) 344,924
Impairment loss recognised in FEREEE
respect of goodwill - (8,397) 8,397
Equity-settled share-based payments  VAEZRZEE R M A
B2 (1,666) (31,551) 29,885
Other revenues & expenses (net) HE W A MY (F58) (41,597) (59,266) 17,669
Profit/(loss) before taxation BrFLRTE T (E518) 51,283 (300,661) 351,944
Profit/(loss) attributable to PR FE(R T, (B 1R)
shareholders 35,902 (309,456) 355,434
Earnings/(loss) per share SlRAF, (E18)
Basic (HK cents per share) AKX (FRBW) 0.88 (7.87) 8.75

Diluted (HK cents per share) B (gRBM) N/ATE A N/AZ i A N/AZ 3 F




Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2008-2009

s
X
u>
=X

Management Discussion and Analysis & 3% [€ 3

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS EERE
For the year
ended 31 March Percentage
BZE3A3MALEE Change  of changes
Items EHA 2009 2008 #E) Aokl
(%)
No. of projects BHEHHE (@)
Gas fuel MR IE B 36 36 - -
Transportation and distribution  &{b A MR EH
of LPG and retail of bottled DEERETE
LPG 4 4 _ _
Others (Note 1) He (ME1) 3 2 1 50.0
Total No. of projects HE B 43 42 1 2.4
No. of connected for the year — $FREHIREZEEAF &
(B)
Household customers ERAFP 27,008 31,491 -4,483 -14.2
Commercial & industrial IEERF
customers 213 638 -425 -66.6
Total No. of connected EEBAFPRE(P) 27,221 32,129 -4,908 -15.3
Accumulated No. of connected ZEERRP (P)
Household customers ERAP 205,867 200,175 5,692 2.8
Commercial & industrial TITEERRP
customers 2,229 14,561 -12,332 -84.7
Accumulated No. of connected ZFHEEEBFE (F) 208,096 214,736 -6,640 -3.1
Decrease in No. of connected A =R D P #R
as a result of earthquake (P) (Mf5E2)
(Note 2)
Household customers ERAF 21,316 n/a-1~ i A n/a-f~ i A n/a-f~ i A
Commercial & industrial ITE¥RF
customers 12,545 n/a-f~ i A n/a-~ i@ A n/a-T~ i@ A

Total &5 33,861 n/a”~ i@ A n/a”~ & FB n/a”~ i B
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EERE (H)

For the year

ended 31 March Percentage
HZ3A3MBLLEE Change  of changes
HE)
Items 5 H 2009 2008 BE) [EhsNvd
(%)
Sales of piped gas fuel EBMRAHES
(10,000 m?) (B HK)
Household customers BERAF 2,431 4,356 -1,925 -44.2
Commercial & industrial ITEERF
customers 10,046 13,804 -3,758 -27.2
Total sales of gas fuel MRBIEES 12,477 18,160 -5,683 -31.3
Sales of LPG (tons) B HRRBEES
(mg) 46,003 38,263 7,740 20.2
Notes: B 5E -

During the year, other projects include the addition of “Yongheng
Lecai” and removal of “Yin Chuan Zhongmin“as compared with
last year (details of which are set out in the sections headed “New
Projects During the Reporting Period” and “Business Disposed
During the Reporting Period” respectively);

—_

During the year, as a result of 5.12 Wenchuan Mega Earthquake, 2.
decreases in the accumulated number of connected household
customers and commercial & industrial customers and sales of

piped gas fuel were recorded (please refer to the section headed
“Reconstruction After the Sichuan Earthquake”).
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Provision of piped gas fuel business

Supplying piped gas fuel to urban household and commercial &
industrial customers by constructing urban gas pipeline networks
in the PRC is the principal business of the Group, which is the
Group's major source of income.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group achieved
piped gas fuel sales of 124.77 million m? in total, representing a
decrease of 31.3% as compared with the corresponding period
of last year. Among which, the sales of 24.31 million m® of gas
fuel to household customers represented a decrease of 44.2% as
compared to the corresponding period of last year as well as the
sales of 100.46 million m* of gas fuel to commercial & industrial
customers, representing a decrease of 27.2% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year. A comparison of sales of
piped gas fuel among the financial years from 2007 to 2009 is
shown in the Graph 1.

Graph 1: Comparison of sales volumes of piped gas fuel in
recent three years
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Provision of piped gas fuel business (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group had
accumulated connection work completion for a number of
205,867 household customers, an increase of 2.8% from the
corresponding period of last year and 2,229 commercial &
industrial customers, a decrease of 84.7% from the corresponding
period of last year. The slowdown in the growth of household
customers and the decrease in commercial & industrial customers
were primarily attributable to the fact that connected customers
of our several subsidiaries located at the disastrous areas were
suffered from the damage and collapse of housings, shops and
factories during the 5.12 Wenchuan Mega Earthquake, resulting
in a loss of connected customers. Excluding the decrease in
number of customers brought by the earthquake, the number of
household customers and commercial & industrial customers were
increased by 13.5% and 1.5% respectively as compared with the
corresponding period last year.

A comparison of number of connected customers among the
financial years from 2007 to 2009 are shown in the Graph 2.

Graph 2: Comparison of accumulated number of connected
customers in recent three years
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Provision of piped gas fuel business (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the provision of piped gas
fuel business of the Group recorded a turnover of approximately
HK$312,141,000, representing a decrease of 26.7% as compared
with the corresponding period last year. Turnover from the
provision of piped gas fuel accounted for 53.9% of the annual
turnover of the Group. The decreases in the number of connected
and turnover were mainly due to (1) the disposal of a project
company in the previous year, of which the results up to the
date of disposal was still reflected in the consolidated financial
statements for the previous year, and (2) the loss of the number
of connected and the suspension of gas supply from several
subsidiaries of the Group near Wenchuan of Sichuan Province,
the PRC after the 5.12 Wenchuan Mega Earthquake. For details,
please refer to the section headed “Reconstruction After the
Sichuan Earthquake”.

Transportation and distribution of LPG and retail of
bottled LPG business

Transportation and distribution of LPG and retail of bottled LPG
is a newly added business of the Group in 2007. With the joint
efforts of all our staff, the business development of LPG business
continued to mature with sales revenue increase progressively year
by year, and have became another major income source of the
Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Transportation and distribution of LPG and retail of
bottled LPG business (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the sales of LPG by the
Group reached 46,003 tons in total, representing an increase
of 20.2% over the corresponding period of last year and the
Group realized an income from sales of LPG of approximately
HK$267,369,000, representing an increase of 37.9% over
corresponding period of last year. The Group's income from the
transportation and distribution of LPG and retail of bottled LPG
accounted for approximately 46.1% of the Group’s turnover
during the year. A comparison of the sales volumes of LPG of the
Group during the financial years from 2007 to 2009 are shown in
the Graph 3.

Graph 3: Comparison of sales volumes of LPG in recent three
years
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Video lottery system and equipment supply business

In December 2008, the Group invested through the establishment
of a joint venture “Shenzhen Yongheng Lecai Technology
Development Company Limited” ("% Y7 sk 5 £ 5% %+ 9 8
BBR2AA"), ("Yongheng Lecai”) in Shenzhen, PRC, details of
which is set out in the section headed “New Projects During the
Reporting Period”. Yongheng Lecai is engaged in the development
of software with intelligent electronic engineering technology,
the development and operation of real estate development on
lands with legitimate land use right, and industrial investment
and trading (specific projects to be applied separately). Currently,
Yongheng Lecai is actively applying to relevant authorities for
investing and engaging in the development of lottery software
technology for Asia and establishing a production base in
Shenzhen, as well as acting as agent and distributor for national
welfare business. During the reporting period, the lottery business
of the Group has not yet to commence operation.

Graph 4: Revenue structure of the Group
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RECONSTRUCTION AFTER THE SICHUAN
EARTHQUAKE

On 12 May 2008, a rarely seen historical earthquake struck
Wenchuan County of Sichuan Province, resulting in catastrophic
casualties and losses in properties. The earthquake caused
members of the Group located in Sichuan, Chongging and the
adjacent areas to suffer from various degrees of loss of properties
and personnel and the sharp decline of connected household
customers and commercial & industrial customers. Meanwhile,
some of the companies even suffered disruptions to the supply
of piped gas fuel business, inflicting certain impact on the
Group's overall operational results in 2008/2009. Such companies
include Bei Chuan County Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. (“Bei Chuan
Zhongmin”), Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural Gas Co., Ltd.
("Mian Zhu Han Wang”), Mian Zhu City Hong Sen Natural Gas
Co., Ltd., Mian Zhu City Long Teng Gas Installation Co., Ltd., Yan
Ting Zhongmin Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Longxing
(Yan Ting) Natural Gas Co., Ltd.), Chongging Zhongmin Gas Co.,
Ltd and Xi'an Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.

After the disaster, with the support of local governments and
under the leadership of our management, by overcoming
tremendous difficulties, all the staff of our subsidiaries in the
disastrous areas rushed to repair the gas pipeline networks
damaged by the earthquake and strive to resume the supply of
piped gas fuel. As at 31 March 2009, the Group had a confirmed
direct economic loss of approximately HK$214,920,000 brought
by 5.12 Wenchuan Mega Earthquake, which is mainly the severe
damages of gas pipeline network during the earthquake and
the impairment of goodwill of respective companies. Apart from
the gas supply of Bei Chuan Zhongmin and Mian Zhu Han Wang
which are still not fully restored, the gas supply of other affected
subsidiaries have already resumed.
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RECONSTRUCTION AFTER THE SICHUAN
EARTHQUAKE (Continued)

To assist in the post-earthquake reconstruction and recovery
works, the PRC government put forth a series of encouraging
policies such as income tax reduction, expanding the scope of
value-added tax allowance and subsidized loans. By officially
published the schedule of post-earthquake restoration and
reconstruction in April 2009, Sichuan Province highlighted the
restoration of the projects relevant to people livelihood like
housing as top priority and put more efforts on the reconstruction
of ancillary infrastructure projects including water and electricity.
Under the support of these policies, our subsidiaries in the
disastrous areas will actively coordinate with local governments
to ensure the provision of piped gas fuel and support the
smooth development of post-earthquake reconstruction. At
the same time, the Group will leverage on the opportunities
arising from the overall planning in respect of post-earthquake
reconstruction, speed up the marketing development of household
and commercial & industrial customers of our subsidiaries in the
disastrous areas and enhance the scale of gas fuel supply, thereby
realizing the swift development of the above companies.

NEW PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Establishing Yongheng Lecai

In December 2008, Beijing Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Zhongmin”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and
Yongheng Development Group (Shenzhen) Company Limited
jointly invested to set up Yongheng Lecai, a joint venture company
in Shenzhen, PRC. The registered capital of Yongheng Lecai is
RMB75,000,000, among which, the contribution from Beijing
Zhongmin is RMB30,000,000, holding 40% equity interest of
Yongheng Lecai. Yongheng Lecai is engaged in the development
of software with intelligent electronic engineering technology,
the development and operation of real estate development on
lands with legitimate land use right, and industrial investment
and trading (specific projects to be applied separately). Currently,
Yongheng Lecai is actively applying to relevant authorities for
investing and engaging in the development of lottery software
technology for Asia and establishing a production base in
Shenzhen, as well as acting as agent and distributor for national
welfare business.
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NEW PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

Establishing Zhongmin Haiyou (Nanping) Gas
Company Limited

In January 2009, Nanping An Ran Gas Co., Ltd. (“Nanping An
Ran”), a subsidiary of the Group, and Fujian Zhongmin CNOOC
Gas Co., Ltd jointly invested to set up Zhongmin Haiyou (Nanping)
Gas Company Limited, a joint venture company in Nanping, Fujian
Province, with the registered capital of RMB7,500,000. Among
which, the contribution from Nanping An Ran is RMB3,000,000,
holding its 40% equity interest. Zhongmin Haiyou (Nanping) Gas
Company Limited is engaged in fuel gas engineering investment;
natural gas wholesale (excluding production, storage, transmission
and distribution, supplying and filling) (for the above operating
scope that involves operating permit, permissions from the
relevant authorities shall be obtained before operation).

BUSINESS DISPOSED DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Disposal of 50% equity interest in Yin Chuan
Zhongmin

In order to optimize the Group’s business structure and capture
the opportunity of realizing its investment, in August 2008, the
Group disposed of its 50% equity interest in Yin Chuan Zhongmin
Gas Co., Ltd. ("Yin Chuan Zhongmin”) at a cash consideration of
RMB3,000,000. After the disposal, Yin Chuan Zhongmin ceased to
be an associate of the Group. The sale proceeds were used as the
Group’s general working capital.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Gross profit

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group realized a gross
profit from business operation of HK$132,540,000 (2008:
HK$142,366,000), representing a decrease of 6.9% as compared
with the corresponding period last year. The overall gross profit
margin was 22.9%, maintaining almost the same level with the
previous year. The decrease of gross profit was mainly attributable
to the following reasons:

(1) During the year, the subsidiaries of the Group located in
Sichuan, Chongging and adjacent areas were affected by
the earthquake and the business of supplying piped gas fuel
was once suspended (see “Reconstruction After the Sichuan
Earthquake”), resulting a dedine of the Group's turnover,
which led to a decrease in overall gross profit amount.
This impact had been improved after the restoration of gas
supply from the subsidiaries affected by the earthquake and
the smooth progress of reconstruction works; and

(2) During the year, subsidiaries of the Group located in Fujian
Province was affected by gas fuel resources shortage,
augmented by its higher purchasing costs when compare
with other subsidiaries, this had led to a limitation to the
amount in supplying piped gas fuel and the number of new
connected customers. As a result, the Group's turnover and
its overall gross profit were affected. Such impacting factor is
expected to be improved after receiving of Indonesia LNG in
Fujian Province in 2009.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2009, the total assets of the Group was
approximately HK$1,530,375,000, and current liabilities,
non-current liabilities, shareholders’ equity and minority interests
were approximately HK$642,427,000, HK$185,810,000,
HK$633,328,000 and HK$68,810,000 respectively.

As at 31 March 2009, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$176,952,000 (2008:
approximately HK$170,318,000) and the total borrowings
was equivalent to approximately HK$320,161,000 (2008:
approximately HK$226,341,000). The debt-to-capitalization ratio,
representing the ratio of total borrowings to total borrowings and
capital (excluding minority interests), was 28.6% (2008: 21.9%).

= & & 3 AT

el

HE2009F3A31HIEFE AEBKEER
HE IR E F 75 #132,540,0007T (2008 : 74 i
142,366,0007T) " A F R B 1 6.9% - B 88
FERMERE229% EH T FEHAE -BEEFT
BOEZEREA:

(1) ARNFEE - SERIR)IDa R N AR T i &
BRAZMERZE EEMRHEEE—
ERE (HFEA28 (DI ERERE]
—H) CBEAREEXRBENE SWE
BEMNSBE MK ZFECHIUMETE
MBARKNREHRENEZTIENIER
EITMSRE R

2 FR KEUNEEZEANHRBARAR
EMRERER I EERBAABEM
MEARRNTE BEEANNEEBRR
HEE LIS RB AP B I ARG &
EAEECEXBREBREN ZARY
EFHE2009F RRERKKBEER
PR HILNG Z & 45 B PTER = ©

RBESTREXRRR

MR2009F3H31A AEBEELENEE
1,530,375,000t A R BB E -FERIDE
B REEERVERREZD NN AEBE
642,427,0007C * /& #185,810,0007C * /& 1
633,328,0007T 1% #68,810,0007T °

MR2009F3A3IH AEEMNRE AR E
I8 B 47 1176,952,0007T (2008 : 475 &
170,318,0007T) " MEERFEMRER LA
320,161,0007T (2008 : 497 #226,341,000
L) BEEEALR (EERBEEEERE
A(TRELEIREERT) BT E) 528.6%
(2008 :21.9% ) ©



TRERARAE
2008-2009%F 3§

Management Discussion and Analysis & 2 8 57 & 2 #7

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
(Continued)

On 30 May 2006, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Indopark
Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Merrill
Lynch & Co., Inc., in respect of the issue of US$40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$310,000,000) 2% convertible
notes due in 2009. Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription
Agreement, the convertible notes can be converted into
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.60 per share (subject to
adjustment) (the conversion price was lowered to HK$0.50 in
July 2008). Unless previously redeemed, converted or purchased
and cancelled, the convertible notes shall be redeemed by
the Company at 106% of the principal amount at the third
anniversary of the issue date. The interest of the convertible
notes will be paid from the issue date at the rate of 2% per
annum of the principal amount of the notes. As at 31 March
2009, the convertible notes with an amount of US$20,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$155,000,000) were converted
into 258,333,332 ordinary shares of the Company. The balance of
convertible notes with an amount of US$20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$155,000,000) remained outstanding. On
15 June 2009, the Company redeemed such convertible notes
at 106% of the principal amount pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement.

BORROWING STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2009, the total borrowings of the Group
was approximately HK$320,161,000 (2008: approximately
HK$226,341,000), which included domestic bank loans and other
loans denominated in Renminbi of the project companies in the
PRC. The borrowings were applied to gas pipeline construction,
general working capital and for operating expenses, carried
interest at floating fixed rates or the interest rate announced
by PBOC. Apart from the loans with an amount equivalent to
approximately HK$217,561,000 were pledged with certain assets
with an carrying amount of approximately HK$101,670,000,
others were unsecured. Short-term borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$156,059,000, while others were long-term
loans due after 1 year. For details of capital commitments and
pledge of assets, please refer to note 42 and note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s long-term capital comprises shareholders’ equity
and debt, which includes the bank and other borrowings and
convertible notes, that is confirmed by the sound debt-to-
capitalization ratio discussed in the section headed “Liquidity and
capital resources” above.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

All of the Group's operation are carried out in the PRC and
substantially all of its income and expenses were denominated
in RMB. During the year ended 31 March 2009, the continuous
appreciation of RMB has been favourable to the Group as a
whole. The Group will closely monitor the market interest rates
and make appropriate adjustment when necessary.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2009, the Group's capital commitment amounted
to approximately HK$137,422,000, mainly attributable to the
major engineering works of the Fujian Province LNG terminals
project and pipeline network laying works in other regions. Please
refer to note 42 to the consolidated financial statements for
further details.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had approximately 1,200
employees, most of them are stationed in the PRC. The
remuneration policy and package of the Group’'s employees
are reviewed and approved by the Board. The emolument
payable to Directors is determined with reference to his duties
and responsibility with the Company, the Company’s business
performance, profitability and market conditions and the
Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Board on the Company's policy, structured and packages for all
remuneration of Directors and senior management. Apart from
pension funds, individual employees may be granted discretionary
bonus and share options as rewards for the outstanding
performance.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REPURCHASE OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

On 11 August 2008, the Company repurchased its 100,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.07 each in the share capital of the
Company at a price of HK$0.099 per share. Apart from that,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or repurchased any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2009.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Disposal of 49% equity interest in Fujian An Ran

On 26 April 2009, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with China Gas Holdings Limited (“China Gas”, stock
code: HK00384), pursuant to which, the Company disposed
the entire share capital of Brilliant China Investments Limited
("Brilliant China”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
for a consideration of approximately HK$323,664,000 for cash.
Brilliant China beneficially owns 45.45% equity interest in Fujian
Province An Ran Gas Investment Company Limited (“Fujian An
Ran”). On the same day, Beijing Zhongmin, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, entered into an equity transfer agreement
with Zhongran Gas (Shenzhen) Company Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Gas) in respect of transfer of the 3.55%
equity interest held by it in Fujian An Ran for a consideration of
RMB40,000,000 for cash. Upon completion of such disposals,
Brilliant China will cease to be a subsidiary of the Group but
the Group remains as the major shareholder of Fujian An Ran,
of which the Group holds 51% of the equity interest. Fujian An
Ran will continue as a subsidiary of the Group. The Group will
continue to benefit from the profits contribution by the Fujian An
Ran and its subsidiaries in the PRC.

The proceeds from such disposals have been partially used for
the contribution of the registered capital of Yongheng Lecai and
repay the outstanding convertible notes with interest accrued.
These equity interest disposals have positive impact on the
business operations and financial position of the Group, given
that the disposals represent an opportunity for the Group to
realize its investment so as to deploy its resources to invest in
new businesses that could broaden the revenue base and increase
profitability of the Group.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (Continued)
Capital injection into Yongheng Lecai

On 12 June 2009, Beijing Zhongmin, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, made a capital injection of RMB24,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$27,273,000) into Yongheng
Lecai, which is owned 40% interest by Beijing Zhongmin.
Yongheng Lecai is currently applying to relevant authorities for
investing and engaging in the development of lottery software
technology for Asia and establishing a production base in
Shenzhen, as well as acting as agents and distributors for national
welfare business. On 11 May 2009, the Company entered into a
loan agreement with Yongheng Development Corporation Limited
(“Yongheng Development”) (Yongheng Development holds the
entire equity interest in Yongheng Development Group (Shenzhen)
Company Limited, and Yongheng Development Group (Shenzhen)
Company Limited holds 60% interest in Yongheng Lecai, pursuant
to which, the Company has agreed to loan an amount of
HK$41,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB36,080,000)
to Yongheng Development. The loan will be used for the
contribution of the registered capital of Yongheng Lecai.

Redemption of convertible bonds

On 15 June 2009, the Company redeemed the convertible bonds
at 106% of the principal amount (i.e. US$21,200,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$164,502,000)) pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement.
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PROSPECT
Piped gas fuel business

Under that the global widespread of financial crisis, in order to
maintain the continuous and healthy development of the Chinese
economy, the PRC government has launched a series of policies
to stimulate the economy, so as to maintain the growth rate
of the Chinese economy at above 8% in 2009. The continuous
development of the Chinese economy will definitely drive the
demand for energy including natural gas. At present, the natural
gas in China has just unveiled its massive scale development. The
next few decades will be the surging period for the development
of natural gas in terms of development cycle. Accompanied by
the massive scale development in natural gas industry, it has
become an inevitable requirement to further rationalize natural
gas pricing mechanism and construct large-scale natural gas
projects. With further deepening of the reformation of natural gas
pricing mechanism and the completion and operation of a series
of large-scale projects represented by the gas transmission from
West to East project and coastal LNG project, China’s natural gas
industry will continue its rapid development and the piped gas
fuel business of the Group will also be benefited.

LPG business

In Yunnan, Guizhou, the south-western regions of Hunan Province
of China, due to the lacking of natural gas resources, there is still
a strong market demand for LPG in a relative longer period of
time. After the continuous development for more than two years,
the Group’s LPG business has gradually developed a business
operation model integrating transportation, wholesaling and
retailing of bottled LPG. This business has also attained certain
market scale within its areas of coverage and has a relatively
stable customer groups. The development of LPG business is
gradually matured.

The Group will continue to research and master the market
discipline of LPG, tap in depth the aspects of transportation,
wholesaling, retailing and others, establish a scientific business
operation mechanism, increase retail outlets to cover more
customer sources and expand the bottled LPG retail market
that has a higher profit margin. The Group will also dedicate to
establish its branding and improve service quality in local market,
striving to achieve better operating performance.
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PROSPECT (Continued)
Lottery business

According to statistics from China’s Ministry of Finance, total
sales revenues of lottery of the state in 2008 reached RMB106.0
billion, exceeding a 100 billion for two consecutive years. Of
which, total sales of welfare lottery reached RMB60.4 billion, total
sales of sports lottery reached RMB45.6 billion, a market with
tremendous potential. The Group believes, with the continuous
development of the Chinese economy, the continuous increase
of people’s disposable income as well as the promulgation and
implementation of “Regulations on Management of Lottery”,
the lottery industry in China will usher in a better development
opportunity. Yongheng Lecai's lottery business, after its approval,
will bring in remarkable returns and abundant cash flow for the
Group.

Look forward to the future, the Group will actively expand the
piped gas fuel market, steadily increase the number of customers
connected with piped gas fuel and the sales volume; continue to
perform in-depth development of LPG business and constantly
open up the market scope and the scale of business. At the same
time, the Group will also contribute active efforts to gain the
approval for the lottery business from the government as early as
possible so as to achieve the diversification development strategy
of the Group, with an aim to acquiring greater values and returns
on investment for all shareholders and investors.

Mr. Jin Song
Managing Director and Executive Director

Beijing, 10 July, 2009
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Ruixin, aged 68, is the honourable chairman of our board
of directors ("Board”) and an executive director, he joined our
Company since 11 April 2005. Mr. Xu is currently the chairman
of the China Association of Social Workers. Mr. Xu was a vice
minister and committee member of the Ministry of Civil Affairs
of China. Mr. Xu is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Dr. Mo Shikang, aged 51, is the chairman of our Board and
an executive director, Dr. Mo joined our Company since 30
April 2004. Dr. Mo is currently a member of our Remuneration
Committee, the chairman of the Board of Beijing Zhongmin Gas
Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company and acts as
director posts in certain principal subsidiaries of the Company. Dr.
Mo holds a Bachelor degree in Sciences from Tianjin Education
University, a Master degree in Economics from Tianjin University
of Finance & Economics and a Doctor degree in Economic from
Nankai University in China. Dr. Mo has substantial experiences
in the development and management of natural gas projects
in China. Dr. Mo is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Zhang Hesheng, aged 55, is a deputy chairman of our Board
and an executive director, he joined our Company since 21 March
2005. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of our Remuneration
Committee and a deputy chairman of Fujian Province An Ran Gas
Investment Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Group.
Mr. Zhang holds a MBA degree from the La Trobe University in
Australia. In late 1980s, Mr. Zhang joined the initial financial
securities industry in China, he has been engaged in provision of
securities company businesses relating to securities and financial
investment; securities brokerages; investment banking; financial
research and analysis for Wanguo Holdings Limited, Guotai
Securities Company Limited and Guotai Junan Securities Company
Limited and acted as senior operation officer. Mr. Zhang has
extensive experiences in financial and capital markets. Mr. Zhang
is not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhu Peifeng, aged 52, is a deputy chairman of our Board
and an executive director, he joined our Company since 21
March 2005. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor degree in Sciences from
Shanghai Maritime University and a Master degree in Economic
from Shanghai Tongji University in China. Mr. Zhu joined the
financial securities industry in 1992 with over 10 year experiences
in relevant industries, during which he worked for Bank of
Communication and Guotai's group and acted as a branch general
manager of Shenzhen Guotai Securities Company Limited; as a
general manager (under the head offices of International Business
and Institutional Customer Services) of Guotai Junan Securities
Company Limited; as an executive director of Guotai Junan
Financial Holdings Company Limited; as a director of Guotai Junan
Securities (Hong Kong) Company Limited and Guotai Junan Assets
Management (Asia) Limited and as the chairman of Harvest China
Equities Investment Company Limited. He has extensive practical
experiences in the capital markets of China and Hong Kong.
Mr. Zhu is not appointed for a specific term with our Company but
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Jin Song, aged 38, is our managing director and an executive
director, he joined our Company since 11 April 2005. Mr. Jin is
currently a director and president of Beijing Zhongmin Gas Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company and he also acts
as director posts in certain principal subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Jin is responsible for the investment, merger and acquisition
businesses. Mr. Jin holds a MBA degree from Oklahoma City
University in United States. Mr. Jin has substantial experiences
in investment banking as well as merger and acquisition of gas
enterprises in China. He was engaged in marketing and project
management by Shenzhen Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., and
worked for years in investment banking business with Guangzhou
Security Company Limited and Huatai Securities Co., Ltd. Mr. Jin is
not appointed for a specific term with our Company but is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in the forthcoming
annual general meeting in accordance with the provision of our
Company’s Bye-laws.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, aged 45, is appointed as our
executive director of Company since 1 December 2008. Mr.
Chu was graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
Master’'s degree in Business Administration. Mr. Chu is a fellow
practising member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. Mr. Chu has over 20 years of professional
experiences in auditing, accounting and financial management for
both private and listed corporations. Mr. Chu was the executive
director of Mastermind Capital Limited (formerly known as
Apex Capital Limited), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(stock code: 00905), from September 2005 to March 2007. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of Eyang
Holdings (Group) Co. Limited (stock code: 00117) and Bright
Prosperous Holdings Limited (formerly known as Magnesium
Resources Corporation of China Limited) (stock code: 00723),
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu is not appointed
for a specific term with our Company but is subject to retirement
and re-election in the forthcoming annual general meeting in
accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Junmin, aged 59, is our independent non-executive
director, Dr. Liu joined our Company since 11 April 2005. Dr. Liu
is currently a member of our Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. Dr. Liu holds a Bachelor degree, a Master degree and
a PhD degree in Economics from Nankai University in China, in
which Dr. Liu is a professor of the School of Economics and an
officer of the Virtual Economics & Management Research Center.
Dr. Liu was appointed as independent director of China-Baoding
Tianwei Yingli New Energy Resources Co., Limited from June
2008. After completion of the service term, Dr. Liu was resigned
as an independent director of Tianjin Faw Xiali Automobile
Co. (stock code: 000927), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in June 2008. Dr. Liu has awarded “Sun Yefang
Economics Prize” ([ #8752 48] ) . Dr. Liu has entered into a
service contract with our Company for three years but is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Tan Qinglian, aged 71, is our independent non-executive
director, he joined our Company since 11 April 2005. He is
currently a member of our Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee. He is the member of the 10th National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
President of China Civil Engineering Society. He was the vice
minister of the Ministry of Construction of China. Mr. Tan has
entered into a service contract with our Company for three
years but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Sin Ka Man, aged 42, is our independent non-executive
director, Mr. Sin joined our Company since 23 December 2006 and
he is also the chairman and a member of our Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee, respectively. Mr. Sin has over 17
years of professional experiences in auditing, accounting and
financial management for both private and listed corporations.
Mr. Sin is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified practicing
accountant of the CPA in Australia. Mr. Sin is currently an vice-
president of Huayu Expressway Group Limited and is responsible
for the accounting and financial management. Mr. Sin holds
a Bachelor degree in Social Sciences from the University of
Hong Kong, a Master degree in Finance from the University
of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom and a Master degree in
accounting from Curtin University of Technology in Australia. Mr.
Sin is an independent non-executive director of LeRoi Holdings
Limited (stock code: 00221) and Xtep International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01368) (both companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange) and Sino Haijing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 08065) (a company listed on Growth
Enterprise Market), was an independent non-executive director
of China Leason Investment Group Company Limited (stock code:
08270) (company listed on Growth Enterprise Market). Mr. Sin
has entered into a service contract with our Company for three
years but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the sale and distribution of natural gas
and Liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") (collectively referred to
as "Gas Fuel”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
including the sales of LPG in bulk and cylinders, the provision
of piped Gas fuel, construction of gas pipelines, the operation
of city gas pipeline network, the sale of LPG and natural gas
household appliances and supply of video lottery operating system
and equipment. The principal activities of its subsidiaries as at 31
March 2009 are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2009 (2008: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2009 are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in page 63 and note 47
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2009, the Company did not have any distributable
reserves.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers taken together accounted for 11.2% and 26.3% of the
Group’s total turnover for the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the aggregate purchase
attributable to the Group's largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers taken together accounted for 25.2% and 58.0% of the
Group’s total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any shareholder who owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any
of the said top five customers and suppliers of the Group for the
year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)
Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Jin Song (Managing Director)
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

(appointed on 1 December 2008)
Mr. Wong Ching

(resigned on 1 December 2008)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Junmin

Mr. Tan Qinglian
Mr. Sin Ka Man
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 27 to
page 30 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT AND
ROTATION

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years but
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws.

In accordance with Bye-Laws 99 of the Company, Dr. Mo Shikang,
Mr. Jin Song and Mr. Sin Ka Man will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting but, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company will enter into a 3 years service contract with Mr.
Sin Ka Man, an independent non-executive director, following his
re-election in the forthcoming annual general meeting, but subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company'’s Bye-laws.

Besides, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, who has been appointed as an
executive Director until the next general meeting of the Company,
will retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being
eligible, offer himself for re-election in the forthcoming annual
general meeting pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws 102(B).

Other than disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered or
has proposed to enter into any service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not expiring or determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENT

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in
note 13(a) to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.
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ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive directors of their independence
pursuant to the rule 3.13 of the rules governing the listing of
securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Board considered all independent
non-executive directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2009, the interests of the Directors in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (the "Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company
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Personal Family Corporate BASTETA HERTRE
interests interests interests BTHEZ Total HEFEAL*

Name of Director EsER BAESR REER ATER HERGEE ot %
Dr. Mo Shikang EttEiEL - - 1,000,798,538'" 1,410,000  1,002,208,538 24.55
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RRELE 3,710,000°3 - - 10,000,000 13,710,000 0.34
Mr. Zhu Peifeng RERLAE 2,600,000° - - 10,000,000 12,600,000 0.31
Mr. Jin Song B i - - - 10,000,0002 10,000,000 0.24
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KB R %&£ - - - 8,000,0002 8,000,000 0.20
Dr. Liu Junmin BRELT - - - 3,600,000? 3,600,000 0.09
Mr. Sin Ka Man ERBLE - - - 3,600,000 3,600,000 0.09
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES
(Continued)

Long position in the shares of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

1. This represents interests held by Dr. Mo Shikang (“Dr. Mo”) through
Asian Allied Limited (“Asian Allied”), which holds 1,000,798,538
shares of the Company registered under the name of Super Win
Development Limited (“Super Win"), its wholly-owned subsidiary.
Dr. Mo has 42.75% interest in Asian Allied, he is therefore deemed
to be interested in 1,000,798,538 shares of the Company.

2. This represents interests in share option held by the relevant
Directors as beneficial owner to subscribe for the relevant underlying
shares granted by the Company under the 2006 Share Option
Scheme, details of which is set out in the section headed “Share
Option” under Directors’ Report in this annual report.

3. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial
owner.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number
of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2009 (i.e.
4,082,224,554 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the
Directors had any other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
Associated Corporations which had been entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

(gﬁ“ﬁ@ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%¢2
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Asian Allied Limited ([Asian Allied])#
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A Asian Allied 42.75% % % - {8 E IR A%
A& 7]1,000,798,538 % i 17 2 #E Ak
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2009, the number of outstanding option shares
granted by the Company under the 2006 Share Option Scheme
(defined under section headed “Share Option” below) for the
Directors to subscribe the shares of the Company, as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the section headed
“Share Option” under Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE
CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2009, the interests of those persons (other than
the Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

EEREROREZ 2ER

M2009F3 310 - IRIEEH K EE KHI5352
BARBIFEZ B MR iREIZE
SFRIZBAG AR R MY AR AR #2006
FRERETE (TEERTXIHBRE] —&R)
EREZEEREAIRERRBRMD Z RKITFEER
BHBEERNAFRESTSHRS [BRE] —

g

B batE SN RAFREAERERE AQ7 - 2
BAR AR RN E QR SE R AR L EET
TEARYE BUEEE R EBARR A SER
H AR E 2 B sk B 55 M ek o

RATRBRAR 2 EERED

R2009F3 310 RIEZEHLHEEHIFE336
BEARRBFFEE S ZEAL(BRES
INBEBARRE D ZEROT

Number of
underlying  Percentage of
shares held shares to
under equity  total number
derivatives of shares
Capacity in which Number of BAFTETA in issue*
Name shares were held shares EHTIHEZ HEBTRM
=% BERGOzZHHG g 4= HERGOEE BB
%
Super Win' Beneficial owner 1,000,798,538 (L) - 24.52
EmEAA
Asian Allied" Interest of controlled 1,000,798,538 (L) - 24.52
corporation
s VNS
Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.? Interest of controlled - 264,609,815 (L) 6.48

corporation
REH A A ER

(L) = long position & &
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SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE
CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

1. This represents interests held by Dr. Mo through Asian Allied, which
holds 1,000,798,538 shares of the Company registered under the
name of Super Win, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Asian Allied. Dr.
Mo has 42.75% interest in Asian Allied, he is therefore deemed to
be interested in 1,000,798,538 shares of the Company.

2. This represents interests held by Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. (“Merrill
Lynch”) through Indopark Holdings Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Merrill Lynch, which holds 264,609,815 underlying shares of the
Company, the convertible notes. Merrill Lynch is therefore deemed
to be interested in 264,609,815 underlying shares of the Company.
On 15 June 2009, the Company has deemed and repaid the
convertible notes in full.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number
of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2009 (i.e.
4,082,224,554 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, the Company had
not been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which had been recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICTS

None of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company
or any of their respective associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
as at the date of this annual report and within the knowledge
of the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float of the
Company's securities as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AR ApzEE2HEE (F)
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SHARE OPTION

On 3 October 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2006 Share
Option Scheme”). On 27 September 2007, the shareholders of the
Company approved the resolution for refreshment of 10% limit
on the grant of options under the 2006 Share Option Scheme. On
28 August 2008, the shareholders of the Company approved the
resolution for the amendments to the terms of the 2006 Share
Option Scheme, details of which may refer to the circular of the
Company dated 31 July 2008.

As at 31 March 2009 and up to the date of this annual report,
366,802,000 option shares were outstanding under the 2006
Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2006
Share Option Scheme:
Purpose Provide incentives to the eligible persons to
contribute to the Group, to enable the Group
to recruit and retain quality employees to serve
the Group on a long-term basis and to attract
human resources that are valuable to the
Group.

Participants Eligible person include any executive,
employee (whether full-time or part-time),
Director (including non-executive director
and independent non-executive director),
consultant, adviser, partner, joint-venture
partner, service provider, customer and/or
agent of the Company or any of its subsidiary
or any person, who in the absolute discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group at the time when an
option is granted to such person (Note).

B

R2006F10A3H AR E Z B EA AR —
B ER T2 ([2006F B #ETE]) -
20079 9A27H AR E IR E UL A E #2006
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SHARE OPTION (Continued) BERE (&)
Price of Shares Determined by the Board and shall at least be IR 13 E & HEEFSET HETEE
the highest of: RTIzEB=EE:
(@) the nominal value of the share of the (a) ANRABRHZEE:
Company;
(b) the closing price of the share of (by BEBREZB (A
the Company as stated in the Stock BRSBTS
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the HEEXRM&AA
date of offer, which must be a trading ARG < WHE: &
day; and
() the average closing price of the share (0 EZEREEEEREZ
of the Company as stated in the Stock B Al A B & % B B
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for RETEEHJ/RERM
the five business days immediately WARNE KM 2 F
preceding the date of offer. HTIE
Total number of 296,007,405 shares, being approximately RAEEHA 296,007,405 f% 17 -
shares available 7.25% of the issued share capital of the HA A4 R HEARFE BEITRA
for issue and Company. T2i’RM 7.25% °
the percentage of BHEREA
the issued share ERITRA
capital that it Aot

represents as
at the date of
this annual report
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Maximum
entitlement of
each participant

Period within which
the securities

must be taken up
under the option

Minimum period
for which

an option must
be held before

it can be exercised

Amount payable
on acceptance

Period within which
calls/loans must
be made/repaid

Remaining life of
the scheme

Not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue in any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board (Note).

Not applicable (Note).

No amount is payable on acceptance of an
offer.

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective until 5
October 2016, after which no further options
will be granted, but in all other respects the
provisions of this scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in respect of any option
granted prior to the termination of this scheme
and any such option shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of
issue.

Note: This term has been revised in the 2008 annual general meeting.
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Movements of the option shares, which were granted under the

B (E)

R FMAEBIE17.0716 BHE E200943 831

2006 Share Option Scheme, during the year ended 31 March HIEFERIE20065 8 AR ST 815 H 2 BB AR i
2009 are listed below in accordance with rule 17.07 of the Listing ZEBBFEOAT
Rules:
During the year
£R
Granted/
(Exercised) Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant Asat & B/ Redlassification cancelled* As at price' period?
] REAH  01.04.2008 (f78) EfSE  AM/E#r 31032000 i@ s
HKS
oy
Directors
Ez
Dr. Mo 02.04.2007 750,000 - - - 750,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
EEt 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 660,000 - - - 660,000 0514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
1,410,000
Mr. Zhang Hesheng 02.04.2007 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
RAELE 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 0514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
10,000,000
Mr. Zhu Peifeng 02.04.2007 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
RERLE 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 0514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
10,000,000
Mr. Jin Song 02.04.2007 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
it 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011

10,000,000
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

BRE (&)
During the year
R
Granted/
(Exercised) Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant Asat A B/ Redlassification cancelled* As at J price' period?
o] HHAH  01.04.2008 (%) ENAE KM/ 31.03.2000 id fitid
HKS
BT

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus* 02.04.2007 - - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
KRREE 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011

8,000,000
Mr. Wong Ching® 02.04.2007 7,500,000 - (7,500,000) - - 0530  18.10.2007-
TR 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - - 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
Dr. Liu Junmin 02.04.2007 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
HHRREL 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 900,000 - - - 900,000 0.514  01.05.2008-
14.04.2011

3,600,000
Mr. Sin Ka Man 02.04.2007 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
it A ik 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 900,000 - - - 900,000 0514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011

3,600,000

Subtotal 48,610,000 - (2,000,000) - 46,610,000

INE
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

BRE (&)
During the year
ER
Granted/
(Exercised) Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant Asat Bt/ Redlassification cancelled* Asat R price’ period
hl REAH 01.04.2008 (f7f8) ENinE K%/H#E* 31.03.2009 TR TEH
HKS
B
Continuous Contracts Employee 02.04.2007 91,030,000 - (6,000,000)* (1,050,000 83,980,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
BESHHES 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 38,580,000 - (2,000,000)* (350,000* 36,230,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
02.11.2007 1,300,000 - - (50,000)* 1,250,000 0.632 10.05.2008-
01.05.2011
04.01.2008 20,000,000 - - - 20,000,000 0.382 17.07.2008-
03.07.2011
Subtotal 150,910,000 - (8,000,000) (1,450,0000 141,460,000
Nt
Consultants 11.10.2006 46,000,000 - - - 46,000,000 0385  11.04.2007-
BA 10.04.2010
02.04.2007 51,882,000 - 7,500,000° - 59,382,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
01.10.2010
15.10.2007 16,250,000 - 2,500,000 - 18,750,000 0514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
Subtotal 114,132,000 - 10,000,000 - 124,132,000
it
Agents 02.04.2007 26,540,000 - - - 26,540,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
RE 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 9,760,000 - - - 9,760,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
Subtotal 36,300,000 - - - 36,300,000
it
Advisors 02.04.2007 14,960,000 - - (1,350,000 13,610,000 0.530 18.10.2007-
BAA 01.10.2010
15.10.2007 5,140,000 - - (450,000)* 4,690,000 0.514 01.05.2008-
14.04.2011
Subtotal 20,100,000 - - (1,800,000 18,300,000
e
Total 370,052,000 - - (3,250,000) 366,802,000
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Notes:

1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company'’s share capital.

2. The vesting period is six months from the date of acceptance of the
offer.

3. Mr. Wong Ching resigned as Director on 1 December 2008 and
he was then appointed as consultant of the Company on the
same date. An aggregate of 10,000,000 option shares have
been reclassified from the Directors’ category to the Consultants’
category.

4. Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus was appointed as Director on 1 December
2008. An aggregate of 8,000,000 options shares were then
reclassified from the Continuous Contracts Employee’s category to
Directors’ category on the same date.

PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries are
primary in form of contributions to Hong Kong’'s Mandatory
Provident Funds and the China statutory public welfare fund
respectively.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company did not have any connected
transactions which were subject to the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 40 to
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole and any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Board adopted the Model Code, which has been revised and
adopted by the Board pursuant to the recent amendments to the
Listing Rule. All Directors have confirmed their compliance with
the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2009.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company repurchased 100,000 shares of the Company at
HK$0.099 per share on 11 August 2008 and all the relevant
shares of the Company were then cancelled accordingly.

Other than disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold, or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2009.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Details of significant events occurring after the balance sheet date
as set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

AUDITOR

On 3 November 2006, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (the
"Deloitte”), who acted as auditor for the period from 1 April 2004
to 31 March 2006, resigned and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
(the “SHINEWING") was appointed as auditor of the Company
on 6 November 2006 to fill the causal vacancy occasioned by the
resignation of Deloitte and to hold office until the conclusion
of the 2007 annual general meeting (the “2007 AGM") of the
Company.

A shareholder of the Company, pursuant to section 89(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, has given the Company a
notice of intention to nominate SHINEWING as the auditor of the
Company in the 2007 AGM. Accordingly, an ordinary resolution in
respect of the appointment of SHINEWING as the auditor of the
Company was duly passed at the 2007 AGM accordingly.
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AUDITOR (Continued)

In the 2008 annual general meeting, SHINEWING has been
re-appointed to hold office until the conclusion of the 2009
annual general meeting of the Company.

SHINEWING will retire and, being eligible offer, offer themselves
for re-appointment in forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of SHINEWING as
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Jin Song
Managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 10 July 2009
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has committed to perform a high standard of
corporate governance practices in enhancing the confidence of
shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and business partners
and also the growth of its business. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the "Listing Rules”). As far as the CG Code is concerned, during
the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
complies with all aspect of the Code Provisions.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) acknowledge their
responsibility for preparation and the true and fair presentation
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

(a) Directors’ securities transactions

Adoption of Model Code
The board of directors (the “Board”) has adopted the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Confirmation on Compliance

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2009 and up to the
date of this annual report, they all confirmed that they
have fully complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the year and up to the date of this
annual report.
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EEzESEXRS (&)

(a) Directors’ securities transactions (Continued) (a)

(b)

Written Guideline for Relevant Employees

In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the
Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees in
respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.
Such relevant employees shall abide by the provisions of the
Model Code.

Amendments to the Model Code

In consideration of the new amendments to the Model
Code (the "Amendments”), which became effective on the
1st quarter of 2009, the Board has revised its Model Code
corresponding to the Amendments.

The Board

Composition

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills
and experiences appropriate to the requirements of the
businesses of the Company and to the exercising of
independent. None of the members of the Board is related to
one another.

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

(b)

RTEAREEZEMEES

BEAN - R QB IR E FRANIT ST AR SR &
BEREBETARRAESFRHZEME
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TIHRAFERBEARE BHILEAEE
5%

Executive directors: HITES:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman) BRI (REBEE)
Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman) SEttEEL (FE)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman) SRAESTE (FIFE)
Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman) KIERSE (BIEE)
Mr. Jin Song (Managing Director) TN (B FARACHE)
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus N

(appointed on 1 December 2008)
Mr. Wong Ching
(resigned on 1 December 2008)

(B R2008F 12 A1 B EEE)
FH A
(B2 7A2008F12 A1 B & 1E)

Independent non-executive directors: BYFHTES:
Mr. Tan Qinglian EEELAE
Dr. Liu Junmin ERE+
Mr. Sin Ka Man HERGEE

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page
27 to page 30 of this annual report.

EXVERFRBRERAFRECIAES
308 °
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(b) The Board (Continued)

Number of Meetings Held and Attendance

The Board normally has four (4) scheduled meetings a year
and meets at other times as and when required to review
financial, internal control, risk management, company
strategy and operating performance of the Group. During
the year ended 31 March 2009, a total number of five (5)
regular Board meetings, two (2) Audit Committee meetings
and one (1) Remuneration Committee meetings were
held. Minutes of these meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary of the Company and are open for inspection by the
Directors.

The individual attendance records of each Director, on a
named basis, at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
March 2009 are set out below:

(b) ExE (&)

SEXREREER
EFeOF—MEHRBTHEGREH I
EEFERERTORUERMAEE ZH
HoAHEE RERER - ARIEERE
BRI -EHE2009F3A3MHLEFEARN
AAREBRAGCATHEETS &
MAREZZEEEZR —(N)AFHE
BE2EH -ARAZRARMEAERTZ
SeRLBT A ARAHEEER-

RBZE2009F3A318ILFE  SEFE
FtREEg EREEGRFMES
TR L (RKBHE D)) I
T

Attendance/Number of
meetings entitled to attend

HER EREFEEEZHA

Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee

Name of Directors EENSR EEg EREE® FMEES
Mr. Xu Ruixin BRIRFT T E 5/5 - -
Dr. Mo Shikang R 5/5 - 1/1
Mr. Zhang Hesheng oR A A S A 5/5 - 1/1
Mr. Zhu Peifeng KIBR A& 5/5 - -
Mr. Jin Song IR 5/5 - -
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus*! F N 2/2 - -
Mr. Wong Ching*? FHEE 3/3 - -
Mr. Tan Qinglian BERLE 5/5 2/2 1/1
Dr. Liu Junmin ZERE+ 5/5 2/2 1/1
Mr. Sin Ka Man HREBE A 5/5 2/2 1/1

# Appointed on 1 December 2008. E./A2008F 12 A 1HEZ -

# Resigned on 1 December 2008. B 72008512 A1 H & ff -
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(b) The Board (Continued) (b) E=E (/)

Responsible of the Board

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the
Board and delegated to the management. The Board
provides leadership and approves strategic polices and
plans with a view to enhance shareholders’ interests while
the day-to-day operations of the Company are delegated
to the management. The Board has full support of the
managing Director and the management to discharge its
responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Responsible of the Directors

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility
to oversee and monitor the operations of the specific
business unit and to implement the strategies and polices
set by the Board. Each Director may seek for independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the managing Director and
the management. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the above mentioned officers.

Annual Confirmation from Independent Non-
Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

(c)

Terms of Non-Executive Directors

Each independent non-executive Directors of the Company
has entered into a services contract with the Company for
specific term of 3 years, but subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Role of Chairman

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the Chairman of the Board and the managing
Director, who performs similar role as chief executive officer,
to ensure a balance of power and authority. The respective
responsibilities of the Chairman and the managing Director
are clearly defined and set out in writing. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning of the Board in accordance with good corporate
governance practice. With the support of the management,
the Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
Directors receive adequate information and appropriate
briefing on issues arising at Board meetings. The position of
the Chairman is held by Dr. Mo Shikang.

Role of Chief Executive Officer

The managing Director focuses on implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved and delegated by the
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The managing Director is also
responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating
the organizational structure, control systems and internal
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval. The
position of the managing Director is held by Mr. Jin Song.

(b) ExE (&)

(c)
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(d) FMZEES

(d) Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a remuneration committee (“RC")
with written terms of reference as suggested under the Code
Provision under the Code. The RC comprises the following
five members,

(i) Mr. Zhang Hesheng, chairman of RC
(executive Directors)

(i) Dr. Mo Shikang (executive Director)

(iiiy  Mr. Tan Qinglian (independent non-executive Director)
(iv)  Dr. Liu Junmin (independent non-executive Director)
(v)  Mr. Sin Ka Man (independent non-executive Director)

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the
remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management. During the year ended 31 March 2009, a
total number of one (1) meeting was held to determine
the remuneration policy, bonus and/or share option for the
Directors and/or senior management. The attendance records
of the RC, on a named basis, are set out under section of
“Number of Meetings Held and Attendance” under the
Corporate Governance Report, on page 49, of this annual
report.

The RC has primary responsibility for making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy
and structure and remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the executives after consultation with the
Chairman/managing Director and accessed to professional
advice, at the Company’s expenses, when necessary. The
major responsibilities of the RC are:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

(i)  to determine which individual or individuals constitute
senior management;
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(d) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

(e)

(i) to review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

(iv) to review and approve the compensation payable
to executive Directors and senior management in
connection with any loss or termination of their office;

(v) to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct; and

(vi) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration;

During the year, the Board approved all the
recommendations of the RC. Details of the amount of
Directors’ emoluments during the year ended 31 March
2009 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Board has established an audit committee ("AC") with
written terms of reference as suggested under the Code
Provision under the Code. The AC comprises the following
three members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Sin Ka Man; chairman of AC
(i) Mr. Tan Qinglian
(iii)  Dr. Liu Junmin

The AC meets at least twice a year to review and approve
the Group's financial reporting process and internal control
system. During the year ended 31 March 2009, a total
number of two (2) meetings were held. The attendance
records of the AC, on a named basis, are set out under
section of “Number of Meetings Held and Attendance”
under the Corporate Governance, on page 49, of this annual
report.
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(e) Audit Committee (Continued)

(f)

The AC acknowledged the new amendments to the terms
of reference of the AC under the Listing Rules in relation to,
inter alia, abolishment of the requirement of appointment of
qualified accountant and the amendments to the terms of
reference of the AC and thereafter appropriate actions have
been taken by the Board and the AC accordingly.

The major responsibilities of the AC are:

(i)  to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
qualified accountant, compliance officer (if any) or
external auditors before submission to the Board.

(i) to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and
removal of external auditor.

The Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 March
2009 have been reviewed by the AC.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the fees paid/payable
to auditor in respect of audit services and non-audit services
provided by the auditor to the Group were as follows:

(e) ERZEEE (H)
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2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

Nature of services REME BET T BET T
Audit for the year FEEZ 1,800 2,800

Nomination Committee

The Company does not have Nomination Committee.
The Board as a whole is responsible for the procedure
for agreeing to the appointment of its members and for
nominating appropriate person for election by shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors.
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Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for the system of
internal controls of the Company and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board is committed to implementing an
effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.
During the year, the Board, through the AC, has reviewed
the implementation of the system of internal controls and
reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance
controls and risk management functions. A review will be
conducted at least annually on the effectiveness of the
system of internal controls.

Investor Relation

The Company is committed to maintain an open and
effective investor relation policy and to update investors
on relevant information/developments in a timely manner,
subject to relevant regulatory requirements. Briefings
and meetings with institutional investors and analysts are
conducted from time to time. The Company also replied the
enquiries from shareholders timely. The Directors host the
annual general meeting each year to meet the shareholders
and answer their enquiry.

The Company’'s website at www.681hk.com contains
important corporate information, biographical details
of Directors, organization structure, annual and interim
reports, major historical developments with comprehensive
and user-friendly information about the Group, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company in
order to enable the Company’s shareholders and the investor
community to have timely access to updated information
about the Company and the Group.
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
16/F., United Centre

feksPda

Shine‘ZOan

95 Queensway, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINESE PEOPLE HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 60 to 175, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 March 2009, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Except for the limitation
in the scope of our work as explained below, we conducted our
audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement. However, because of the matters described
in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraph, we were not able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Our report on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2008 was disclaimed in view of the
significance of the limitations in the scope of our audit resulting
from insufficiency of supporting documentation and explanations.
Due to the earthquake with a magnitude of 8.0 on the Richter
scale struck in Sichuan Province of the People’s Republic of China
on 12 May 2008 (the “Earthquake”), certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries, namely, Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural Gas Co.,
Ltd., Mian Zhu City Hong Sen Natural Gas Co., Ltd., Mian Zhu City
Long Teng Gas Installation Co., Ltd., Yan Ting Zhongmin Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Longxing (Yan Ting) Natural Gas
Co., Ltd.) (“Longxing”) and Bei Chuan Country Zhongmin Gas
Co., Ltd. (collectively referred to as the “Sichuan Companies”)
located in Sichuan Province were severely affected. The accounting
books and records of the Sichuan Companies except Longxing
were destroyed and not be able to be recovered. As a result, we
were unable to carry out audit procedures to satisfy ourselves as
to whether the assets, liabilities, income, expenses, commitments
and contingent liabilities in respect of the Sichuan Companies and
the impairment loss of HK$223,424,000 with respect to the assets
of the Sichuan Companies have been accurately recorded and
properly accounted for in the consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, we were unable to express an opinion as to whether
the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and the loss
and cash flows and the related disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2008 were fairly stated.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
(Continued)

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the opening balances
as at 1 April 2008 may affect the results and cash flows and
the related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009.
Also the comparative figures in respect of the net assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2008 and the results and cash flows and
the related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 may
not be comparable with the figures for the current year.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, due to the lack of certain
accounting books and records for the period before 12 May 2008
for our inspection caused by the Earthquake, we were unable to
carry out audit procedures to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
income and expenses of the Sichuan Companies except Longxing
have been accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements.

Income and expenses of the Sichuan Companies except Longxing
in this relation which have been included in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 are stated
as below:

Turnover HK$11,109,000
Cost of sales HK$9,086,000
Other operating income HK$28,000
Administrative expenses HK$744,000
Reversal of impairment loss HK$65,002,000
Finance costs HK$48,000

As a result of the limitation of scope in our work with respect
to the Sichuan Companies as mentioned above, we were also
unable to assess whether the reversal of the impairment loss of
HK$65,002,000 in respect of assets of the Sichuan Companies
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2009.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could
adopt to obtain sufficient evidence regarding the abovementioned
matters. Any adjustments to these figures may have a
consequential significant effect on the profit for the year ended
31 March 2009.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION: DISCLAIMER ON
VIEW GIVEN BY LIMITATION OF SCOPE

Because of the significance of the matters described in the
basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraph, we do not express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements as to whether
they give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs
as at 31 March 2009 and of its profit and cash flow for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards. In all other aspects, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTERS

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates
that the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$327,446,000 as at 31 March 2009. In forming our opinion,
we have considered the adequacy of disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements concerning the adoption of
the going concern basis for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. The directors of the Company are satisfied
that the Group will be able to meet in full its financial obligations
as they fall due for the foreseeable future. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends upon future funding being
available. The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from a failure of the Group to
obtain such future funding. We consider that the fundamental
uncertainty has been adequately disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements and our opinion is not qualified in this
respect.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044

Hong Kong
10 July 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement 4= & W 3 &

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & 2200943 A31H It F /&

2009 2008
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Fft 5 BT T BT T
Turnover = % 8 579,510 619,676
Cost of sales S5 AR (446,970) (477,310)
Gross profit EH 132,540 142,366
Other operating income H A& A 10 4,133 9,569
Administrative expenses TR X (128,583) (118,469)
Discount on acquisition of W I B A R REIME 2= 2
additional interests in a subsidiary & 216 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QA 2z s 38 - 2,675
Loss on disposal of an associate S B & N F) E1E (1,459) (2,324)
Loss on fair value changes of HmBRERAFESEEE
convertible notes 33 (4,496) (61,789)
Equity-settled share-based payments — LAMEZS&EE LD A EE 2
(NEA (1,666) (31,551)
Reversal of impairment loss E Rt B R < R EE 1R
(impairment loss) recognised BO OREERE)
in respect of earthquake 12 65,002 (279,922)
Impairment loss recognised EREERRZBEEE
in respect of goodwill 24 - (8,397)
Share of results of associates JEIRE & N R ELE 24 5,196 (10,369)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes BAFEFABRZ
of financial assets at fair value CHMEEAFEED
through profit or loss (E518) Wz (7,507) 71,998
Finance costs B 75 B AR 14 (12,093) (14,448)
Profit (loss) before tax BRI AR (EHE) 51,283 (300,661)
Income tax expense Fr 8%t 2 15 (12,046) (8,739)
Profit (loss) for the year REF RN (EE) 11 39,237 (309,400)
Attributable to: T3 pEAS -
Equity holders of the Company KAREZFBA 35,902 (309,456)
Minority interests D ER R R A 3,335 56
39,237 (309,400)
Dividend S 17 - =
Earnings (loss) per share SREF (&HE) 18
Basic (cents) A () 0.88 (7.87)

Diluted (cents) 5 (B1L) n/afiE A n/a”~ i@ A
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Z 8 EEE &R

At 31 March 2009 7200943 A31H

2009 2008
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T ¥ T I
Non-current assets EMENEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 19 765,802 541,777
Investment properties A 20 11,458 8,370
Prepaid lease payments ENEE 21 37,682 29,591
Goodwill Sk 22 169,065 167,192
Intangible assets mEEE 23 140,271 142,582
Interests in associates B & QRIS 24 56,342 53,711
Available-for-sale financial assets AHESHEE 25 32,291 6,627
Deposit paid on acquisition of W B — R BT 8 & R BE S
additional interests in a subsidiary Enb ke 26 - 2,223
Deposit paid on acquisition of WY BE R
property, plant and equipment LEE M 2,483 4,589
1,215,394 956,662
Current assets MENEE
Inventories e 27 34,770 23,560
Trade and other receivables g5 & H b E W RIE 28 102,445 112,256
Prepaid lease payments EEE 21 814 616
Financial assets at fair value BAFEGFAERZ
through profit or loss TRMEE 29 - 102,042
Bank balances and cash wITHEBRIES 30 176,952 170,318
314,981 408,792
Current liabilities mEBE
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk E MR FIE 31 241,633 166,217
Tax liabilities MIEBE 58,123 55,345
Amounts due to associates JFE Bt 8 B 508 24 34,458 20,697
Bank borrowings —FANBHZRITEE
— due within one year 32 145,839 147,629
Convertible notes Al =R 33 162,374 =
642,427 389,888
Net current (liabilities) assets mE(BE)EEFHE (327,446) 18,904
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBARG 887,948 975,566
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Consolidated Balance Sheet e EEE B &

At 31 March 2009 7200943 A31H

2009 2008
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Fft 5 BT T BT T
Capital and reserves A& A % % s
Share capital & 7 35 285,756 285,763
Reserves L] 347,572 365,133
Equity attributable to equity holders AR Al A AEIL S
of the Company 633,328 650,896
Minority interests LR R E = 68,810 66,089
Total equity 1 A 702,138 716,985
Non-current liabilities FEMEBAE
Bank borrowings —FREBRITEE
— due after one year 32 164,102 78,712
Convertible notes Al 2 % E 5 33 - 157,878
Deferred tax liabilities BEFREEE 34 21,708 21,991
185,810 258,581
887,948 975,566

The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 175 were HREORI17TSE AV BRERCEESE
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 10 200967 H10B #L/fE RIRAEREIT WHMUT

July 2009 and are signed on its behalf by: REERE:
Dr. Mo Shikang Mr. Jin Song
Director Director
EtEE L M EE

EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity &R & R = 8 & X

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009F3A31H L F &

Attributable
Share-based ~ Property  Investment to equity
Share Share Capital ~ Contributed Surplus Capital compensation revaluation  valuation  Exchange Accumulated holders of Minority
capital ~ premium reserve surplus reserve fund  contribution reserve reserve reserve reserve losses the Company ~interests Total
HRHXA LES RE FRARS i |
BE  REEE  EARE  GABR BBORE  IARE CMERE  EfRE GERE  ENRE  EZHEE BEARE  BRER Aif
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 H$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A¥Tr  B%Tn  EMTn ¥t EMTn ¥t BN BMTn BBt EMTn E¥Tr BMTn EETn BETo
(Note ) (Note a) (Note b)
(Witc)  (Wia)  (Mitb)
At 1 April 2007 R200754A18 253,406 297,782 2,182 89,800 4483 7482 10912 = = 23,680 (186,206) 503,521 66,033 569,554
Exchange difference arising on 590 ¥ BB B RXBE
translation of the financil MELZERZER
statements of foreign ERNERTRAIL
operations and net income WA BE
recognised directly in equity - - - - - - - - - 81,842 - 81,842 - 81842
Loss fortheyearand total ~~ AERBERFER
recognised income and BRAZERARAZ
expenses for the year - - - - - - - - - - (309,456) (309,456) 56 (309,400)
Issue of shares upon exercise of /TP BHER E/THG
share options 5404 29,812 - - - - (6,663) - - - - 28553 - 28553
Issue of shares on conversion of 3 RARREEFZ (TR
convertible notes 26,953 287,932 - - - - - - - - - 314,885 - 314,885
Appropriations B3 - - - - 4610 - - - - - (4610) - - -
Recognition of equity-settled  ERNEHEERH
share-based payments BERIHR - - - - - - 31,551 - - - - 31,551 - 31,551
Effect on share options RYERE S E
forfeited - - - - - - (1.425) - - - 1425 - - -
At 31 March 2008 and R2008F3A31A &
1 April 2008 200854518 285,763 615,526 2,182 89,800 9,093 7482 34375 = = 105,522 (498,847) 650,896 66,089 716,985
Exchange difference arising on  ZAVEH BB IRE
translation of the financil FEEZEREE
statements of foreign
operations - - - - - - - - - 13434 - 13434 - 13434
Loss on fair value changes of A HESBEEATE
available-for-sale financil ROER
assets - - - - - - - - (69,014) - - (69,014) - (69,014)
Revaluation surplus on property, 5% - BB RAEREHS
plant and equipmentupon  EARENERZ
reclassification to investment  EfE R
properties - - - - - - - 454 - - - 454 - 454
Net income and expenses ERREREAZUAR
recognised directly in equity B FE - - - - - - - 454 (69,014) 13434 - (55,126) B (55,126)
Profit for the year and total ~~ AFFEHRAER
recognised income and BRZZENARRX
expenses for the year - - - - - - - - - - 35,902 35,902 3335 3937
Share repurchased and B Rt ki
cancelled 1) B - - - - - - - - - (10) = (10)
Acquisition of additional hERBATEMER
interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - (614) (614)
Appropriations B - - - - 5,095 - - - - - (5,095) - - -
Recognition of equitysettled BRI EREE R
share-based payments BERZAR - B - - - B 1,666 - - - B 1,666 = 1,666
Effect on share options RUBRELVE
forfeited - - - - - - (326) - - - 326 - - -
At 31 March 2009 2009538318 285,756 615,523 2182 89,800 14,188 7482 35715 454 (69,014) 118,956 (467,714) 633,328 68,810 702,138
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity % & # &= % 8 &k

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & 2200943 A31H It F /&

Notes:

(a)

(0

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the Company’s share capital issued as
consideration in exchange for the nominal value of the issued share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired at the time of the Company’s
listing in 1997.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign
investment enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the Company's PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain
a statutory surplus reserve fund and a discretionary surplus reserve
fund, which are non-distributable. Appropriations to such reserves
are made out of profit after taxation of the statutory financial
statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the amount and allocation
basis are decided by their board of directors annually. The statutory
surplus reserve fund can be used to make up their prior year losses,
if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by means of
capitalisation issue.

The amount represents a revaluation surplus which was recognised
as a result of the acquisition of an additional interest in Xin Hua
Resources Investment Limited (“Xin Hua"”) (previously an associate)
which resulted in Xin Hua becoming a subsidiary. Xin Hua was
deregistered in year 2006 and its assets and liabilities were
transferred to the Company.

B 5 -

(c)

AEBZHBABBEADGAREARER
1997F KB ZHB AR MEBEITZA
ARIBRAEE BZSHEB AR D HITRAT
[Epd-=- -0

A E ARAMBE ([HE)IIEREZE
BERREPIPFFRE  RARZF HHE QR
ARBEERHRABEREZAKRAES (B
PRAIDIR) > % E B BEARE T EKHEA
ADREMBRERT 2HREREN MeBED
EEENAZEHBEAANEESSFETE -
EEBRBABSAIAEMRE LFEZEE (1
B) UAERERNMCBETERBBA -

%4 EEHE E Y EEXin Hua Resources Investment
Limited ([Xin Hual) (REBE R ZBEQ
7)) ZBAMEZS (BB Xin Huafk BAEE KB A
7)) MR 2 EIE &k o Xin HuaB 72006 F 7+
HOHEENABEREBEAAA -
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Z 8B & R E &

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009F3A31H L F &

2009 2008
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Fft 5 BT T BT T
Operating activities REES
Profit (loss) before tax BB AT A (B4R ) 51,283 (300,661)
Adjustments for: B TF|IEE B A% -
Amortisation of intangible assets BiHmEEE 5,382 4,401
Amortisation of prepaid lease BHEMNES
payments 801 671
Loss on fair value changes of AR ERAFEZS
convertible notes &5 18 4,496 61,789
Loss (gain) on fair value changes BAFEFABRZ
of financial assets at fair value TREERATEE
through profit or loss EE (W) 7,507 (71,998)
Dividend income fi% B A (362) =
Depreciation of property, ME - BERZETE
plant and equipment 20,232 21,257
Discount on acquisition of UG BE B B A ) BEAME 25
additional equity interests in g
subsidiaries (216) -
Reversal of impairment loss Rt EERZREEE
(impairment loss) recognised in o CREEBR)
respect of earthquake 12 (65,002) 279,922
Impairment loss recognised in EREEBRRZBEREE
respect of goodwill - 8,397
Impairment loss recognised in E#E 5 & E th e W KIE
respect of trade and other TREERER 2 R EE R
receivables, net 3,256 759
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H A R IE 2
written-off T 34 - 5,189
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 12,093 14,448
Interest income FEWA (1,415) (4,414)
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEME - BE R
and equipment FEEE 790 623
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWEBE QT z W 38 - (2,675)
Loss on disposal of an associate e A QR EE 1,459 2,324
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of  REYE N FIEEH
investment properties B () 454 (377)
Share of results of associates FE(REEE N R FEE (5,196) 10,369
Equity-settled share-based NEREERND A

payments B S ANE 1,666 31,551
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement Z S5 H &R E R

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

2009 2008
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Operating cash flows before LEESEFHA 2
movements in working capital KERBME 37,228 61,575
Increase in inventories FEE (9,831) (1,129)
Decrease in trade and other B 5 & E b e W kIR
receivables 20,156 26,789
Increase in trade and other payables & 5 K& H b & {5 FRIE 3 N 63,771 11,998
Cash generated from operations REXBEER® 111,324 99,233
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BRI EEH (6,178) (4,495)
Hong Kong Profits tax paid AT EBNET (4,285) =
Net cash generated from operating MEEREER S FH
activities 100,861 94,738
Investing activities REEH
Increase in amounts due from (to) JEUS (FEAS) Bt & 2 B 508
associates, net N FRE 10,770 45,009
Proceed from capital reduction of i & A B IR AN B R AT 15 SRR
an associate 3,815 -
Proceed from disposal of an associate i & B4 A &l Fr {3 7 IA 3,402 =
Decrease (increase) in deposits paid WEEMZE BEMRES S
on acquisition of property, plant BaRD ()
and equipment 2,106 (4,589)
Interest received B W F B 1,415 4,414
Dividend income % B Uk A 362 =
Proceed from disposal of property, HEWE- Jﬁﬁ%&?&fﬁ
plant and equipment B8 511 343 94
Purchase of property, plant and BEME lﬂﬁ%&?&ﬁ
equipment and investment ARIRE S
properties (167,428) (156,187)
Increase in investment in an associate FAEfE A &) 2 & E N (7,494) =
Purchase of prepaid lease payments E%,Eai‘ﬁﬁfﬂ(ﬁ (6,781) (4,475)
Payment for acquisition of additional U EE T B A 5] 58 SRR 1+ 3K
equity interests in subsidiaries (2,666) -
Proceed from disposal of subsidiaries & M & A 7] TS5 X E 38 - 28,035
Payment for acquisition of WHEZEAFETABREZ
financial assets at fair value TREEMNK
through profit or loss - (30,044)
Purchase of intangible assets BEETEAE - (8,947)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEESMTARFR (162,156) (126,690)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ZR S IR &R E R

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009F3A31H L F &

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financing activities A& SEE
New bank borrowings raised FrE&EBFEITE R 229,991 110,950
Increase in other loans b & RRIE 0 10,220 =
Repayment of bank borrowings BEFTEE (151,279) (111,619)
Interest paid EXREESS (22,498) (23,785)
Share repurchased A (10) =
Proceed from share options HIRE RS HIE
conversion - 28,553
Net cash generated from financing BMEEBELTR €55
activities 66,424 4,099
Net increase (decrease) in cash and Re kRS EEB G
cash equivalents OB ) F8 5,129 (27,853)
Cash and cash equivalents FMHReMESEEEE
at beginning of the year 170,318 184,031
Effect of foreign currency rate changes %M B =& % B 5/ £ 1,505 14,140
Cash and cash equivalents at end FReRFEEEMBEER
of the year, represented by bank BIaRITHE B RIRE
balances and cash 176,952 170,318
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997,
the Company’s shares were listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the section headed “Corporate Information” of the Annual
Report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sale and
distribution of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas
("LPG") (collectively referred to as “Gas Fuel”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") including the sale of
LPG in bulk and in cylinders, the provision of piped LPG and
natural gas, construction of gas pipelines, the operation of
city gas pipeline network, the sale of LPG and natural gas
household appliances and supply of video lottery system and
equipment.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the parent and the ultimate holding company
of the Company is Super Win Development Limited
and Asian Allied Limited respectively, which are both
incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

The functional currency of Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is Renminbi
("RMB"”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated. The reason for selecting HK$ as its presentation
currency is because the Company is a public company
incorporated in Bermuda with the shares listed on the Stock
Exchange, where most of its investors are located in Hong
Kong.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B % 3% 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

—REH

PRIZEKRER AR ([AQF])R1996
FABBRARETIMRL AERR
BRAR -M1997F4H24H AR &l z
BONRBBHBAERDAER AR ([HR
Frl)ER EH - ARAREMPERENETE
EEMWE WU R AFRZ [RAE R
— BN E -

RRB/—EREZERAT - EHEB AR
TEAREARAMBE ([HE])EEH
ERSERARFBRIEA HR ([
R) BREEEHEMAIKREAHR
RHUEBREAHRRRAR - EERR
BE RERTRREERSG HERL
AHRERARKARE AR REIRSE

FRRER R

ARARER([EF)RRARAIZE
NA) R EREER A F D B ASuper Win
Development Limited ) Asian Allied
Limited - WM& R RBRE LA S MK

-
VAR

ARBREWMBEAR (RHEA[AEE])
ZHEEERARE (TARE]) -BR3E
FOFHA - BRI EFRE P HEHRERH U
BEE MAEEBEIAERELNT
T ARBEREEREINER 2EA
BARAITRBEREEMKILIZ ARA
B BB ER R EH - MEAEBHER
BEHUNEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009%3A31H It F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$327,446,000 as at 31 March 2009. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The Group may be unable to realise
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business. The Directors are satisfied that, the liquidity
of the Group can be maintained in the coming year taking
into consideration the arrangements which include, but not
limited to the followings:

(a)

the two sale and purchase agreements for the disposal
of effectively 49% equity interests in Fujian An
Ran Gas Investments Company Limited (“Fujian An
Ran”) and its subsidiaries and associates (collectively
referred to as “Fujian An Ran Group”) at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$381.8 million
for cash which the Group entered into on 26 April
2009 subsequent to the balance sheet date (the
“Disposal”). Also pursuant to the aforesaid sales and
purchase agreements, the purchaser had undertaken
to pay or procure Beijing Zhongmin Zhongran Trading
Company Limited (“Zhongmin Zhongran”) to pay the
outstanding registered capital of Fujian An Ran in the
sum of RMB80,000,000 following the completion of
the Disposal. The Disposal has been approved by the
special general meeting of the Company held on 3
June 2009.

the Group has renewed the short-term bank
borrowings of approximately HK$29,523,000
subsequent to the balance sheet date. Approximately
HK$18,168,000 and HK$11,355,000 will be due in
May 2010 and June 2012, respectively.

2.

FEURSIEEHBRES
Bk

REEPA2009F3 831 B 2R A EFAE
#9785 #327,446,0007T ° It AR W B R —
HEATHBEZ Ao NS B G
BURFESEERLE—EF5 Al
AEBAEELINEFEBBREPEE
BEMIGREBE -EFHE L k(8
FETER)ATLEE AEBZRBE
SREENRFE :

(a) MEERIETE2009F4H26HF]
YZWMEEEWR Z5ER
EAEANBERESREBLHBE
381,800,0007T i & 7~ & & 1 18 &
ZRAMRRKEBRARA ([BEL
SR R H BB A R FNEE & A R (4
BEIBELAEEEREE 2
49%fHE ([HEFIE]) -mA 1R
BLEEERZE BEHEEBRT
B E FIEE - T S L A
RHAMRBEZERAE ([FRERFK])
SHEAZ Az RBELZAFMER
A8 A R #80,000,0007T° HEE
THE R AR A FE20094F6 A3 H £17
ZBRERERIRS EERE -

(b) ANEEBEREEBRESHCHET
& B 4978 #29,523,0007T ° 478 ¥
18,168,0007T % /& #11,355,0007¢C
#5 5 BI 2010458 201246 A
EIHA o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B & 3§ 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Following the Disposal and the renewal of the short-term
bank borrowings, the Group continues to meet in full its
financial obligations as they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Should the Group be unable to continue or operate
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets as current assets. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs"”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") which are or have became effective.

Reclassification of
Financial Assets

Hong Kong Accounting
Standard (“HKAS") 39 and
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

Service Concession
Arrangements

HK(IFRIC) — Interpretation
("INT") 12

HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit of
a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding
Requirements and their
Interaction

The adoption of the new HKFRSs has resulted in changes to
the Group's accounting policies in the following areas that
have an effect on how the results and financial position for
the current or prior accounting periods have been prepared
and presented.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Reclassification of Financial Assets

In the current period, the Group has applied HKAS 39 &
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Reclassification of Financial Assets.

The amendments permit an entity, if it no longer intends
to hold a non-derivative financial assets for the purpose of
selling in the near term (notwithstanding that the financial
asset may have been acquired principally for this purpose), to
reclassify that non-derivative financial asset out of the “fair
value through profit or loss” category to “available-for-sale”,
“held-to-maturity” or “loans and receivables” category
under certain circumstances. Such reclassifications were not
previously allowed under HKAS 39. Details of the financial
impact are set out in 7(b).

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs'

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs
20092

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial
Statements®

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs®

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements*

Puttable Financial
Instruments and
Obligations Arising on
Liquidation?®

Eligible Hedged Items*

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Reclassification of Financial Assets (Continued)

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC) — INT 9 and

HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — INT 13

HK(IFRIC) — INT 15

HK(IFRIC) — INT 16

HK(IFRIC) — INT 17

HK(IFRIC) — INT 18

Cost of an Investment in
a Subsidiary, Jointly
Controlled Entity or
Associate®

First-time Adoption of
HKFRSs*

Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations®

Business Combinations*

Improving Disclosing about
Financial Instruments?
Operating Segments®

Embedded Derivatives®

Customer Loyalty
Programmes®

Agreements for the
Construction of
Real Estate?

Hedges of a Net Investment
in a Foreign Operation’

Distribution of Non-cash
Assets to Owners*

Transfers of Assets from
Customers®
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Reclassification of Financial Assets (Continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009, except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009, 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008.

Effective for transfers of assets from customers received on or
after 1 July 2009.
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The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting for business combination for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. MERS B2 EBEaH cETERER
HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for Eo BB SR ERE27H (KB BE
changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary. The FEINERARERARNMEBARMES
Directors anticipate that the application of the other new BaZBHrgtREBAE-EFHY K
and revised standards, amendments or interpretations will FAE Ath 35T RASIERT AR - (BRI ANk 2 18
have no material impact on the results and the financial N EUHARE CEERV BN ENE
position of the Group. R 2o
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair
values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date
of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group's
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after assessment, the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities exceeds the
cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority's proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities
recognised.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investors has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets
of the associates, less any identified impairment loss. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date
of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is
included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the relevant associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1
January 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of net assets and
operations of another entity for which the agreement date
is before 1 January 2005 represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the relevant acquiree at
the date of acquisition.

For previously capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions of
net assets and operations of another entity after 1 January
2005, the Group has discontinued amortisation from 1
January 2005 onwards, and such goodwill is tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates
may be impaired (see the accounting policy below).

Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1
January 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business for which
the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005 represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the
date of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1
January 2005 (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition.
A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that financial year. When
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocateds to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of
the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

TESTEE (&)

BmE (&)

HA2005F1B 1B BWBEE 2
e (E)

SARERRENS  AEEMEEZA
B0 T A A REWIE 2 15 R M=
BREABERcELEN (ABHERSE
HEBE) BOERECREELENS
FREBEAENRBRZEMLRBER
RIAA TIRE o 3L E A B B 2 AETT
WEMELZHEMNS BoRBEZR
SEEBMARZYBFEERAAR

BRE EREELENL 2 ATKREIHER
PRZEN 2 BREE - #57 BCRE & 18 LA
BAREKEFAIETZEML AT 2K
EE ARBEZEMSEE REER
EBRIE DB T B c HMEE A
BZEMBEBRERRGS WaRE
RoFBZREEBETSHERER 2 HM3E
] o

ERIEARREELENE 2EAML
ZERERESRTANBELEZER

TR



TRERBRAR
2008-2009F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B & 3% 3% Ffi 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009%3A31H It F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of an acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost
("discount on acquisition”)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the net fair value of
an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of the business combination,
after reassessment. Discount on acquisition is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose other than construction in progress
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write-off the cost of item of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property because its use has changed as
evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item
at the date of transfer is recognised in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the assets. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item
is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

4. TEGFBE (&)

M- BERHRE (&)

W% BB REEHHRE AERAEE LR
EXTERAZAREEREMRARE
W AZBREREZABZEEERER
FEZEZEERDESHREBETER - HR
BEHERERAEER FHUEMLRAERR
BREREEM-

ME - BELREDRHERRERBE
BERZEESTEEERKLEN S
HIBER RN TBEAREEREL L
EfBs (RLEMSKAEZERR®
BRZ8AE) Dt ARZEET B
RERZHEEWERF -

REME

REVERERDES R HEESH
EREMEFS -

R HERE  WEMEURAE B
EEMERRBERAX -RIaHERR X
EMEERAFEENZEATFEFTE
BREMEAFEEHEE ZREHER
REEL ARG ABE-



TRERBRAR
2008-2009F

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B & 3% 3% Ffi 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009%3A31H It F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair
values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible
assets is their fair values at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in the consolidated income statement when
the asset is derecognised.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating lease is recognised in the

consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of the
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements, in
which case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
To the extent the allocation of lease payments can be made
reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as
operating leases.

Prepaid lease payments

Upfront prepayments made for the land use rights and
leasehold land are initially recognised on the consolidated
balance sheet as prepaid lease payments and are expensed
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the periods of the respective leases.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of
an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction cost that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies
adopted are set out as below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

- it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has

a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

- the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

- it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial assets

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and
other receivables and bank balances and cash) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets at
FVTPL or loans and receivables.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the
financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and recognised
in profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

TESEBE (&)

ERIA (&)
AHHESHMEE

AHfHESREERIIILEER  EWma
BEREEXARBE OB RERFETA
Bz eMEERE R REKIEA-

RERERRZEEER AHEESR
BESRATVEAE AFENESHEN
BEPHER BEZTBREERN T EIR
TEBORE - JE I - B R R P R R
Rt B e BRET FIRR - LN BE AR
R(2ATXEREREEREBHRZE
AR e

HREEROMS LRAMSEHRELER
FETEAIFEFENAHEERNRE
AR EZEERENRATAERE B
ARBINZERANTRETHEENDT
ATE BRERRESELSER UK
FRERE RPN ESEFE (2RTX
ERcRMEEREBRZEFHE) -

THMEEREER

SRMEE (TEEZERAFESARRE
ZeREE)ENBELERITESH
BENSR EEEBRBRBRIEREEL
ERRRREREARVFERZ T R
BERBEZ HEIZREHFMIIF
B AHZSREERARE-

RAIEHERAREMNS  WEBKREZ
N ERE MRS EERERA - A
BERREZEBER-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #= &

TRERFRAR
2008-2009F

B 7% R MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009%3A31H It F &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

- default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit
period of 30 to 90 days, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit and loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
impairment loss is measured at the difference between
the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade and
other receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to consolidated
income statement.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in the profit or loss in subsequent
periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment
loss is recognised directly in equity.

Reclassification of financial assets out of FVTPL

Financial assets held for trading which is no longer held
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term are reclassified as available-for-sale financial assets
at its fair value on the date of reclassification only in rare
circumstances.

Any gain or loss already recognised in profit or loss before
the reclassification is not reversed. The fair value of the
financial asset on the date of reclassification becomes its
new cost oramortised cost, as appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all
of its liabilities. The Group's financial liabilities are generally
classified into other financial liabilities and financial liability
at FVTPL.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

A financial liability may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

- the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

- it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.

The Group's financial liabilities at FVTPL including
convertible notes. Convertible notes issued by the Company
are designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL on initial
recognition. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, the entire convertible notes are measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets
are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is
recognised in profit and loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in consolidated income statement.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years, and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit
or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services rendered in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Sales of Gas Fuel (including natural gas and LPG) and gas
appliances are recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed.

Service income is recognised when the services are rendered.

Gas connection revenue is recognised upon completion of
pipeline construction which according to industry practice in
the region coincides with the “fire ignition ceremony”.

Interest income from a financial asset excluding financial
assets at FVTPL is accrued on a time basis, be reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant lease terms.

Dividend income from investments including financial assets
at FVTPL is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment has been established.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet
date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of
equity (the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 April 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in the exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing cost directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending for their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowings costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as
expenses when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to eligible participants

Share options granted to employees granted
after 7 November 2002 and vested before 1
January 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (“Share-based
compensation reserve”).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with
a corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to eligible participants
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees granted
after 7 November 2002 and vested before 1
January 2005 (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Share options granted to employees granted on
or before 7 November 2002 and vested before 1
January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded
in the consolidated financial statements until such time as
the options are exercised, and no charge is recognised in
the consolidated income statement in respect of the value
of options granted. Upon the exercise of the share options,
the resulting shares issued are recorded as additional share
capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of
the exercise price per share over the nominal value of the
shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse or
are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the
register of outstanding options.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to consultants, agents and
advisors

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured,
in which case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based compensation reserve), when the Group obtains the
goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 4, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on the historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Reclassification of financial assets

Following the severe deterioration of the world’'s financial
market during the third quarter of 2008, the Directors have
reviewed the Group's investment strategy. After taking
into account the Group’s liquidity position, the Directors
confirmed that certain quoted equity investments (previously
held for short-term profit-taking purpose) amounted to
approximately HK$94,535,000 are no longer held for trading
purpose and the Group has the intention and ability to
hold them for the foreseeable future. Such quoted equity
investments have been reclassified as available-for-sales
financial assets on 28 July 2008.

Details and the financial impact of the above reclassifications
are set out in Note 7(b).

Legal titles of certain land and buildings

As stated in Notes 19 and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the titles of certain buildings and a parcel of
land were not transferred to the Group as at 31 March
2009. Despite the fact that the Group has not obtained the
relevant legal titles, the Directors determine to recognise
those buildings and prepaid lease payments as property,
plant and equipment and land use right, respectively, on
the grounds that they expect the transfer of legal titles in
future should have no major difficulties and the Group is in
substance controlling those buildings and that parcel of land.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment loss (reversal of
impairment loss) recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments

The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments have suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 4. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require
the use of estimates such as the future revenue and discount
rates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill or intangible
asset

Determining whether goodwill or intangible asset is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated or
the intangible asset belongs. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking
into account the estimated residual value. The Group
assesses annually the residual value and the useful life of
the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation
differs from the original estimates, such differences from the
original estimates will impact the depreciation charges in the
year in which the estimates change.

Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade
and other receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade and other receivables
based on an assessment of the recoverability of receivables.
Impairment loss are applied to trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be collectible or when the net
present value of the receivable is less than the carrying
amount of the receivable. The identification of impairment
loss requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation on the recoverability of trade and other
receivables is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of trade and other
receivables and the impairment in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed. At 31 March 2009, the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables is approximately
HK$102,445,000 (2008: HK$112,256,000). Details of
movement in impairment on trade and other receivables are
set out in Note 28.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Fair value of derivative and other financial
instruments

As described in Note 7(d), the Directors use their judgement
in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are
applied. For derivative financial instruments, assumptions
are made based on quoted market rate adjusted for specific
features of the instruments. Other financial instruments
are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis based
on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable
market prices or rates. The estimation of fair value of
unlisted equity instruments includes some assumptions not
supported by observable market prices or rates. The carrying
amount of the unlisted available-for-sale financial assets is
approximately HK$6,770,000 (2007: HK$6,627,000).

Fair values of convertible notes

The fair values of the convertible notes were calculated
using the Monte Carlo Simulation Model. The model involves
assumptions on the Company’s credit spread, discount rate,
expected credit rating and future cash flows. Should these
assumptions change, there would be material changes to the
valuation.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, includes
bank borrowings and other loans, cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to the equity holders of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
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6.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group's risk management reviews the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of the review, the
management considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. The Group monitors
capital through the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total net debt and capital. Net debt
includes borrowings (including current and non-current bank
borrowings and other loans as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet), less bank balances and cash. Total capital
includes convertible notes and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. The Group aims to maintain the
gearing ratio at a reasonable level.
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The gearing ratios at the year end were as follows: FREXRBBRLEEMAT
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BT T
Bank borrowings (Note 32) RITEE (M35E32) 309,941 226,341
Other loans (Note 31) H &5k (MsE31) 10,220 =
Less: Bank balances and cash B ERITEE R MR E (176,952) (170,318)
Net debt BEFHE 143,209 56,023
Convertible notes A R =R 162,374 157,878
Equity attributable to equity holders A ARG 633,328 650,896
Total capital BARBE 795,702 808,774
Total net debt and capital BEFEAERERE 938,911 864,797
Gearing ratio BARAEGELE 15.25% 6.48%

The increase in the gearing ratio during the year ended 31
March 2009 resulted primarily from more borrowings have
been obtained from the Group to finance the construction/
acquisition of the property, plant and equipment.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. €W I A
() EMIAZSE

UTEENeREERSRAEBER

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following

categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at HEEHZE@mEBERAT
the balance sheet date are set out as follows:
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets EWMEE
Available-for-sale AfHESHEE
financial assets 32,291 6,627
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEGTABRZ
CREE - 102,042
Loans and receivables BRI ERERIE
(including cash and cash (BEBEL RS
equivalents) %£{51EH) 225,823 234,924
258,114 343,593
Financial liabilities EHas
Other financial liabilities RS R 2
stated at amortised cost HEthemaE 433,375 326,860
Financial liabilities designated EE RIERAFEA
as FVTPL (Note) BazepatE
(PF3E) 162,374 157,878
595,749 484,738
Note: The change in fair value due to market risk factors Mizd: ARmERBEAZRER AT

was calculated using the market yield curves of
10.34% (2008: 10.13%) as at the balance sheet date
holding credit risk margin constant. The fair value of
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL was estimated
by discounting future cash flows using market yield
curves as at the balance sheet date and by obtaining
lender quotes for borrowing of similar maturity to
estimate credit risk margin.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. E®WMIA(E)
(b) Reclassification of financial assets (b) EFPEERMEE
In the current year, the Group has made the following RAFE AEECReMEEH
reclassification in respect of financial assets: TTRAEFDHE:
HK$'000
BT T
Reclassification of quoted equity investments HESBEARZEATE ABZE
classified as financial assets at FVTPL into LERMEEZHRERERE
available-for-sale financial assets ENMORENHEESREE 94,535
Following the severe deterioration of the world's EERREMTIHR2008FE=FE
financial market during the third quarter of 2008, HEBRERRE AEBEURRFKE
certain quoted equity investments previously held by AREHREN s E THRERERE
the Group for short-term profit-taking are no longer TEFEBERERE 2R MHE L
held for trading purpose. The severe deterioration BEZREHAAFERBR BHEE
of the financial market is considered as a rare & B M2008F7H28B BEE % H 1A
circumstance, such investments are reclassified to ZEAHEECREE -
available-for-sale financial assets on 28 July 2008.
As of 31 March 2009, the carrying amount and fair R2009F3A31EH BEEEF DA
value of the financial assets that have been reclassified ZeRmEELEREERA AN
are as following: N
Carrying amount Fair value
BREE AFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AJ ft H &4 @& & 94,535 25,521
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. R TR (&)

(b) Reclassification of financial assets (b) EFoEERMEE (&)

(Continued)

The effects of the reclassification of the financial assets
upon adoption of the amendments to HKAS 39 and

RAFERABEGHERIFI95%
&%%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂl’}a ZINE 3

HKFRS 7 during the current year are: BN oBeREEZRE:
HK$'000
BT T

Increase in profit for the year & 2 i AL 0 69,014

Increase of fair value losses recognised in equity RS ERZ AT EE BN 69,014

The financial effects recognised in the current year in
respect of the financial assets that were reclassified on
28 July 2008 are as follows:

FLH2008F7 A28 B AEEH HEZ
TRMEENAFEHRZLABRE
mT

Recognised in

RTHEERE
Profit or (loss) Equity
(8)#% s
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Before reclassification | oA
— loss on fair value changes of — BRAFEGFABERE 2SR
financial assets at FVTPL EEZAFEZSEHEIE (7,507) =
After reclassification B E%
— loss on fair value changes of — AL EERMEEZ
available-for-sale financial N EEH)EE
assets - (69,014)
(7,507) (69,014)

In the current year, additional fair value decrease
of approximately HK$69,014,000 would have been
recognised as expense in profit or loss had the financial
assets not been reclassified out of financial assets at
FVTPL.

RAFEE BRRXeEETERIZ
AFEFABEZZECHEERS
o ABEINATFERD LB
69,014,000 #% 1A 18 25 N FE R 4 7
io
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade and other receivables, amounts due to
associates, bank borrowings, convertible notes, trade
and other payables and bank balances and cash.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (interest rate
risk, other price risk and currency risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Interest rate

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to variable-rate bank deposits and variable-
rate borrowings (see Note 32 for details of these
borrowings). It is the Group's policy to keep its
borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For
variable-rate borrowings, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point (2008: 50 basis point) increase or
decrease in interest rate is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management'’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

7.

EWMIA (F)

(c)

SHEAREEEERBEXK

AEEZTESRTABEA L
EERMEE BAVEFABRZ
TREE BHREMEYRIR &
& N RIFRIR - RITIEER - AT
SB B 5 R E AR R L KR
THBLRAES UFSRTAZHF
FRERMEARE-B2@TA
HEZ AR BRET SRR (FXE
2 HpERRREEERR) &
ERRMRBESEE T XHT
BELFRRZBEK - BIEEEE
MERILETRR BRI EAN
HEREE E 5 i

RS

AEEZBRERENEARTZNR
FRMRRBOIFERRZHNEREE
(LERBEFFRAMEDEB B
AR R FEMNEER NEE 2K
RRARFEEENZHN RS -

AT 2 BRED T TIRIBIEITET
BERBEER A ERARAHEEME
EoIBFEEEMS  HEZE
AMBBEREER 2 RKEEERE
SENE2FANMREE - E R A
FTEEEABERMNEE RS K
A R 501E £ Bh (20084F : 501E
o) IR REBREHHRAIE
Al RE B B 2 YA o
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. €@ IA (&)

() EREREERFERER

(c) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Interest rate (Continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$537,000 (2008:
loss for the year increase/decrease by approximately
HK$595,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group was exposed to equity price risk through
its investment in listed equity securities for the year
ended 31 March 2009. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities operating in industry sectors quoted in the
Stock Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

(%)
M= (&)

fist F) = 38 &/ #8501 & 2 A
EEMABRERERTE K&
B & £2009F3A31H ILFE 2%
F #5818 hn 4974 #6537,0007¢
(20084 : FE BN, B D45
#5950007t) T ERAALEHE
EEZHFEEEZFE -

H A B 4% b

RE E2009F3A31H IEFE &
EBERERER EMBRAESmM®E
HBRABERAKR TEEBSBESR
TEEBEERZEEHEE MW
ER AR AEEZRABER
BEZEFREBRIMREZITE
DEBBIEZ RANFE S o

AT 2BREESTIIRIEARE A
HA P 2 B (B A4S LB T EEE

Increase (decrease) in
profit (loss) for the year
EEHEAN (BE)EM GRD)

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
If equity prices had been AR B E £3R10%
10% higher n/afEH 10,204

If equity prices had been
10% lower

A ERE TE10%

n/af™EH (10,204)
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)

EWMIA (&)

0 2RAREBREBREK
()
At B 5 L B ()

Increase (decrease) in
net asset value

EEFEENCRD)
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$°000
BT BT
If equity prices had been AR B E £3R10%
10% higher 2,552 n/a-1 &
If equity prices had been AR A B E TB10%
10% lower (2,552) n/a-T~iE A
Currency risk E¥E R

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable
to the bank balances and cash and deposits of the
Group which are denominated in foreign currencies of
RMB (see Note 30 for details). The functional currency
of the relevant group entities is RMB. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency exposure since
HK$ is pegged to the US$ and majority transactions
are conducted in functional currency of relevant group
entities, management considers the Group’s exposure
to currency risk is minimal. However, management
monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

AEBEHZEERRTARAE
Bz RITEBKEBESHETUAR
AN EEFERB (FHERME
30) ERASEERZIEEESA
R -mRaBEXTHBUARK
MARFGUNAEEERER 2T
BEEHET AKERKLEHI
ERBRETEMAIEEIRER-E
EERAASEERY 2 E¥RRMK
TRE-AM ERETVEREEH
SN R R W HRBERE
ZEEMERZINERR
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. €@ IA (&)

() EREREERFERER

(c) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated balance sheet.

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. The Group’s trading terms
with its customers are mainly on credit, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The normal credit period is generally for a
period of 30 days to 90 days and extending up to
180 days for major customers. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group's trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Further quantitative data
in respect of the Group's exposure to credit risk arising
from trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The credit risk on liquid fund is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit rating.

(&)
EERRE

M2009F3A318 AR S F &
EETECMEAKBAASRARL
ERBRAGAEEABRNEER
FEemEECERE AMEHAN
SEHEcmER-

AEEBRARBREEBEZE=
FETRG AKBEEEURKRR
ABEEHEER S HHEFABE
EEBANR-EBREH KA
30HEH T ERFEALEER
180 - BHEBEFHERREERE-
NEBBRELERESRE 2 BRK
BHemRERETHEMABER-
ERENFARAEEZ E 5 EKR
HEEAMIEAERZFLAR A
SEVYERESETZEERRE - K
SEREIREMERFIEEEZ
FERRERZEMEEEE  »
A SRR 28R EE

MR P F VBB TR
ZRIT HRDEL 2 ERARE
-
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. €I A (#F)
(c) Financial risk management objectives and (c) cRIEREERERBEE
policies (Continued) (%&)
Liquidity risk REBHREEKE

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group reviews the
level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure their
adequacy to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. The
Group also reviews the utilisation of borrowings and
ensures the compliance of loan covenants. The Group
relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from
operations and bank borrowings.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as at 31
March 2009 as the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$327,446,000. The Group has
planned to implement several measures to improve
its working capital position and net current financial
position. Details of which are set out in Note 2.

REERBREESRR AEEEH
BekREFEEB ZKF - #R
HENARAKE 22 BRHEBMER
RERDRERERDZFE K
SETEMHEE CERALRERER
ERTHBZRTE AEBEKRERT
BE FREERBES IR

AR AKEXGBEATRMEE
BAKEERESERRAENEER
BEANAAKRERYESTFR -
FEBEBREFMELEZRE IR
TRESEATARREEEEZR
5o

M2009F3A31H AR AKE
EHERDABEFENBE
327,446,000 ' AR £ B BHA R
REBEESEKR - AEBEE TG
ZHEBRUNKEELEEES KRR
MOREN IS F RO c HF B EHR
BiaE2 ©
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

7. 2RI A (&)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and () TRIAKEEEERBE
policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBRLEAR (&)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TR AEEFTESREET
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial MERNIEZFE - R DBRER
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the SEAREKEHRERNRZA &
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on FEFEsRUMRBESREMBAER -
the earliest date on which the Group can be required hRBEMNERTSHESRE -
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows.
Total
Within ~ Within the ~ Within the  Withinthe  Within the Over undiscounted
one year  second year third year ~ forth year fifth year five years cash flow
ABBRES
-£R EZER E=ER EMER ERER BBRE REAE
HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR BETT
At 31 March 2009 R2009E3 4318
Trade and other payables EHREMERTE 89,379 - - - - - 89,379
Amounts due to associates BT AR 34,458 - - - - - 34,458
Bank borrowings BITEE 163,607 97,013 11,528 16,646 21,293 47,7117 357,804
Convertible notes ARER 165,075 - - - - - 165,075
452,519 97,013 11,528 16,646 21,203 47,717 646,716
Total
Within ~ Within the ~ Within the ~ Withinthe  Within the Over undiscounted
oneyear secondyear  thirdyear  forth year fifth year five years cash flow
AERRE
—£R BZER FZER FMER FRER BBLF RELAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 31 March 2008 12008534318
Trade and other payables B REMERZIE 79,822 = = = = = 79,822
Amounts due to associates BB A RIHIE 20,697 - - - = = 20,697
Bank borrowings BITRE 157,348 32,736 53,220 961 - - 244,265
Convertible notes TRREE 3,100 165,075 - - - = 168,175
260,967 197,811 53,220 91 = = 512,959
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

- The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments) with
standard terms and conditions and trade in active
liquid markets is determined with reference
to quoted market bid prices and ask prices
respectively;

- The fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) is determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions and dealer
quotes for similar instruments; and

- The fair value of derivative instruments is
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, use is made of discounted cash
flow analysis using the applicable yield curve
for the duration of the instruments for non-
optional derivatives, and option pricing models
for optional derivatives.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values due to their immediate or
short-term maturities.

7.

eWMIA (&)

(d)

AFE

TREENERABZAFERT
ST AERE

—  BAREGRRGERE R
mBMEEREZEREERS
BAEBBEMEIR) ZA
FE DORNSERETSE
BREREREETE:

- HppemEERERARE (T
BREMETR) ZRAFETR
MBERESRESTZAREE
B ERABEREmSE
TRRXHEREBEUTAZR
SEREEE: &

- PEIAZRATFEDERRE
AEHEAIGARER
HRIFEHIREITAETAMS - A
BREBRRERESTEALIA
T7 48 B B A 2 W &5 o AR T
o

EERRNEEWBRER P IABH
BRAEARZEREERERAELZ
FEEEEAFERE RER/RK
ERPEHAREDEH-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %r

TRERFRAR
2008-2009F

B BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009%3A31H It F &

TURNOVER 8. EXH
Turnover represents the fair value of the consideration EERRERFERREZATEFE -
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for RERCMBRATH0 R H S AT RN B
goods and services in the normal course of business, net of EEBBEFR 2 E m KRR EWKIE - A
discounts and sales related taxes. An analysis of the Group's EECEEBONEAT :
turnover is as follows:
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEFTEMR 312,141 425,846
Transportation, distribution of LPG and &1k A i & i »
retail of bottled LPG DHERETE 267,369 193,830
579,510 619,676
SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. ZMEH

Segment information is required by HKAS 14 “Segment
Reporting” to be presented by way of two segment formats:
(i) on a primary segment reporting basis, which the Group
has determined to be by business segment; and (ii) on a
secondary segment reporting basis, which the Group has
determined to be by geographical segment.

For management purposes the Group is currently organised
into two operating divisions:

Provision of -
piped Gas Fuel

construction of gas pipeline
networks, provision of piped natural
gas and LPG

the sale of LPG in bulk to wholesale
customers and the retail of bottled
LPG to end user households,
industrial & commercial customers.

Transportation, -
distribution of
LPG and retail
of bottled LPG

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues
and results are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the
segments based on the location of the assets. As the Group’s
major operations and markets are located in the PRC, no
further geographical segment information is provided.

DEERIBIEE B LR 145 [ 93
3R] 2R EAMBEOEHBR AR ()E
EAHEFHR (REBETAEREE D
DEER)  R)VREDEEBEFH A (K
SEETUMEEDHIHLER) o

RABEE AKERASSMEXED

SR

HEEE - ERRSTERG

e BEEER AR R
fLEHE

BICEHE — @K BERCEH

B%-H%H  ATEBEFREE

REETE RERLEHATE
R IT2REEEF
2 BRAE-

RETEA S B E D 5 - WA REKET
BEFPRENMHEBEER MEERZRARE
EfMEVERE ARAEE T ELE
K5 5 B - [ ik - 3 R A R A i
DEBER Z AT
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEER (&)
Segment information by business segment is presented TREVIRER B ZHEHER :
below:
For the year ended 31 March HZE3A3MBLLEE
Transportation,
Provision of distribution of LPG and
piped Gas Fuel retail of bottled LPG Consolidation
BILRARER -
HESERR FHRELESE E)
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BRI BETT BRI BETT

Turnover EEE 312,141 425,846 267,369 193,830 579,510 619,676
Segment results AEEE 25,979 58,640 15,568 9,626 41,547 68,266
Unallocated other operating income AORAMBEWA 1,437 542
Bank interest income HRAFEKA

— Allocated amount -BoEHE 808 1,671 49 103 857 1,774

- Unallocated amount —RPREE 558 2,640

1,415 4,414

Loss on fair value changes of ARREEATEED 2 EE

convertible notes (4,496) (61,789)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of BAVTEFABGZEREEL

financial assets at FVTPL ATERE (B8E) K (7,507) 71,998
Discount on acquisition of additional WEEH B A R R IME R 2 T

interests in a subsidiary 216 - - - 216 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & W B A Al - 2,675 - = - 2,675
Loss on disposal of an associate HEBEAFER (1,459) (2,324)

Reversal of impairment loss (impairment ERMERR ZRERE
loss) recognised in respect of earthquake: B[ (REE]E)

- Allocated amount -BRERHE 65,002 (240,939) - - 65,002 (240,939)

~ Unallocated amount —RPMEE - (38,983)

65,002 (279,922)

Equity-settled share-based payments NEREERDAERZER (1,666) (31,551)
Impairment loss recognised EREERAZAEER

in respect of goodwill - (8,397)

Unallocated corporate expenses APBREERY (36,309) (39,756)

Finance costs BB (12,093) (14,448)

Share of results of associates: BEBEAREE:

- Allocated amount -BRERHE 1,925 (2,130 - - 1,925 (2,130)

- Unallocated amount —APEYE 3,271 (8,239)

5,196 (10,369)

Profit (loss) before tax BRBATEN (1) 51,283 (300,661)

Income tax expense Fremmsx (12,046) (8,739)

Profit (loss) for the year AEE R (BE) 39,237 (309,400)
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

9. ZHEFR (&)

As at 31 March M3H831H
Transportation,
Provision of distribution of LPG and
piped Gas Fuel retail of bottled LPG Consolidation
BILAARES -
REEERR PHRBHETE e
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BETR BETT
Segment assets NHEE 999,722 756,593 155,495 137,755 1,155,217 894,348
Interests in associates: RBEE D A
- Allocated —-BEAE 50,352 51,501 - - 50,352 51,501
- Unallocated —KHE 5,990 2,210
56,342 53,711
Goodwill BE 161,044 159,341 8,021 7,851 169,065 167,192
Unallocated assets APLEE 149,751 250,203
Total assets BEMAE 1,530,375 1,365,454
Segment liabilities AHaE 244,157 137,690 20,685 17,387 264,842 155,077
Unallocated liabilities ADEEE 563,395 493,392
828,237 648,469
For the year ended 31 March BZE3A31BLEE
Other information Hi &R
Depreciation: E:
- Allocated amount —BAREE 15,058 17,198 3,188 2,196 18,246 19,394
- Unallocated amount oAt 1,986 1,863
20,232 21,257
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERZELER
equipment:
- Allocated amount -ENEHE 787 505 3 - 790 505
- Unallocated amount ~RHREE - 118
790 623
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BHEMRS 569 504 232 167 801 671
Amortisation of intangible assets BHEVEE 4,867 4,401 515 - 5,382 4,401
Impairment loss recognised in respect of B5REMERFERRZ
trade and other receivables, net HEEE F8E 3,263 759 (7) = 3,256 759
Trade and other receivables written-off B 5 R JE YRR 2 5 - 5123 - 66 - 5,189
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of RENEATEEDZER
investment properties (W) 454 377) - = 454 (377)
Capital expenditure in respect of FREAHE 2 EARX
prepaid lease payments 4,639 2,638 699 1,837 5,338 4,475
Capital expenditure in respect of EREVEEZERARX
intangible assets - 12,282 - - - 12,282
Capital expenditure in respect of HENE BEREEZ
property, plant and equipment: BARR
- Allocated amount -BHEREE 172,552 119,252 1,668 34,625 174,220 153,877
— Unallocated amount —APEYE 1,449 1,310
175,669 155,187
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10. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 10. Hi & WA
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Bank interest income IRITH B U A 1,415 4,414
Dividend income iR B A 362 =
Exchange gain P& H Uz - 120
Rental income, net of outgoings HeEBA - HIBRZH 341 267
Repair and maintenance income HIERRBEA - 721
Gain on fair value changes of WEMEATFEE Y=
investment properties - 377
Storage charges T WA - 1,112
Sales of gas appliance: HEMARA:
- Income — A 5,506 3,098
— Cost of sales —HEKAR (4,217) (2,606)
1,289 492
LPG cylinders trains rental, BAL A R R i
net of outgoings ME - R 147 1,217
Others HAt 579 849
4,133 9,569
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11. PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived after charging the

following:

M. XFEERHN (HHE)

AEZHEMN (BER)EHBRTIRE:

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Staff costs, including Directors’ and BEIRA BHEEEK
supervisors’ emoluments EEMe
— Salaries, wages, allowances and —Fe L& EMEK
benefits in kind B = 48,251 42,068
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIKAE A FT B K
contributions 2,587 2,221
— Equity-settled share-based — iR A E R A A
payments PANES 1,666 19,657
52,504 63,946
Equity-settled share-based payments to [F3E{& & i 2 LA#E S
non-employees HEROBER 2N - 11,894
Cost of inventories recognised BRAERI 2 FEKA
as expenses 446,970 477,310
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R B & 1,800 2,800
Depreciation of property, M BERZEBTE
plant and equipment 20,232 21,257
Amortisation of prepaid lease #HiHTANES
payments 801 671
Amortisation of intangible assets BiEETEEE 5,382 4,401
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERZBEERE
plant and equipment 790 623
Impairment loss recognised in respect  HER A E 5 K H b B
of trade and other receivables, net HRIBZREEE  F58 3,256 759
Trade and other receivables written-off & 5 K H {th & Uz X 18 2 fifl 84 - 5,189
Loss on fair value changes of WEMERNTFEES 2 EE
investment properties 454 -
Share of tax of associates (included in  JE{GELZ QA AR IE (EFA
share of results of associates) FE(REEE NRIZELE) 4,438 3,024
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12. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS

(IMPAIRMENT LOSS) RECOGNISED IN
RESPECT OF EARTHQUAKE

On 12 May 2008, there was an earthquake with a
magnitude of 8.0 on the Richter scale struck Wenchuan
area of Sichuan Province, the PRC (the “5.12 Earthquake”).
The urban and rural areas of Bei Chuan County, Mian Zhu
City and Han Wang Town, where certain of the Company’s
subsidiaries are located, were affected. In the 5.12
Earthquake, a considerable portion of assets and operating
facilities of wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group namely
as Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural Gas Co., Ltd.; Mian Zhu
City Hong Sen Natural Gas Co., Ltd.; Mian Zhu City Long
Teng Gas Installation Co., Ltd.; Yan Ting Zhongmin Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Longxing (Yan Ting)
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.) and Bei Chuan County Zhongmin
Gas Co., Ltd. (collectively referred to as the “Sichuan
Companies”) in Mian Zhu City, Han Wang Town, and Bei
Chuan County, Sichuan Province were seriously damaged
and there were casualties among the staff and families,
which caused material disruption to the operation of the
supply of Gas Fuel and gas pipeline connection business.

Meanwhile, certain assets of Chongging Zhongmin Gas Co.,
Ltd. and Xi‘an Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. (collectively referred
to as the “Affected Neighbouring Companies”), wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group located in Chongging City
and Yan Liang District, Xi‘an City, both surrounding Sichuan
Province, respectively were also damaged during the 5.12
Earthquake.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B % 3§ 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

12. ERBEZ ZBEBRRED

(REEIE)

20084F5H 128 » RBP4 30 1| & 8
AR TR HIS.0RME ([5. 12 ) o &
RElHTHBRRMENIIE: 817
T REE BT R BN MR %2 7
Zo N5 I2MEF  AEEM A E)IAE L
I R SR RAL) ISR 2 E KB A B4
MTIEREXARBERAR  BMTHWARK
RAEBRAT BT EBARRLERR
EEAR -H=hRMRIERAF (AT
BogEmERRaREEAR) &) &H
RAREBERARE (#fEA [TIIAF]) &
ABLEERKERHESIEREER I
BEIRRBET  EXEERREER
BB REGSBRESE -

A EEFRR[ERLa RALF
RRRERAR (A [#LIZTHFERN
Al (REBEMRTIEHaERT &
BAZTERENEZEMNBAR)NETE
EIRDRIMN5. 12 ER B -



TRERFRAF
2008-20094F &
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009F3A31H L F &

12. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS 12. ERit EERZ 2 EEBRED
(IMPAIRMENT LOSS) RECOGNISED IN (REEE) (&)
RESPECT OF EARTHQUAKE (Continued)
Impairment in respect of the 5.12 Earthquake recognised for HZE2008F3A31HLEFE ' 5. 120 ER
the year ended 31 March 2008 was as follows: BERERWT :
Affected
Sichuan Neighbouring
Companies Companies Total
¥R
)i A7 SZHENT &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - B E K& & 167,103 51,498 218,601
Goodwill kS 43,756 5,000 48,756
Prepaid lease payments FENEE 4,459 — 4,459
Available-for-sales financial AMHEeRHEE
assets 6,147 — 6,147
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H fth fE W IE 633 = 633
Inventories FE 1,326 = 1,326

223,424 56,498 279,922
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12. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS

(IMPAIRMENT LOSS) RECOGNISED IN
RESPECT OF EARTHQUAKE (Continued)

The 5.12 Earthquake has brought serious loss of staff and
assets to the Group. In particular, the operating facilities
in Mian Zhu City Hang Wan Natural Gas Co., Ltd. and Bei
Chuan County Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd., both are wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, in Hanwang Town
and Bei Chuan County were severely damaged. After the
5.12 Earthquake, the Company has been actively engaged
in rescue relief, digging, clean-up works and evaluation of
asset loss. Upon a period of consolidation of the result of the
clean up operations, the Company estimates that the 5.12
Earthquake has caused the Company a direct loss of assets
of approximately HK$214,920,000. A reversal of impairment
loss of HK$65,002,000 in respect of the Sichuan Companies
was then recognised in the consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 March 2009 based on the valuation
report issued by Assets Appraisal Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group.

The recoverable amount of the Sichuan Companies,
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
of the Sichuan Companies (the “Valued Assets”) has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by Group’'s management covering a
5-year period, and discount rate of 14.14%. This discount
rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the growth rate of 4% - 75% for the
relevant industry. Other key assumptions for the value-in-use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
which include budgeted sales and gross profit margin
of a range from 29% to 71%, such estimation is based
on the past performance of the Sichuan Companies and
management’s expectations for the market development.
Management of the Group believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not
cause the aggregate carrying amount of the Valued Assets
to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the Valued
Assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B % 3§ 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

12. E R ith E R %iﬁﬁ%ﬁ#ﬁlﬁl
Il‘E

CRERERE) (&)

S.NMERAEE BT REEFREKXN
B LER AQA A EEERIE)
ZHEERB ARSI EREXARER
AR RIS RA DGR AR REER
HESBRERK -5 120EF% KQAE
BERFARBRCE 2] B RIERTE
BEBL RERA—BRNEESBEIE
R KRAFMEE 5. 12 BEEK
AR BEEEEBKLE®214,920,000
Lo HERBEBUYSAEREEGHERBEER
EFEBMER AR (A E I EEH
H)BN 2EERSE  REE200943 A
BTHIEFEZHRAERERAFE)IA A
T 3R L 1B &5 18 ¢ ] 75 #565,002,0007T °

W ARl zA W El &5 &E)IARZY
¥ BELAREURBEAEAS (TBEHE
BE|)zJkRESELREEREBER
BHEEBE -ZiEREDREAEEE
BEMEZAFHRBEFRESR
= FE R A K BRIR R14.14% 515 - 5% AL IR
KRR EABITEERIEANGE BV E
B AARETT 4% - 75% 2R K - (F
BEAEFZZEMESRERDEG
WERA/ REERB  ZAEEEEH
EFERNTF29%E71% 2 EMX - R
STABREBEN AR BARBRKEERE
HMISERRE CBEEL - AEBEIEE R
B EMZERRLIRT( A2 & B E
BT eEREHEELEZRERAES
RZEEHEEEZJKE#AEE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009F3A31H L F &

12. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSS 12. ERit EERZ 2 EEBRED
(IMPAIRMENT LOSS) RECOGNISED IN (REEE) (&)
RESPECT OF EARTHQUAKE (Continued)
The reversal of impairment loss for the Sichuan Companies in P9I~ B FE5.123 52 R (8 /85 18 7 [B] 1 3R
respect of the 5.12 Earthquake was recognised as follows: O
Reversal of
impairment
loss in the
current year
AEERE
BiEERE
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment W BREREE 61,024
Goodwill EES =
Prepaid lease payments ERNEE 3,100
Available-for-sale financial assets A ECREE -
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E b fE W SKIB 8
Inventories FE 870
65,002
As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, RUEFERBRETE B AEBY
the Group has neither received nor been entitled to AR UL ER 3k A B 2R B R B A Bl S AT
receive any compensation from the insurance companies BE2AMNBE-EFRA REEAR
or government. The Directors are of the opinion that the & B0 /& R5.1230 2 M 8 BUE A & A 5k
Group had no significant contingent liabilities and capital RNBERERFEE-

commitment arising from the 5.12 Earthquake at the
balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements % & Bf #% R 3% Kf =%

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & 2200943 A31H It F /&

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 13. EENRSNEHEEMNS

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
The remuneration of the Directors for the year, BZEMBRAEEEREHE161
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 BREE EFRNAFEZHMeF
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is analysed as BT
follows:
For the year ended 31 March 2009 B E2009F3A31HLEFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Equity-settled benefits
Directors’  and benefits  share-based scheme Total
fee in kind payments contributions  emoluments
DY $:3:3 1
F& RER  ROAER BB
Ezne ENF G PAE S HE L8 ame
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR
Executive Directors: wTES:
Xu Ruixin 3t - - - - -
Mo Shikang it - 1,745 - I 1,786
Zhu Peifeng KR - 1,844 - 1] 1,885
Zhang Hesheng gk - 1,711 - 4 1,752
Jin Song L - 94 - 2 973
Wong Ching - Note (a) TH-Mz@) - 688 - - 688
Chu Kin Wang Peleus - Note (b) REE-HED) - 490 - 4 494
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHGES:
Liu Junmin %R 130 - - - 130
Tan Qinglian BEE - - - - -
Sin Ka Man HRE 140 - - - 140
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 13. EENSHAEEEMS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2008 B Z2008F3H31HLFE

Salaries, Retirement

allowances Equity-settled benefits
Directors’  and benefits  share-based scheme Total
fee in kind payments contributions  emoluments

DY $:3:3 1

FEOBMR  RORER BAER
EEHe BN E PAES aH BB aMe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI

Executive Directors: WIES:
Xu Ruixin B - - - - -
Liu Jing - Note (c) Ll i) - 1,370 1,005 = 2375
Mo Shikang st - 1,844 125 2 1,997
Zhu Peifeng KIER - 1,836 1,005 30 2871
Zhang Hesheng "M - 1,918 1,005 30 2,953
Jin Song ) - 612 1,005 % 1,643
Wong Ching TH - 910 1,005 - 1,915

Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHTES:
Liu Junmin %R 130 - 362 - 49
Tan Qinglian EEE - - - - -
Sin Ka Man EERE 140 - 362 - 502

270 8,490 5,874 114 14,748

Notes: B 5

(@)  resigned on 1 December 2008 (@) F2008F 12 A1HEHE

(b)  appointed on 1 December 2008 (b) F2008%12 1B EE(E

(c)  resigned on 31 December 2007 () P2007F12A31HEHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 # Z200943A31H I F[E

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments paid by the Group. No emoluments was
paid to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group as compensation for loss of office
during the two years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008.

Share options have been granted to certain Directors,
in respect of their services to the Group, under the
share option schemes of the Company, further details
of which are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements. The fair value of such options,
which has been charged to the consolidated income
statement, was determined as at the date of grant
and included in the above Directors’ remuneration
disclosures.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
all (2008: all) are Directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 13(a).

None of the five highest paid individuals waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the Group.
No emoluments was paid to the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group as compensation for loss of
office during the two years ended 31 March 2009 and
2008.

13. EENSAREEEMS (&)

(a)

(b)

EEZME (&)

EEMERETXARABREETAAE
B > 2 Bl & - & £ 20094 %2008
FIANALMEFE  ARAHE
MEEXNEAME (ERERER
MARRE 2 BB N IMAREE
&2 BERAHIE -

REAARBRENS ETES
MEAASEREZ RGERTE
B BEFBENEE M B®RER
a6 - EMBEZ A FE (S
REFEGKRSERTHR)RELAH
B YBERALEZME 2 &

E?Eo

EfUREHMAL

FAL(2008F : 28 )&= H A
THAES EMEEHERKE
13(@)A °

hfuZSHEMALBEREXRE
BMETAAKEINZME BE
20094 % 200843 A31H 1L/ &
B ARABERAAERELVRS
FMA LN EMME  ERERE
HMAREE 2 BB IMARE
BR 2 BERE
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14. FINANCE COSTS 14. B A&

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Interest on convertible notes AR ERZF B 3,120 4,289
Interest on other loans BEERZFE 272 =

Interest on bank loans wholly ARAFTFRNBHREEZ
repayable within five years RITE A E 19,209 18,238

Interest on bank loans wholly ARAFEBEEE
repayable after five years RITE KT E 807 =
23,408 22,527

Less: amount capitalised in W ERIRENME SR

construction in progress (Note) (BFsE) (11,315) (8,079)
12,093 14,448
Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of M EEKRADREF6.53%%8.21%

6.53 — 8.21% per annum (2008: 7.48% to 9.69%).

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

AL e

15. FTBREX

(2008%F :7.48%%9.69% ) 2 8 % &

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Current tax: BVHAR 18

- Hong Kong Profits tax —BBNER - 5,042
— Overprovision in prior years —REFEEEARE (757) =
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —H B EREH 13,560 11,837
— Overprovision in prior years —BAFEBRERE - (37)

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 34) EIEFRIB B E (Mf5E34)
— Current year —KREE (757) (1,369)
- Change in tax rate —HEREH - (6,734)
12,046 8,739
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15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits
tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of
assessment 2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax
is calculated at 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) of the estimated
assessable profit for the year.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since
the Group has no assessable profit for the year ended 31
March 2009. The Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
17.5% of the estimated assessable profit for the year ended
31 March 2008.

The charge for the year ended 31 March 2008 to the
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been relieved by approximately
HK$4,393,000 as a result of tax losses brought from previous
years.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
statutory PRC enterprise income tax (“PRC Enterprise Income
Tax") rate of 25% is applied to the group entities for the
two years ended 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008 except
for entities that are entitled to different concessionary tax
rates as disclosed below.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are entitled to
an exemption from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the first
two years commencing from their first profit-making year
of operation and thereafter, these PRC subsidiaries will be
entitled to a 50% relief from PRC Enterprise Income Tax for
the following three years (“2+3" tax preference). The PRC
Enterprise Income Tax rates applicable to these subsidiaries
range from 15% to 33% and the reduced tax rates for the
relief period range from 7.5% to 16.5%. The charge of
PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the years has been provided
for after taking these tax incentives into account. The tax
benefit will expire during the period from year 2008 to
2012.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B % 3§ 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

15. FRBHiMA < (&

R2008F6H26H BE B EAERB
C008F W AEBIER)Y - RAF B
M EBI175%AEE16.5% I R
2008, 20094 7R Fi F [& #B 4 2 o MUt -
BB T B TR ANF Z fH 5t FE R B A
16.5% (20084 : 17.5% )T & °

AR AEBEEHZE2009F3A318 IEFET
EAEAERBDEF - B EELEAES
FIIS T - BB TS T2 8 22008
FIAIBLEFEEZHFTERBRF 2

17.5%:1 & »

HRBAEFELEE 2 FHIEEE 522008
FIANALFEZHBNEH I HEE
TR 478 4,393,0007T

RIBEFBEEBEERRER BT XA E
ZETREEHRE ZEEIN BE2009F
3A31H8 K200843A31H It MEFE -
AEBERPBAECEMGSHE ([FRED
EFER]) R25%EMFIA -

BIEFRBEBBEERER  ARRHTH
HffEARE#AESELEE s EMENF
EHRERDEMNTECEMBHRME M
HEG=FZEHPENBAR LG EER
REN50% P BB EREH ([2+3] T
BE) BARZEWNBAR P
FR8 R R 15% Z=33% % - 1 2= 5 2
ZERBEMRENT75%E16.5% - RE
A2z HRBIRERMEH T AL SR
THB R AE B - BB E RSN 200845F
F2012F BRI FIH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009F3A31H L F &

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

On 26 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
a circular on the implementation of transitional preferential
policies for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax. Entities that are
currently entitled to preferential tax rates under the old
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law can gradually transit to the
new tax rate of 25% within 5 years after the enforcement
of the new PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law at a tax rate
of 18%, 20%, 22%, 24% and 25% in year 2008, 2009,
2010, 2011 and 2012 respectively. Entities that originally
enjoy the “2+3" tax preference can continue enjoying the
tax preference based on the original tax rate until after the
expiration of the tax preference. Entities that did not start
“2+43" tax preference before 2008 because they were still in
loss position shall start the “2+3" tax preference from 2008.

The deferred tax balance has been adjusted to reflect the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the respective periods
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled.

15. FREBiBx (&)

M2007F12 H268 « 7 B B 7% Bt 5t B HE
PESEETHBEEERECRE L ES
brimpk - R ECEMGHEMNT @ B
BEEREREER R o BEBRIE
B E {12 5F NE FBEZE#H I E25% -
20084 + 20094F ~ 20104F ~ 2011 F &
2012F 2 ED R E18% 20% ~22%
24%%25%  JRAZE B [2+3 ] MK EE
CERBABERENEEEZAMNBEE
B -EEEZHWMAL - EAREERNME
2008 HIAR IR ETT [2+3] BB EED
B 2E2008F MR E AT [2+43] Bii%
BH-

BT BEE B O L FE - URRFEHR
BEZBRNABEEE L AABRAER
2B
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 # Z200943A31H I F[E

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 15. FiBHiMx (&
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to ﬁ?é”&éﬁz%ﬁﬂ (BHR)EKRERE 2
the profit (loss) per the consolidated income statements as BHREIYERMOT
follows:
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit (loss) before tax AR A (E1E) 51,283 (300,661)

Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate 205 E B £25% (20084 :

of 25% (2008: 25%) 25% ) ETE 2 Fi1E 12,820 (75,166)
Tax effect of share of result of DR E N EEEZ

associates B & (1,299) 2,592
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAZRBRBRAZ RG22

tax purpose (18,639) (16,812)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAIMHZ 2 g2

for tax purpose 8,951 105,598
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised K F R *RIEEETEZ

IS 13,849 2,259

Utilisation of tax losses previously not &) ?ﬁﬁmﬂiﬁﬁ 22 B EE

recognised - (4,393)
Tax effect of 50% income tax relief BB A ﬂfé?‘ﬁSO%Fﬁ/E

granted to subsidiaries HEBEZHRBETE (2,602) (1,495)
Tax effect of exemption granted to B RARERRE BT E

subsidiaries (1,962) -
Effect of different tax rate of B AR TRME 2 F &

subsidiaries 1,685 (3,807)
Overprovision for prior years BAEFEBREEE (757) (37)
Income tax expense for the year REFEMBEHAX 12,046 8,739

16. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 16. A AR E RSB AELERE
OF THE COMPANY

Loss attributable to shareholders dealt with in the income RARBRERFPEERE ZREEMN
statement of the Company is HK$32,002,000 (2008: &5 18 A7 132,002,0007T (20084 : B
HK$46,891,000). 46,891,0007T ) °

17. DIVIDEND 17. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during 2009, nor has any 20094 A I B 2 (M sl @ SZ AR E - 7R
dividend been proposed since the balance sheet date (2008: EEAE A URER HERARE (2008

nil). FE) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009%3A31H It F &

18. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

18.

The calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share attributable
to equity holders of the Company is based on the profit
(loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share

is based on the following data:

BREAN (BE)

ARREDRFEAREEREREF (B
8) DRAR B S REE ARG F R
(BB ENFRBTEBRZNETH

BEE

SREXREERF (BR) R T8
BEE

2009 2008
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Earnings (loss) ZR (E51E)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to AR AR FE AEEFE
equity holders of the Company w Al (1) 35,902 (309,456)

Number of shares

Ko EE

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used
in the basic earnings (loss) per share
calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted
averaged of number of
potential ordinary shares:
— share options

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during
the year used in the diluted
earnings (loss) per share calculation

1

AESEREARRN (BB
ERZFARAD ETEER
hNAEF 8L

BHE (R 2 B
& mAR 2 IAET R
pe:

— B

AAESk#ESAEN (BE)
FERZFARAD ET
BB P

The computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share for
the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008 do not assume
the conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible
notes and since their exercise would result in an increase in
earnings per share and decrease in loss per share for year
ended 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008, respectively.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share for two years ended 31
March 2009 and 31 March 2008 has not be presented as the

effect of any dilution is anti-dilutive.

4,082,260,718 3,934,388,455

= 46,920,793

4,082,260,718 3,981,309,248

#H 220094 M2008F3A31H IEFEF
BREERF (BE) 28T EREZARRD
A EE A M R B I Y T HARR B R - A T{E AT
B EERE S BIEHEE2009F3HA31H
200843 A31 8 IEFE 2 FIREFIE M
N EREER D -

HREMNESFEYERNRESHEE -
i E 2200943 A31 8 200843 H31H°
IFREFETEZERBERT (&
) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 & 2200943 A31H It F /&

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ¥ -BERRZRE

Buildings in Furniture,
PRC for own fixtures Plant,
use under Leasehold and office machinery Transportation  Construction
medium lease  improvements equipment  and pipeline vehicles in progress Total
HEEEAT
URAEZ HENE  HH RER BE B#

BERET %5 BAERE REE EREH ERIE @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BB BETT EETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
cost 723
At 1 April 2007 R2007%4R18 67,948 427 4,753 470,101 14,243 79,566 637,038
Exchange realignment EiAE 6,869 - 439 47,334 1,530 8,018 64,190
Additions HE 1,215 - 1,503 5235 15,787 131,447 155,187
Transfer EE 5,033 - - 81,497 - (86,530) -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR (8,341) - (74) (46,460) (329) (2,463) (57,667)
Disposals HE (84) - (169) (26) (498) (487) (1,264)
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 #2008%3A318 k200854418 72,640 427 6,452 557,681 30,733 129,551 797,484
Exchange realignment EiAE 1,568 = 135 12,040 640 2,797 17,180
Additions RE 1,223 - 1,114 4,362 3,982 164,988 175,669
Transfer # = = = 49,826 = (49,826) =
Reclassification to investment properties BHABERENE (3,077) - - - - - (3,077)
Write-off ik (5,830) = (141) (104,699) (864) (20,059) (131,593)
Disposals tE (256) = (53) (966) = - (1,275)
At 31 March 2009 200934318 66,268 427 7,507 518,244 34,491 227,451 854,388
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 2HERAESS

IMPAIRMENT LOSS

At 1 April 2007 2007454818 1,342 106 601 17,615 1,610 - 21274
Exchange realignment EiAE 283 = 101 2,629 318 - 3,331
Provided for the year TERRE 2,497 85 933 14,191 3,551 - 21,257
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR (1,083) = (40) (6,970) (116) = (8,209)
Eliminated on disposal HERHH (84) - (127) (19) (317) = (547)
Impairment loss RESE 12,116 - 195 183,589 1,626 21,075 218,601
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 #2008%3A31H k2008E4 418 15,071 191 1,663 211,035 6,672 21,075 255,707
Exchange realignment EHAE 329 - 35 4622 135 455 5,576
Provided for the year RERER 2,521 85 1,031 12,432 4,163 = 20,232
Reclassification to investment properties BNARERENE (170) = = = = = (170)
Write-off i (5,830) = (141) (104,699) (864) (20,059) (131,593)
Eliminated on disposal HERHE (52) = (28) (62) = - (142)
Reversal of impairment loss REEERE (8,095) - (127) (49,721) (1,610) (1,471) (61,024)
At 31 March 2009 200934318 3,774 276 2,433 73,607 8,496 - 88,586
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2009 #2009%3A31H 62,494 151 5074 444,637 25,995 227,451 765,802
At 31 March 2008 #200853A31H 57,569 236 4,789 346,646 24,061 108,476 541,777
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. % BERKRE (&)
(Continued)
At 31 March 2009, the Group's property, plant and M2009F3A31H  AEEWE - BE K
equipment amounting to approximately HK$16,336,000 & 185 4978 #16,336,0007T (20084F : /B 15
(2008: HK$14,477,000) were pledged to secure bank loans 14,477,000) B THRIFIEAR T AREEIR
granted to the Group (Note 43). TERZER (FMH43) o
The official property title certificates for certain of the AEBEETEFCREBEGHNER
Group's buildings with carrying amounts of approximately 9,989,0007T (20084 : & #9,895,000
HK$9,989,000 (2008: HK$9,895,000) in aggregate have not To) AR E AR B B AT RA 3 B EX
yet been issued by the relevant local government authorities. XEEE EEZRE FEERZEETF
The Directors are of the opinion that the Group's right and ZHEFMEEET2 AL EEERE-
interest in such buildings will not be therefore severely
prejudiced.
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Lt BB RERHEEEB L EHER
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per THFEERFE -
annum:
Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or BF 40F B T Z
the operation period of 7 EABR
the relevant company (ARG EB%E)
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the terms HEMERE & BPR Sk5F
of the leases, or 5 years (AEEEAE)
Furniture, fixtures and 20% RE-EE R 20%
office equipment WRERE
Plant, machinery and 2.5% — 20% = 2.5%%E20%
pipeline REB

Transportation vehicles 12.5% — 20% 1 5 B 4 12.5%%20%
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

20. REWHE

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Investment properties, ARFEINEZREYE
stated at fair value
At 1 April R4H1H 8,370 7,237
Exchange realignment ME 3, o B 181 756
Reclassification from property, MW BB k&
plant and equipment i | 3,361 =
(Decrease) increase in fair value NEE )18 (454) 377
At 31 March R3A31H 11,458 8,370
Detail of geographical locations WA 2 IR E K FH
and tenure of investment BT
properties were:
PRC — leases between 10 and 50 years H B —F &8 H 105 2504 11,458 8,370

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2009 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that day by Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuers not connected
with the Group. Asset Appraisal Limited is a member of
the Institutes of Valuers, and has appropriate qualifications
and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties
in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms
to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions.

The Group leases out certain investment properties under
operating leases, for an initial period of three to eight years,
with an option to renew on renegotiated terms. All of the
Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

R2009F 3310 AEBIREYWEZ N
TEDDBEBYSEREEMERBEE
FEEMERAR (MAREEIWEEE)
Tz B#ET 2 MESE EENEBRHA
RArARBlIEmMEeres WAE
HEERRERNIAEEME 2 BUY
EETHE  RIBEBIRMGEEAETZE
B TR 2Z M A AR H B Rk R B R 2
HOUMEZ R ZER 2 T HBEEST -

AEERBEEHELEETREDE
RYHRBE=ZFZ/\F EERENH
FZGERER AEEMAEUKLEHEELRA
FEURBES WAL EEREER S
ZEREMEEARFERAE XD
REEMEARK-
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

21.

At 31 March 2009, the Group's investment properties
amounting to approximately HK$11,458,000 (2008:
HK$8,370,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted
to the Group (Note 43).

None of the leases include contingent rentals. During
the year ended 31 March 2009, the gross rental income
from investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$266,000 (2008: HK$152,000).

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

20. REME (&)

M2009F3A31H REBEKEYWE
#) 75 #11,458,0007T (20084 : i &
8,370,00097T) B THEIIEAE TAKHE
IRITERZ =R (KI5E43) ©

MERAAEERERARS - REZ=2009
FIAMBIEFE REKREYWEZBHA
% U A 497 #266,0007T (20084 : i i
152,0007T) °

21. EAHEE

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Cost N
At 1 April R4R1H 36,016 28,638
Exchange realignment M H A 779 2,903
Additions NE 5,338 4,475
At 31 March M3H31H 42,133 36,016
Amortisation and impairment loss B MORERER
At 1 April R4A18 5,809 574
Exchange realignment bE H, 8 B 127 105
Charge for the year REFE R 801 671
(Reversal of impairment loss) ERRAEBEESE
impairment loss recognised CREEERR) (3,100) 4,459
At 31 March M3A31H8 3,637 5,809
Carrying values BREE 38,496 30,207
Analysed for reporting purpose as: LA B KD
Current portion BV EAEB 1 814 616
Non-current portion JEBNER S8 17 37,682 29,591

38,496 30,207
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21.

22.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS (Continued)

The amounts represented medium-term land use rights in
the PRC and are amortised over the terms of the respective
land use rights on a straight-line basis.

The Group’s prepaid lease payments with carrying values
of approximately HK$10,174,000 (2008: HK$4,921,000)
represent interest in land use rights in respect of which
official land use certificate have not yet been issued by
relevant local government authorities. The Directors are of
the opinion that the Group’s rights and interest in respect of
such land lots will not be therefore severely prejudiced.

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s prepaid lease payments
amounting to approximately HK$22,415,000 (2008:
HK$17,860,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted
to the Group (Note 43).

1. BEE (&)

ZETBRERNTEM PP ERE I
MNE#HR R ERENHBREENT
DA K -

AEBBEEMELHE®,10,174,0007T
(20084 : /5 %4,921,0007T) 2 FE N F £
IR T HF A 2 #E s - & AR A BT
R AB BB ER T thF AEE -
ERE AEBRZEMI 2 EF R AERS
TEREFINEEBE-

M2009%F3A31H A&EBE 2 EMNHE
A 22,415,0007T (20084 : & #&
17,860,0007T) B THRIFIEAR TASHE
IRITERZ R (KI5E43) ©

GOODWILL 22. &
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Cost BN
At 1 April R4A1H 216,039 225,141
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) HENEQ T (KFE38) - (19,785)
Exchange realignment b 5 SR 2,928 10,683
At 31 March M3HA31H 218,967 216,039
Impairment B E
At 1 April R4H1H 48,847 91
Exchange realignment ME 5 A 1,055 -
Impairment loss recognised FAEHRZBEERE
during the year - 48,756
At 31 March M3A31H 49,902 48,847
Carrying values RHEE
At 31 March M3A31H 169,065 167,192
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22. GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.

The management considers each subsidiary represents a
separate cash-generating unit (“CGU") for the purpose of
goodwill impairment testing. At the balance sheet date, the
carrying value of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising
from the acquisitions of following subsidiaries:

22. & ()

AEESFRAPHERE  AHMEHRE
REERERRE MEEERARE -

ERERS BAERENRAMS B8R
MBARRKR AR RS ELEN
(ReELEM]) NEER BEZEK
HEIERRKBTINBRARELZ
BE

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT ST T

Fujian An Ran Group BREZAEEH 161,044 159,341
Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. EEFRMRAERAF 8,021 7,851
169,065 167,192

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from
value-in-use calculations based on the cashflow forecast of
the relevant CGUs. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling price and direct costs
during the period. Management estimates discount rates
using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.
The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts.
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past
practices and expectation of future changes in the market.

ReELEMZAREERNEREH
ReELBUZREREBZAERERAE
BEMEE -FEERABEMRAIEIER
BRMANZEFHBCMRR BER &
EREERKA BT 28 EEEF A
RERTIZHEREEBE T GARR
& B A B AL 2 R E L B O B B AT A R 2R
e R R - R KR ARITERRIRANA
EE-EERERKAZEFEETHIZE
EEMRBEHEMSc ARESH/EE-
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22. GOODWILL (Continued)

Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural Gas Co., Ltd., relevant
natural gas assets in Bei Chuan County, Chongging
Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. and Xin Hua Resources Investment
Limited, natural gas business in Yan Liang District, Xi‘an City
were affected by the 5.12 Earthquake. At the issue date of
the annual report for year ended 31 March 2008, due to
frequent aftershock and rescue work was still underway,
the Group was unable to carry out site assessment on
loss of assets for the time being. The Directors considered
that the 5.12 Earthquake has destroyed the considerable
portion of assets and operating facilities. Accordingly, the
Directors consider that no future economic benefits would
be generated from such goodwill and impairment loss of
approximately HK$48,756,000 had been recognised for the
year ended 31 March 2008.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group prepares
cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets approved by management for the next 5 years
on an estimated growth pattern at growth rates between
13% to 75% (2008: 6% to 59%) and a discount rate of
12% (2008: 12%). The financial budgets and growth rates
are estimated according to the stage of each operation
with reference to the development curve of the natural gas
industry in the PRC region. This pattern is consistent with the
track record of the Group’s projects.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B % 3§ 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

22. & ()

B TERERARER AR B
HEEE EEFPRMRIERA R KXin
Hua Resources Investment Limited A P8 %
MAREZMAEBHIZRNS1210E 2
FE PN E2008F3A3 A IEFEZF
T E B ER - R RRE T A R RUR TE
MEET AEEERELAHEERKLE
TG G - EER A5 12EE HHKAE
BER—Ho2BEERKER B AL &
ERBEERABINZEEER LY
BE AR RS B E2008F3 A31
B L E - #)78%48,756,0007T 2 BEE
BEER-

HZE2009F3A31HIEFE  AEE TR
BEERERARSFFI 2 AT
BIEE AR ER13%ZE75% (20084 :
6%%E59% ) M 12%86 3R & (20084 :
NwR)FEHZEEREAGRESRER
Blo I TEE MR RIBIE & EE 2k
S KB EREMERARITEZERBG
E st e EENEAREEIAEE 2 & —
g(o
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23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

23. BV EE

Exclusive Exclusive

rights of rights of
purchase operations Total
BRERBEN BREERER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT

(Note a) (Note b)

(MfsEa) (Kt3Eb)

COST R A
At 1 April 2007 20074 H1H = 126,271 126,271
Additions NE 12,282 = 12,282
Exchange realignment bE H, 38 ' - 12,399 12,399
At 31 March 2008 and R2008F3H31H &

1 April 2008 2008F4H1H 12,282 138,670 150,952
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 B 295 2,783 3,078
At 31 March 2009 720093 A31H 12,577 141,453 154,030

AMORTISATION AND B RAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2007 M2007F4A18 = 3,701 3,701
Charge for the year N EE M = 4,401 4,401
Exchange realignment P 5, 58 B - 268 268
At 31 March 2008 and M2008F3A318 &

1 April 2008 2008F4H1H = 8,370 8,370
Charge for the year KEEHNKR 515 4,867 5,382
Exchange realignment ME H A 1 6 7
At 31 March 2009 720093 H31H 516 13,243 13,759

CARRYING VALUES FRE B
At 31 March 2009 20093 H31H 12,061 128,210 140,271
At 31 March 2008 720083 H31H 12,282 130,300 142,582
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23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 23. ML EE (&)

Notes: Bt AT -

a)  During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group acquired a) MEZE2008F3A3MBIEFE AEH
an exclusive rights of purchase of natural gas explored in AR (B 7%E #12,282,0007T [ A Bt & A
Yanji Basin, which is located in Yanji, Long Jing and Long City Al —EERMNEHRAMREBRATNE
of Yan Bian Korean Nation Autonomous Area in the eastern — BN E WA R TR EE AN
part of Jilin Province, from an ex-associate — Yan Bian Hua EE EHRERRAMFAE ZRARD
Xin Qil Exploitation Company Limited at a consideration of BRERABRER
HK$12,282,000.

b) It represented the exclusive rights to operate in gas pipeline b) IEEREETHWHERARTLEER
infrastructure and provision of piped Gas Fuel by local REBEMRBRIEERR 2 BRE
government in various cities in the PRC for a period of 10 to F - BHEI10E604F ©
60 years.

c) At 31 March 2009, the Group's exclusive rights of operations o  M2009F3A31H AEEBEBRLKE#
amounting to approximately HK$51,461,000 (2008: 4978 #51,461,0007T (20084 : & ¥
HK$52,176,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted 52,176,0007T) B T EBIERE T ARE
to the Group (Note 43). ERITERZER (MH43) ©

d)  All of the exclusive rights of operations and purchases are d FTEBERCERET RHEEREMNM10E60
amortised on a straight-line basis over the operation period of FZISEEAN AT RSN -

10 to 60 years.
24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 24, REHE N A HERE
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cost of unlisted investments I ETIRE R AR 34,119 37,845
Share of post-acquisition profits, {5 W B 18 45 A

net of dividends (BEMEERE) 20,778 15,582

Impairment loss recognised EREEERZREERE
in respect of goodwill (8,397) (8,397)
Exchange realignment M H A 9,842 8,681
56,342 53,711
Amounts due to associates (Note 40)  JEfT B & A 7158 (f7E40) (34,458) (20,697)
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24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 24 REEE RN TR (F)
Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 March 2009 is as 720093 A31H  AEE 2B & N AlFF
follows: BT
Form of Place of Group
business  establishment Class of effective
Name of company structure  and operation shares held interest Principal activities
RIR r5E
AGE:E EBERER TR FERGHER BRER TEEH
BIEZARRERAR Limited liability PRC Contributed capital 49%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
(T&{tE% ) (Dehua Guang An company H EHAR and gas pipeline construction
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. BREMAT HERDHEMARMAEBRE

("Dehua Guang An."))

BMZREEBRRERAA Limited liability PRC Contributed capital 49%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
(Fuzhou An Ran Ju Pipeline company H EHAR and gas pipeline construction
Gas Co., Ltd)) BEREARH HERDHEMARMAEBRE

EMEZRRERAR Limited liability PRC Contributed capital 49% Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel
(Xiamen Jia An Gas Co., Ltd.) company H BHER and gas pipeline construction

BREARLT HERDHRARMAT ERE

HEER(BT)RSERAE Limited liability PRC Contributed capital 40% Fuel gas engineering investment
(Zhongmin Haiyou (Nanping) Gas company HE EHAR and natural gas wholesale
Company Limited) BEREFEAR BMRIBRRERRARHE

RRER (ER)HMEERERAR Limited liability PRC Contributed capital 40% Participate in supply video
(Zhongmin Zai Xian (Beijing) company i EHAER lottery operating system and
Technology Development Limited) BEREEAR equipment in the PRC

AT ELEHRAEERDA Limited liability PRC Contributed capital 40% Investing and engaging
(Shenzhen Yongheng Lecai company H EHAER in the development of lottery
Technology Development BEREEAR software technology in the PRC
Company Limited) RABRERLEV R

BREFIRRIMAMHE
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24, INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, one of the associates
of the Group, Zhongmin Zai Xian (Beijing) Technology
Development Limited (“Zhongmin Zai Xian"), has undergone
a capital reduction. As a result, the registered capital of
Zhongmin Zai Xian decreased from RMB30,000,000 to
RMB 14,000,000 and the contributed capital by the Group
decreased from RMB12,000,000 to RMB6,400,000. The
over contribution of HK$3,815,000 (RMB3,360,000) had
been refund to the Group during the year ended 31 March
2009 with the balance remaining in the trade and other
receivables. The Group’s share of equity interest in Zhongmin
Zai Xian was not changed after the capital reduction.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, included in the cost
of investment in associates was goodwill of HK$1,583,000.
This goodwill was attributable to the anticipated profitability
of (1) sales and distribution of Gas Fuel and related products
and (2) the gas pipeline construction operations and (3) the
participation in supply of video lottery operating system and
equipments respectively. The movement of goodwill is set
out below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B % 3§ 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

4. RE N THER (&

REE2009F3A31HILFE  AEBH
P-REE AR R RALS (JLR)BHRE
BERAR([FRER])KFEE KA
oA FREZK-EMELRBAAR
#530,000,0007T & = A R #14,000,000
T MASBEEHERABARK
12,000,0007T 3 & A R #6,400,0007T
REE2009F3A31BILFE 2824
%45 #3,815,0007t ( A K #3,360,000
TTIEREARSEE SRENEINEE IR
HEMEWKIEIRT - ANEEE (LR RER
RN E AR R EEE) -

REE2008F3A31HILFE  BE QA
15 & B AN B 1 7 2 8 5 1,583,0007T © It
EEDHERER)HEE &5 SHR R & A8
Em RQMREBRERER k(3)2H
HERBEXNEZRARRERBEHRA
Flgen - B2 EEEFNWT

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 April R4R1H 1,583 39,376
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B 33 3,883
Impairment loss recognised @R REERE - (8,397)
Disposal of an associate HEBE QA (1,616) (33,279)
At 31 March M3HA31H - 1,583

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.

The recoverable amounts of interests in associates are
determined from value in use calculations. The value in use
of the investment represents the Group’s dividends from the
associates. The amount of future dividends depends on the
profitability and the availability of cash of the associates.

AEEBFRAMERE XHEHRE
REERRECRE - B E AT RORRE -

REE RRIEmR 2 Al IO & 8B AERE
TEFTR - HREZERESARE LK Z
R EVEZ BB, » AR IR B B & BB AR T B
EREZABNEN KRR E 27 HMAIEm
5o
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24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 24. A E NE = (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2008, the cash flow forecasts HZE2008F3A3MBLEFE - Hen=ETE
were prepared by the management of the associates and BT ERERBRISE 2 MINEER
were derived from the financial budgets covering a period R E2%ZE6% Mk 837 K12 % 2 18
of 5 years approved by management of the associates on REANRRRSRETEN - MIHFEE &I
an estimated growth pattern at growth rate between 2% RERBREBZER K2ZhEHM R
and 6% at discount rate of 12%. The financial budgets and RARITHE ZBREHMBIED A

growth rates are estimated according to the stage of each
operation with reference to the development curve of the
natural gas industry in the PRC region.

The summarised financial information in respect of the NEBEB 2 AR 2 BER T
Group’s associates is set out below:

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T ok

Total assets BEHLE 229,572 224,698

Total liabilities BEERE (112,618) (117,416)

Net assets BETE 116,954 107,282

Group's share of net assets of NEBEGE S QA

associates BEFE 56,342 52,128

Revenue A 114,023 79,737

Profit (loss) for the year AE A (FE) 1,930 (24,810)
Impairment loss recognised ERAZEEBREERE

in respect of goodwill - (8,397)

Group's share of results of associates A5 B fE{G B & A A
for the year REZRE 5,196 (10,369)




Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2008-2009

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %2 & Bf & ¥R 3R Mf &%

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & 2200943 A31H It F /&

24. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 24. REAE N AR (&)
The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses AAEEEEHE AR BEEEBRE
of an associate since the Group’s share of losses in that REtE RN B PTME 2 Em WASEREIE
associate has exceeded its interest in that associate. The WREEGZE SRR ZEE AFER
amounts of unrecognised share of that associate, extracted ZETEMBE AR AR EHE (FHig
from the relevant unaudited management account of the REBEBEQNRABAREZERRE )N
Group's associate, both for the year and cumulatively, are as T
follows:
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Unrecognised share of losses of an NEFEGHERTZ
associate for the year RNEERE B 437 -
Accumulated unrecognised share of 2B E AR Z
losses of an associate REEREE 437 =

25. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 25. It HEESREE

2009 2008
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Listed securities EmES
Listed securities listed in Hong Kong MEE ETZ ETHES3
(Note 7(b)) (FF5E7(b) ) 25,521 =
Unlisted securities FETHRE
Equity securities (Note) BRAFES (ME) 13,050 12,774
Impairment loss recognised B MERREE A (6,280) (6,147)
6,770 6,627
Total = 32,291 6,627
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25. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 25. AItHESRMEE (&)
(Continued)

Note: B 5

The unlisted investment represents investment in unlisted equity EEMREENP R FMA L 2 FAEEIEL
interests in a private entity incorporated in the PRC. They are MERZRE AREGEA T EMGTHNEEE
measured at cost less impairment at each balance sheet date K UBEERAEQAFETEASFHEE
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant WEBAREESHEBRKARBBETE -

that the Directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be
measured reliably.

26. DEPOSITS PAID ON ACQUISITION OF 26. Wig—REMBARENMERD
ADDITIONAL EQUITY INTERESTS IN A &
SUBSIDIARY
As at 31 March 2008, the amount represented deposit for MR2008F3A31H EHESB|EEFZT
acquisition of additional 20% equity interests in Jinjiang BLZRARERAF20%EEMIES ° 7%
Guangan Natural Gas Co., Ltd., which is 80% owned AR BAEEFES0% EEIME AR -

subsidiary of the Group.

27. INVENTORIES 27. 7€
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction materials, BEME - B KB M
spare parts and consumables 31,069 16,689
Gas appliances MR B A 247 70
Gas fuel, including natural gas and LPG AR (B KRR K
RIEARR) 3,454 6,797
Others Hth - 4
34,770 23,560
A reversal of impairment loss recognised in respect of ERGEBERZBEBERBLN B
inventories of approximately HK$870,000 (2008: Nil) has 870,0007T (20084 : &) B st AR F E
been included in reversal of impairment loss in respect of the 5.123 Z R EE B RE A - BEFEHN
5.12 Earthquake in the current year. Details are set out in MEE12 o

Note 12.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows its trade customers with credit periods
normally ranging from 30 days to 90 days and extending to
180 days for major customers. An aged analysis of the trade
receivables (net of impairment loss recognised) as at the
balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

28. EZ R H A EWFIR

AEESKTHESEF Z2EEHA30A
FOHTAE MATEEXEFERZE180

BH-&ZEUWKE /S #ER

VRN

BIRNGEERZIREDIT REZEEAH

LIS

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T ok v

Current to 90 days BIHAZ=90H 13,050 8,921

91 days to 180 days 91HZ180H 1,211 402

Over 180 days 180H A 1,269 1,974

Trade receivables B 5 W zE 15,530 11,297

Advances to third parties (Note) FENFE=H 253 (M) 4,542 11,330
Advance to a related party (Note 40) BNTEBEALZ

I (Mi5E40) 3,407 —

Prepayments TE IR 7,867 7,551

Bills receivable =& 307 5,558

Deposit paid/payment in advance to Bffke BT

suppliers HpER 2 FIA 45,707 40,099
Consideration receivable for HEBE NG 2 B

the disposal of an associate KREFIE 20,031 31,121

Others Hh 5,054 5,300

102,445 112,256
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. ES R H M EWRIA (&)
(Continued)
The movements in the impairment loss recognised in respect EREBEZRWFIERRAZ BEBEZES
of trade receivables are as follows: s
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At 1 April R4A1H 856 62
Impairment loss recognised ERRAEEEE - 746
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B MBEFERAZ
in previous years VERIEY 7 i=EcqEl (32) =
Amount written-off as uncollectible 85 71 AT Ws =) R IE (111) (4)
Exchange realignment M H AR 20 52
At 31 March M3A31H 733 856
Included in the impairment loss recognised are individually ERABREEESEENEREEZ S E
impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance of W IE & H A8 82 408 #733,0007T (2008
approximately HK$733,000 (2008: HK$856,000) which the & : B#856,0007T) ' NEE I EIFH Z
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The LR 2 AR @ o [E BB RUE UK
individually impaired receivables mainly related to debtors BXrEHARETETAEALERENEE
that are in unexpected difficult economic situations or of R NMECEBAGTHE-

poor credit history.

The movements in the impairment loss recognised in respect EREMERRIBERZ REBEES
of other receivables are as follows: I

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

At 1 April MR4H1H 1,784 1,616
Impairment loss recognised ERRAEERE 3,288 13
Amount written-off as uncollectible Hf 88 1 B] Y 2] R IE (1,643) (54)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B 42 209

At 31 March M3A31H 3,471 1,784
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Included in the impairment loss recognised are individually
impaired other receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$3,471,000 (2008: HK$1,784,000) which
the Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
The individually impaired receivables mainly related to
debtors that are in unexpected difficult economic situations
or of poor credit history.

Note:

As at 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008, the advances to third
parties were unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
Before making any advances, the Group will understand the
potential debtor’s credit quality and defines its credit limits to
debtors with an appropriate credit history. Credit limits attributed to
debtors are reviewed regularly.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses a system to
assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on
a regular basis. Minimal amount of the trade receivables that are
neither past due nor impaired have the best credit under the credit
system used by the Group.

At 31 March 2009, included in the Group's trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,269,000 (2008: HK$1,974,000) which are past due at the
reporting date and aged over 180 days for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss. The Group did not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide
range of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment loss is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable.

28.
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B REMEBEWRE (F)

BRERRERELEERNSREEMER
RIEA L& 4E 83,471,000t (2008
4 B#51,784,0000T)  AE B EREF
ZE B2 AR - @B B R E R UK
IR B G AE R A] TE B A E R SR sk 1R
BEXSNEZEBALR-

i

F'%F

200943 A31H K%200843H318 B F
FE=RZFERERE  BERAREREE
BoMMERTMBRA AEEBHRBELEE
BAZEEEEREELEUNATHEER
- BEHAZEERBENEREZ-

ERMEMFEER  AEERA—ERFK
AEEERFP2FEEERATHEERE -
BEFZEERBINEHER  REASE AR
Bz 25 mABHREZ BRERRES
BHREREEELEE-

MR2009F3A31H BREAEEZE HEW
RIBE A EEEEXE%1,269,0007T 2 &
Uk BR 7% (20084 : 7 #£1,974,0007T ) * #Z %8R
KERBEAHAEMBIBISOR  MAEER
A ZERIGTRRERBE AEET T
EREEHB A MRS -

HABASREZ ERKREZRTPER
ZFE P &I EHE R A%

B A HE W ARBE 2 BUKRIREE TR ASE
BEERINALEZEFEH - RIEBE
& BEERRGE ARNEEERTEERE
£ LB RBRAEHRDKRESAERKE - K H
FIR S ERIELRERR-
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 29. EAFEFABBEZEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$’000
Financial assets at FVTPL include: BAFEFAEBER SREE: BT T BT T
Listed securities: FmES:
— Listed securities listed in Hong —REBLEMZEMES
Kong, at fair value BAFEEFE - 102,042
The Group has adopted the HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 AEBBER2008F7 A28 B RANB B LT
(Amendments) and reclassified its financial assets at FVTPL AEBIFEIR (BRI A) R BB IEHRE %
into available-for-sale financial assets on 28 July 2008 BIZE75% (BFTA) - WEBIZAFEFA
(Note 7(b)). Ba eREEEN»BEAHEES
L& E (FFFE7(b)) o
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 30. RITERKRE
At the balance sheet date, the bank balances and cash of REEH AEBUARBEE 2 RITHE
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately # & IR € %) /575 ¥155,505,0007T (2008
HK$155,505,000 (2008: HK$124,063,000). The RMB is not F : 7%%124,063,0007T) - ARBTEH
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under HARAEMER A B+ B2
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and EERRREE NEREEEER
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign EAEEEERRBERBEEINERT
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange ZIRITBARB R A EMEE -

RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on RITARSCERBEARTERFETEZF
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made BAEAR -BHEHERZERER
for varying periods of between one day and three months —BE=@EA BUARASE ZNFR
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the FER REACERHATHFERMNES
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time Bo

deposit rates.

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are the RITER RIOTEHRERESBENATZE

following amounts denominated in currency other than the B AHMSBIIAZER ZNEEHE N
functional currency of the entity to which they relate: ZEBEE

2009 2008

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Hong Kong dollars ke 1,600 11,452

United States dollars ETT 19,847 34,324
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. EZ REMEMARE
The following is an analysis of major components of the HEREIEXH>H>MEREE S ENZIERE
balance with aged analysis of trade payables: BOMMAT:
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables, falling due in: B HRENFIE  BEBNT
0 - 3 months 0-3fE A 19,851 19,262
4 — 6 months 4 - 618 A 6,011 2,577
Over 6 months 6fE A LA 12,957 12,462
Trade payables B 2N IR 38,819 34,301
Deposit received from customers WEEFziEe (K
(Note i) 120,806 56,941
Convertible notes interest payable FE T AR BB T B 910 910
Customer gas deposits and EPMRIZES REM
other deposit received Bk E 5,785 3,033
Gas Fuel income received in advance T8 R mA 31,851 29,454
Other payable for the purchase of BEWME BEREHBZ
property, plant and equipment E b & 5 RE 5,247 8,321
Consideration payable for the W R BT B A R REIME 2= 2
acquisition of additional equity ERE
interests in a subsidiary 6,813 8,892
Other loans (Note ii) EH &R (B i) 10,220 =
Accrued charges and other payables FEEHE A I H 8 (< 58 21,182 24,365
241,633 166,217
Notes: B 5
()  Deposits received from customers represent the gas pipeline () WBEFPZESEERBRZMAREERE
connection fee received but the pipelines have not yet been BRBURA HEEBNEEBEARTH -

completed as at the balance sheet date.

(i) Other loans as at 31 March 2009 is unsecured, interest (i)  FA2009%F3A31B 2 HMWE R A &K
bearing at rates ranging from 5.58% to 7.47% per annum IR FE R E558%27.47%1 B KA

and repayable within one year. R—FREE-
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32. BANK BORROWINGS 32. RITEE
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Secured bank loans BEFIETERK 217,561 148,536
Unsecured bank loans EIKHIRITER 92,380 77,805
309,941 226,341
The bank loans are repayable: AR TR EEE 2 RTT
B
Within one year or on demand —F RN B 145,839 147,629
In the second year NEF 86,206 27,788
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZFRF (B
BREMF) 34,066 50,924
Over five years RAEE 43,830 =
309,941 226,341
Less: Amounts due within one year W —FRE BB ETR ED
shown under current liabilities BEzEHE (145,839) (147,629)
Amounts due after one year —FEB Pz e 164,102 78,712
Secured bank loans were secured by pledging of various EERBETEFANERAEEZETE
assets of the Group, details of which are set out in Note 43. EERER FBEI R M43 -
All bank loans (secured and unsecured) are floating rate FERTER(EHRERERR) AF
borrowings of which interest rates are in the range of FENF4.54%%9.71% (20084 : H
4.54% to 9.71% per annum (2008: ranging from 4.73% to 473%%E10.36% ) 2 FBEREE-

10.36%).




Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2008-2009

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %2 & Bf & ¥R 3R Mf &%

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & 2200943 A31H It F /&

33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 33. IR EE
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Convertible notes measured BRATEFEZ
at fair value: ATmRER:
At the beginning of the year REH 157,878 410,974
Change in fair value NFEEZEE) 4,496 61,789
Conversion to shares EiR B R H5 - (314,885)
At the end of the year R 162,374 157,878
There is no conversion to shares by convertible notes for the #H E2009F3A31HIEFE  HEATR
year ended 31 March 2009. During the year ended 31 March IR ERE R AR - B Z=2008F3 A31
2008, an aggregate of 258,333,332 shares of HK$0.07 each HIEFE £RERE0.60T 27k
were issued to the holder of convertible notes — Indopark B 2817 3 #2748 %155,000,0007T 2 A #
upon the partial conversion of the convertible notes of REFE  FTRIREERAB A —Indopark
HK$155,000,000 at a conversion price of HK$0.60 each and TR 1T A 258,333,332 B E £0.07
an aggregate of 126,706,488 shares of HK$0.07 each were TCZ R R R G IRE#0.2158 T &£ %
issued to the holder of convertible notes — Equator upon BO3ABBT BB EBEABR A BER
the conversions of the convertible notes with total principal #5%38,900,0007T 2 Al AR R 1& - ]
amount of HK$38,900,000 at a conversion price ranging R EEF B A —EquatorE #1746 &%

from HK$0.2158 to HK$0.3433 each. 126,706,488/% T A% & #0.077L 2 B 17
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33. TEREE (&)

REBR200943 831 H HARE G 2 Al

33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The details of the Group's convertible notes outstanding as

at 31 March 2009 are set out below:

Date of issue

EITEH

Aggregate principal amount

BEfAE®R

Outstanding principal amount as at balance sheet date
REEEHBRZ AL

Coupon rate
;ETF%E/%\ $

Conversion price (HK$)

BARE (BT)
Conversion period
Collaterals

R o

Maturity date
A

REBEFEDT

15 June 2006
2006%6 A 15H

US$40,000,000
(approximately HK$310,000,000)
40,000,000 7t (49,5 %310,000,0007T)

US$20,000,000
(approximately HK$155,000,000)
20,000,000 7T (4978 %155,000,0007T )

2 per cent
2%

Reset from HK$0.60 to HK$0.50
B ¥0.607 ER] A5 0.507T

six months after the issue date and up to the
tenth trading day before the maturity date
HETHRRAAEAEZ B RFTEHZDHB AT +E

R 5 HIEZ HE
Nil
ii:d

VAN

14 June 2009
20096 A 14H
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

Other term:

The convertible notes shall be redeemed by the Company at
106% of their principal amount on the third anniversary of
the issue date of the convertible notes.

If on each anniversary of the issue date of the notes the
average volume-weighted closing price per share for the 15
trading days up to and including the trading day immediately
prior to such anniversary (the “Reset Reference Price”) is less
than the then current conversion price, the conversion price
will be reset to the Reset Reference Price, subject to the floor
price of HK$0.50 per share.

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi and the
conversion option of these notes is denominated in U.S.
dollars. Since the conversion price for the notes is subject
to change, the conversion will not result in settlement by
the exchange of a fixed number of equity instruments.
Therefore, upon application of HKAS 32 and HKAS 39, it
was determined that the notes do not contain any equity
component and the entire notes were designated as
“financial liabilities at FVTPL” which requires the notes to
be carried at fair value at the balance sheet date and the
changes in fair values are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. During the year ended 31 March
2009, a loss on change in its fair value of approximately
HK$4,496,000 (2008: HK$61,789,000) is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & B % 3§ 3% M 5=

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £200943A31H L F &

33. AR EE (&)

E b 55K

S

ARABARETHREE =ZFFRABK
EBRASTEZ2106%E O A ik B4

MR EERETANE BT FREMRN
HEBZZAFTAHNZS5E (RBE
% B8) IE/M15ER S B R NEFEH KT E
(TEFI2ZEBERERMNRE B
BEGEFRERETSERE EERT
R LA & 3% A #0.50 T AR ©

REEBZNEEEAARE LEZEY
BGEERRAETSE - HRER 28
BB AT 7 &8 - AR T 2 8 B E LA & 1
ERBIEEALEE Bt RERES
SETERFEI2R R FEIR K AEEE
TEHET B EEMBRERSD M2
ZRERTEARAFTEFABREZE
BmEE REEBRANGEEHUATFE
HE - EAFEZEHNREERTZRA

R o NAE E2009F38318 IEFEE 45
BURBEANEREATFEEHELAZE
B #) BB #4,496,0007T (20084 : & #&
61,789,0007T) ©
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

34.

The fair value of the notes at each of the balance sheet date
was calculated using The Monte Carlo Simulation Model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

33. TR EE (&)

REFEER RERZATFEERRERE
EREAAE - ZRB 2@ ABNT:

2009 2008
Stock price fx (& HK$0.151 HK$0.270
Exercise price TR (E HK$0.500 HK$0.600
Expected volatility T8 B R @ 87.75% 76.47%
Stock borrowing cost f& 17 18 & Ak AN 0.11% 0.91%
Expected dividend yield T8 Hi iR B a 0% 0%
Market yield 5 10.34% 10.13%

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the

34 EEBIEAE

EXEBARBEZAKRBOINGEEEER

consolidated balance sheet and the movements during the BRER ZSHEXNBIRAEE 2 ED)
year are as follows: R
Property,
plant and Intangible
equipment assets Total
nx BE
R®HE EBREE ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2007 7R2007F4A1H 2,426 25,351 27,777
Exchange realignment b 5 A 216 2,101 2,317
Charged (credited) to REWZSERF

consolidated income HBR (5t A)

statement 128 (1,497) (1,369)
Effect of change in tax rate MERB2ZE (602) (6,132) (6,734)
At 31 March 2008 and R2008F3A31H &

1 April 2008 2008F4H1H 2,168 19,823 21,991
Exchange realignment P H A 47 427 474
Credited to consolidated FeEWmKxPETA

income statement (57) (700) (757)
At 31 March 2009 20093 H31H 2,158 19,550 21,708
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34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

35.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses of approximately HK$75,929,000 (2008:
HK$9,586,000) available to offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unrecognised tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Such unrecognised tax losses will be carried
forward for five years from respective dates of origination.

34. EEHRERME (&)

REER  AEETBEEERTETRZ
KRR IBAEIBL BB %75,929,0007T
(20084 : # #9,586,0007T ) ° 1 7 K 2K
wA TR AR B E R R 2 TIBE
BRERECEHBEAE ZEABRZHIE
BIEAREARFZAFTFRNLEE-

SHARE CAPITAL 35. k&
2009 2008 2009 2008
Number Number HK$'000 HK$'000
of shares of shares
ROEE R EE BETR BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.07 each &REEE#0.07L2
R
Authorised: AT
At the beginning and REPRER
the end of the year 7,999,999,999  7,999,999,999 350,000 560,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At the beginning of the year REA) 4,082,324,554  3,620,084,734 285,763 253,406
Issue of shares upon exercise of 471 B R B B 1T AR D
share options - 77,200,000 - 5,404
Issue of shares upon conversion of 3 A ZEEETRA
convertible notes - 385,039,820 - 26,953
Shares repurchased and BB Rt AR (B EE)
cancelled (Note) (100,000) - (7) -
At the end of the year RER 4,082,224,554  4,082,324,554 285,756 285,763

Note:

On 11 August 2008, the Company repurchased 100,000 of its
ordinary shares at HK$0.099 each on the Stock Exchange. The
highest price per share at that day is HK$0.12 and the lowest
price per share is HK$0.097. The aggregated consideration paid
was HK$9,900. All the shares repurchased were cancelled upon
repurchase and accordingly the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced by the nominal value of these shares.

B &E -

MR2008F8A11H + A A REERFTEMQ
100,000/% & A E (B B #50.0997T & i@ A% © 3%
AzERESEBABEKO1N2TRERKIEKES
75 #0.0977T ° B 8RB BB #9,9007T ° FT
ERLOENEABEEEN FHARF D%
TRAEHEEREZSRHOZEE-
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SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
year.

All the above shares rank pari passu in all respects with other
shares in issue.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include full-time employees (including
executive Directors), consultants, agents and advisors of the
Group. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 3
October 2006.

Terms of Share Option Scheme

As at 31 March 2009, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 296,007,405,
representing approximately 7.25% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2009 and the
date of this Annual Report. Without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders, the total number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, and the aggregate
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time.

35.

36.

A ()

FR ARRZHBRBAMERE HE
FBEIARDEEM ETES -

BB BEMEETROERE
THEZREER-

B

RARRE —BERERE ([FERERT
2l]) BB R EEHALEZ K INE
EIEL BRIz 6 B2 EE - BRETE
ZEBERSEEREASBE  2BES
(BEHTES) BFAA RERERM-
AN ST 21 2 7 2006F 10 3B A5 -

BB IR R AT Bl Z R

7200943 A318 1R K BB A #E &t &) AT
BEITRD 4280 5296,007,4050% » HHE R
20093 A31H R AFHETIBHARRE
BITIALT 25%  RBARRRMEE L
HEERT - IR EERRRERT IR TR Z B
R 2B BEEBBARRRER
B2 BTN Z10%  RAMEAEE R
ERERALTE FI% 2 B ES R 2
BHAHTFBBARRREMAERE
BTG Z1% °
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 36. BRRE (&)

Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant an
option to subscribe for the shares of the Company granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the "Offer”). The
Share Option Scheme may be exercised at any time for
a period of ten years commencing after a period of six
months from the date of acceptance of the Offer, subject to
the conditions imposed by the board of the Directors. The
exercise price of the option shares would be at a price equal
to the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average closing prices
of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of
the options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

No share option was granted during the year ended
31 March 2009. For the year ended 31 March 2008,
337,372,000 options were granted under the Share Option
Scheme to the eligible participants of the Group.

BT & R (&)

EMREBREFERORBBARAK
zBRE(EL])BEABNRE-B
st E RN EEAR L AL @A
HEZ & T FRERERETE HERXR
REFSREZGME -BREZITEER
BER T zB8=RE  (INROBEREZ
AR REXMAINARBRD 2
Wi fE: (NERELERE AR AE
EEBABIMABARARD 2 FHWRT
& (i) o EvE -

REE2009F3A31HILFE  HERH
B R - RELZ=2008F3 8318 IE4F
B RBEERESINAERSER2H
R H 2 B A% ££337,372,00015 ©
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share
options held by category of participants (including Directors)
under Share Option Scheme and movements in such
holdings during the year.

36. B (&)
BERRREET B >R E ()

TREERBEBRENS SBH28EE
(BREF)FEARABEREZFBR

FAREHEEZHEHIBEN -

Lapsed/ At 31 March Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Date of Granted Exercise cancelled 2008 and cancelled period price of
Category of grant of At 1 April during during during 1 April during At 31 March of share share
participant share options 2007 the year the year the year 2008  Redlassification the year 2009 options options
R2008%
3831 R
#RE R2007% FRER/ 20085 FREH/ 1#2009%
SREEH EHAH 4A1R FREL ERfTR i ] 418 ENAR HH# 3A318 BREGESE  BREGEE
(Note 1)
(K1)
Directors 13 April 2005 57,200,000 - (57,200,000) - - - - - 12 October 2005 to 0.365
3 2005545138 3 April 2007
200581081262
200754738
2 April 2007 - 43,650,000 = = 43,650,000 (9,000,000) = 34,650,000 18 October 2007 to 0.530
200754728 1 October 2010
200751041882
2010£10A18
15 October 2007 - 14,960,000 - - 14,960,000 (3,000,000 - 11,960,000 1 May 2008 to 0.514
20074108158 14 April 2011
2008F5818%
2011548148
Continuous contract 13 April 2005 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - - - - 12 October 2005 to 0.365
employees 20055443138 3 April 2007
HEANHEE 2005%108128F
200754838
18 November 2005 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - - - - 17 May 2006 to 0.400
200511418 3 April 2007
2006558178
200754438
2 April 2007 - 97,270,000 - (6,240,000) 91,030,000 (6,000,000) (1,050,000) 83,980,000 18 October 2007 to 0530
200754828 1 October 2010
20075104188 F
2010510818
15 October 2007 - 39,700,000 - (1,120,000) 38,580,000 (2,000,000) (350,000) 36,230,000 1 May 2008 to 0514
20075108158 14 April 2011
200855R1HE
201154R14R
2 November 2007 - 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000 - (50,000) 1,250,000 10 May 2008 to 0.632
2007511728 1 May 2011
20085581082
011%5A18
4 January 2008 - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 17 July 2008 to 0.382
200851548 3 July 2011
2008F7A178%

20115738
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 36. IR (&)
- - A =)
Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued) ERESTE 2R (&)
Lapsed/ At 31 March Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Date of Granted Exercise cancelled 2008 and cancelled period price of
Category of grant of At 1 April during during during 1 April during At 31 March of share share
participant share options 2007 the year the year the year 2008  Redlassification the year 2009 options options
H2008%
38318 R
#BRE #2007% FRKR/ 20085 FRER/ #2095
$REER RERA 4418 FREY ERfTE it ] 4818 ENiAE i 38310 BREGENE  BREGRE
(Note 1)
()
Consultants 11 October 2006 56,000,000 = (10,000,000) = 46,000,000 = = 46,000,000 11 April 2007 to 0.385
EAA 20065107118 10 April 2010
20075451182
201054108
2 April 2007 - 47,382,000 - (3,000,000) 44,382,000 15,000,000 - 59,382,000 18 October 2007 to 0.530
200754728 1 October 2010
20075108188 %
2010510A18
15 October 2007 - 13,750,000 - - 13,750,000 5,000,000 - 18,750,000 1 May 2008 to 0514
2007108158 14 April 2011
2008F5A18%
201154R14R8
Agerts 2 April 2007 - 27,760,000 - (1,220,000 26,540,000 - - 26,540,000 18 October 2007 to 0530
RE 200754A28 1 October 2010
2007107188 %
2010510818
15 October 2007 - 10,000,000 - (240,000) 9,760,000 - - 9,760,000 1 May 2008 to 0.514
20074104158 14 April 2011
2008F541RZ
011547148
Advisors 2 April 2007 - 16,090,000 - (1,130,000) 14,960,000 - (1,350,000) 13,610,000 18 October 2007 to 0.530
B 200754828 1 October 2010
2007108186 %
2010510818
15 October 2007 = 5,510,000 = (370,000) 5,140,000 = (450,000) 4,690,000 1 May 2008 to 0.514
2007108158 14 April 2011
200855R1HE
201154R14R
123,200,000 337,372,000 (77,200,000) (13,320,000) 370,052,000 - (3,250,000) 366,802,000
Exercisable at the end
of the year 366,802,000
RERT F1T8E
Weighted average
exercise price 038 0.52 037 0.53 0.50 0.53 0.53 0.50

EFHaER
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company's share capital.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The fair value of the Company’s shares at date of issue of
share options during the year ended 31 March 2008 was
HK$0.53 on 2 April 2007; HK$0.45 on 15 October 2007,
HK$0.57 on 2 November 2007 and HK$0.38 on 4 January
2008 respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the estimated fair
value of options granted on 2 April 2007, 15 October 2007,
2 November 2007 and 4 January 2008 are approximately
HK$26,456,000, HK$5,062,000, HK$110,000 and
HK$1,589,000 respectively.

The weighted average share price of the Company at the
dates of exercise of the share options during the year ended
31 March 2008 was at a range of HK$0.50 to HK$0.77.
None of the share options have been exercised during the
year ended 31 March 2009.

36. B (M)

BT E R (&)
B &E -

1. BEEZEBHARLEHETESE
a1k °

2. EARRABRENR BITAKRIART
e R 3R B A AR By By - BB AR 2 1T
EEAFEHAE-

BRETEETHRAAZTAEREINK
RRELEREZHER -

REE2008F3 A31H L FERITRAE
2B ARERD 2 AFEDFIR2007F
4828 A& ¥0.5370  FR20074F 10815
B &7&#0.4550 : 72007411 A28 &8
#0.577C X R2008F 1 H4H &7 #0.38
JTo

REZ2008FE3A318 IEFE - H20074F
4F2H 20074108158 * 20074E11 A
28 K%2008F1 4B R H 2 B #E 2 14
st A E D B4 A B #26,456,0007T
75 5,062,0007T ~ 75 ¥ 110,000t M 75
1,589,0007T

RELZE2008F3A831H ILFE - RIEME
TEBEH - AAR Z NEFEEREN T
#0.507C £ B #0.777T - PR =20094F 3
A31BIEEE HEEREEITE
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37.

38.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT
SCHEMES

In April 2005, the Group enrolled all non-PRC employees in
a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
under the control of trustees. The retirement benefit cost
for the MPF charged to the consolidated income statement
represents contributions payable to the fund by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in PRC have participated
in defined contribution retirement schemes organised by
the relevant local government authorities in PRC. All PRC
employees are entitled to an annual pension equal to a fixed
portion of their ending basic salaries at their retirement
dates. The Group is required to make specific contributions
to the retirement schemes at a rate of 12% to 25% percent
of basic salary of its PRC employees and have no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions made.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 24 October 2007, the Group entered into an agreement
with an independent third party for the disposal of 51%
equity interest in Dehua Guang An, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, for consideration of approximately
HK$31,789,000 (RMB28,600,000). After the disposal, the
Group remained 49% equity interests in Dehua Guang An.
Dehua Guang An ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group
but became an associate of the Group as the Group is in a
position to exercise significant influence over Dehua Guang
An.

On 31 December 2007, the Group entered into agreements
with independent third parties for the disposal of 100%
equity interests in Hefei Tian An Trading Company Limited
(“Tian An Trading”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, for an aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB134,320,000 (approximately HK$149,297,000). The
consideration is settled by the purchaser by way of jointly
assuming the debt owed by the Group to Tian An Trading
under the debt transfer agreement.

37.

38.

18 53R 1K 18 R 51 &

R2005F4 8 AREBETHEFT A IEF
BELEBHMUMABLHE (BB
2l]) - BEESFHECEERALZERTA
Pt EBESHAFTAE -REARERA
Mk 2 RIKBRIKAEREBIRRES
AERAEE L ERNES Z 3K

AEERTEEEZHBARD 20T
BA Bt 77 BT 8 2 it 2 E B FUR
Ketdl-FETEEEEEZAAENE
ERNERARBHBZEARF S ZBEELH
ERERFE AKREARTREEER
e 212%E25% M R KRGS B % 5
R RIER 2 FEHFIN AEEY &
H AR KRR R 2 AR -

aef= ) PN

MR2007F 108248 AEBH—FF
NE=ZRRIM—BHE AREBLHBE
31,789,0007T ( A R #28,600,0007T )
ERLER (AEE2EWBAR)51%
RE-REEE NEBREBBELER
A9% Bt - B ELR T B AAEE 2B
AR BAKARNER 2 BE R REARE
ER i E BRI EREATE-

MR2007F12A318H  NEERB T F
ZHAY—BE NEAREHARE
134,320,000t (4978 #149,297,0007T )
HEARRZKEAR AR ([REE
Z|) (AEBE2EHMBRGT) 100%H
B HRREDNREGEERESEZRG RN
HAAREAEEHRALKEEZEBH AR
e
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. HEM B AT (&)

The net assets of these subsidiaries at the date of disposal REERZEWB AT S REMT :
were as follows:
Dehua Tian An
Guang An Trading Total
EER AERE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT BT

Assets (liabilities) disposed of: HECEE(AE):

Property, plant and equipment  #1%  BE k& & 49,458 = 49,458
Trade and other receivables g5 &HE M EWRIE 21,622 5,048 26,670
Inventories e 2,189 - 2,189
Bank balance and cash RITEHBR MRS 3,752 2 3,754
Trade and other payables B 5 & H i FE S 5B (5,167) (10,225) (15,392)
Amount due from (to) fellow e (FELS) R R M B

subsidiaries RN RIFRIB (13,531) 149,297 135,766
Tax liabilities HIBEAE (985) = (985)
Bank borrowings RITEE (28,899) = (28,899)
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFE 28,439 144,122 172,561
Goodwill disposed of HEZEE 8,628 11,157 19,785
Remaining interests in FHERRBT 2R

disposed company (13,935) - (13,935)
Gain (loss) on disposal WK (E1E) 8,657 (5,982) 2,675
Total consideration B E 31,789 149,297 181,086
Satisfied by: XRAR:
Cash consideration HERE 31,789 = 31,789
Assuming the debt owed AEREEEL

by the Group - 149,297 149,297

31,789 149,297 181,086

Net cash inflow arising on HERELY

disposal: HEMAFR
Cash consideration BeRE 31,789 = 31,789
Bank balances and HEZRITEHR KR

cash disposed of (3,752) (2) (3,754)

28,037 (2) 28,035
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38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. HEM B AT (&)

The impact of disposed subsidiaries on the Group results in HEMBRAABAEEARFE BTN
the current and prior periods is as follow: MEEITENT:

2008

HK$'000
BT T

Revenue A 83,427
Expenses 53 (81,683)
Profit before tax R 354 A 4 A1 1,744
Income tax expense FTSHi X (581)

1,163
Cash flows from disposed subsidiaries: REEHEMBARZHRERE:
Net cash flows from operating activities REEDEFE2HSREFHE 16,994
Net cash flows used in investing activities KREGHFFAZRESMEFE (150)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEFHMAZRERE TR (13,536)

3,308

39. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 30. TEHRERF

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group acquired RE Z2008F3A31B EFE A& E
exclusive rights of purchase from an ex-associate — Yan Bian LA B %975 112,282,0007T 1) A B & A
Hua Xin Oil Exploitation Company Limited at a consideration Al —EEMENAAREERATWE
of approximately HK$12,282,000. Up to 31 March 2009, BREBER - B E£2009F3A31H 1k
the Group paid approximately HK$8,947,000 (2008: AEEE X #7%%8,947,0007T (2008
HK$8,947,000) with the balance remaining in trade and F : #5#8,947,0007T ) ' REEEFTAER 5

other payables. K B 8 A5 RRIE -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. HEBEEA LI 2R S

(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere, the Group entered into (a) BREMIBPOBEEIN NEEEFEH
the following material related party transactions. EATETIIERRZ G

2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Balance at the balance sheet REER 2 &%
date:
Amount due from a shareholder [ Ug — 5 B & /A &) i 38 X I8
of an associate (included in (BREEESREMEYW
trade and other receivables) HIE) —KE@)
— Note (a) 3,407 -
Amounts due to associates FEA- Bk & R B ZKIB
— Note (a) — B E(a)
Dehua Guang An mlEEZR 4,254 4,358
Fuzhou An Ran Ju Pipeline BMNLZAEEBRR
Gas Co., Ltd. BRAA 30,204 16,339
34,458 20,697
Loan from a minority shareholder 2k & — i B A 7] D 8 AR R
of a subsidiary (included in ZLEF(BRTEESRH
trade and other payable) ftb AT FRIE) — Kt E(b)
— Note (b)
Ningde City Construction R HERIKRE QA
Investment Co., Ltd. 8,025 -
Amount of transactions FARH R
during the year
Dehua Guang An BlLER
Sales of Gas Fuel to HEMRT - 578
Purchase of Gas Fuel from BEMRE - 75
Interest payable to & 2 A B - 943
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. EHEBEEALI 2R S

(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) EEEBAEME

Remuneration for key management personnel which
comprises mainly the Directors is disclosed in Note
13(a).

Note:

(@)  The balances due from a shareholder of an associate/
associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(b)  The balances loan from a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary is unsecured, interest bearing at 5.58% per
annum and repayable in March 2010.

41. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS

(@) The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties, as set out
in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
under operating lease arrangements with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from three to eight
years. The terms of the leases generally also require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the prevailing
market conditions.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease
payments.

TIREBAR (EBRER) ZHe
PP EE13() AR R -

() WR—MBEATRE HEA
AZEBABIER  2ORARE
S -

(b) HFE—HHBARLHERRZE
HEER BB - 1R F B %E558%
SR NAER201063/EE -

41. KREHEZH
(a) ZmEEESREHEA

AR S B TS MR I RE20FT & - AN &
EREBEEEHELHEBEREREY
X KENGREEFHA=EN\F-
HEFRR —RITERBEFIZE R
mBER BRXRERE REEH
HEHE-

REER AEERBEFITAEAH
ZARRREHERWAT -

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Within one year —F R 404 254
In the second to fifth years, EFE_EZFERF

inclusive (BPHEEEMSE) 1,422 610

After five years hF% 28 16

1,854 880
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41. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$380,000 (2008: HK$301,000).
Properties held at the balance sheet date are expected
to generate rental yields of 1% to 10% (2008: 1% to
2%) on an ongoing basis. All of the properties held
have committed tenants for the next six (2008: seven)
years.

The Group as lessee

Certain office properties leased by the Group are under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms of one to three years. Rents are
fixed for the relevant lease term. The minimum lease
payment under operating lease for rented premises
during the year ended 31 March 2009 is HK$4,152,000
(2008: HK$3,139,000).

At the balance sheet date, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due
as follows:

(a)

(b)

4. REBES T H (&)

FAEEESHAA (F)

RAFE MEASUAN BB
380,0007T (20084F : i #301,000
TC) cREE BB 2 TR R
BEER1%ZE10% (2008F 1 1% E
2% )2 HERIFHR -FTEWER K
RNE (2008F : F)EBAAEM
}E-o

REBERERA

BIEEEHERHE  AEERESR
THAEME LEAEEALFH
A—E=-F -RIABEEHRES
RN o B E2009F3H318 IF
FERAEVERECERE &
K< &B%4,152,0007T (2008
4 5%3,139,0007T) °

REER AEBEREBETEIEL
BHEZRRKEHESAENT :

2009 2008

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within one year —F R 1,814 1,836
In the second to fifth years, FE_ZFRHF

inclusive (BiEEREME) 3,902 1,193

After five years hF & 5,476 =

11,192 3,029
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42. COMMITMENTS 42, &I
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Contracted for but not provided EENERNGE B
in the consolidated ok ERE
financial statements
Capital expenditure in respect of: BEARRE:
Investment in a subsidiary R B R RIEE - 30,000
Investment in an associate REEE R EIRE 27,277 =
Commitments in respect of BN 2 e
the acquisition for:
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB KRR 110,145 302,783
137,422 332,783
43. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 43, BEEBEE
Assets with the following carrying amounts have been THEAEBEZEEEERUEAR TA
pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group: EEBRITBEZER:
2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Property, plant and equipment Y- B k& 16,336 14,477
Investment properties WA 11,458 8,370
Intangible assets — exclusive rights of ~ R EE - BRLEEEF
operations 51,461 52,176
Prepaid lease payments in respect of M EAECEMNES
land use rights 22,415 17,860
101,670 92,883
In addition to the above, the Group has also pledged its B DA _EFRratioh - A& B 78 B R 20094 K
rights to receive fee income of certain subsidiaries in favour 20083 A3 1B EE TH B A AIWE
of banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group as BTHRITUERETAKRERITEELZ

at 31 March 2009 and 2008 respectively. BR
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44. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(a)

On 26 April 2009, the Company has entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with China Gas Holdings
Limited (the “Purchaser”), whose shares are listed on
the main board of Stock Exchange and is independent
third party, for the disposal of the entire share capital
of Brilliant China Investments Limited (”Brilliant
China”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and its loan incurred by Brilliant China to the Company
for a consideration of approximately HK$323,664,000
for cash. Brilliant China held 100% equity interests
in Zhongmin Zhongran and the main assets held by
Zhongmain Zhongran is 45.45% of the equity interests
in Fujian An Ran.

On 26 April 2009, Beijing Zhongmin Gas Company
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
has entered into another sale and purchase agreement
with Zhongran Gas (Shenzhen) Company Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Purchaser, for the
disposal of the 3.55% of the equity interests in Fujian
An Ran for a consideration of RMB40,000,000 for
cash.

Those two sales and purchase agreements represented
the disposal of 49% equity interests in Fujian An Ran
Group at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$381.8 million for cash. Pursuant to the aforesaid
sales and purchase agreements, the Purchaser has
undertaken to pay or procure Zhongmin Zhongran
to pay the outstanding registered capital of Fujian
An Ran in the sum of RMB80,000,000 following the
completion of the Disposal. The Disposal has been
approved by the special general meeting of the
Company held on 3 June 2009. The final amount of
the actual gain or loss as a result of the Disposal will be
determined as at the completion of the Disposal.

The net assets of Brillant China and Zhongmin
Zhongran as at 31 March 2009 were as follows:

44, EE HEEE

(a)

2009F4 8268 AR F EHAH
MRZERBRAR(EH])EH
LAIR & R {E 48 %323,664,000
THEARARAl 22 EK B A A
Brilliant China Investments Limited
(IBrilliant China|) 2 2 28B& &N &
Brilliant Chinaf K R AlEEL 2 E
Rl EEH#H BEAZKRORN
BRXER LMY ABLIE=F-
Brilliant Chinal B RAFA MRz 2T
B MPRAPARFECEELE
FE % SR4A5.45 % AR HE o

MR2009F4F26H KRR Z & &
WEARILRFRRMRAR A A HE
BEAZEEWNBARARFTMRARE
X¥(FRIERAREFRURESR
B AR #40,000,000T HERER
MN3.55%WEMEILE — D EEWH

N
=
R

ZMhEEmMELR TN WREER
{8 #4778 #381,800,0007T H & 18 &
TREEIO%BE-RIELMEE
WE BEAEREN T HESE
% A SR E AR R AR S A i R
SR ZEEZAAMEREHAR
#80,000,0007C ° HE ETHE N A
A RIE2009%6 A3 H &1 2 R
RS LEME- BLEMmM B2
SREBEBEBFRIEBR TS K
BE-

Brilliant China & A R A AL 20094F
SAMBZEEFEWNT

HK$'000
BT T
Available-for-sales financial assets AEEESmEE 22,710
Bank balances and cash RITHEH LR 203
Trade and other payables B 5 K E b S FRI8 (22,834)

79
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44, POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2009, Brillant
China and Zhongmin Zhongran contributed loss of
approximately HK77,000 to the Group's profit for the
year, contributed approximately HK$80,000 to the
Group’s net operating cash flows, paid approximately
HK$22,707,000 and approximately HK$22,785,000 in
respect of investing activities and financing activities
respectively.

On 11 May 2009, the Company announced that Beijing
Zhongmin Gas Company Limited (“Beijing Zhongmin”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, will make
a capital injection of RMB24,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$27,273,000) into Shenzhen
Yongheng Lecai Technology Development Company
Limited (“Yongheng Lecai”) on the date before the
2nd anniversary date of its incorporation. Yongheng
Lecai, in which Beijing Zhongmin owns 40% interest, is
making an application for operation of welfare lottery
related business. Upon the completion of the capital
injection, Beijing Zhongmin will pay up all its portion of
capital contribution.

On 11 May 2009, the Company, as lender, entered
into the loan agreement with Yongheng Development
Corporation Limited (“Yongheng Development”) (the
holding company of Yongheng Development Group
(Shenzhen) Company Limited which hold 60% equity
interests in Yongheng Lecai), as borrower, pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to loan an amount
of HK$41,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB36,080,000) to Yongheng Development for a term
of 1 year commencing on 12 May 2009 and ending on
11 May 2010 at an interest rate of 5% per annum. The
loan will be used for the contribution of the registered
capital of Yongheng Lecai.

On 15 June 2009, the Company has redeemed and
repaid the convertible notes of US$20,000,000 in full.

44,

+
i

(a)

ERRE®R(H)

(%)

HE2009F3 8318 It FE -
Brilliant China &z R R A& 15K
SERANFE 2 BELHAE%T7,000
T ARAREBRZEERS R
= )F B ER 45 180,000t ' I 5t
EHEREEZHRMETEH D B &
5} 4975 22,707,000 & 4976 ¥
22,785,0007T °

200958118 KRR E M &
RAIZEZEMBARIERPRAR
BRAR (MHERFRE]) BRI
KELFEZRAEFR AR ([KE
2452 | ) B B B A Al A ok 1E 2465
SEFE AR #24,000,0007T (HE R
475 8627,273,0007T ) ° KIELEF IE
CHRBLERMNEEZMRBEER It
RPEREAEA0% R - TE T
K& - ERPRBEINEEZFEE

35

MR2009F5A11H AR A (fEA
EFRAN)EXEEREEFRA A
(IxEER]) CkEEREE OF
INBRAR ZERAF  BiFEK
B 60%IRE) (ERERA)ET
SN ERE B AARRE R K
15 2% R 42 75 %41,000,0007T (4R
BN # A R%36,080,000T) 2 &
X B200945H 12H #£ Z£201045
ANMBIEAH—F FFHE5EZ
SEFBRENELYAMELAZ

M2009%56 A158 AR T B BH
fE [ )% {23820,000,0003 JT 2 A] #&
% E 4 -



TRERFRAF
2008-20094F &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %= & Bf #& 3% 3R Mf 5%

For the year ended 31 March 2009 # £2009F3A31H L F &

45. BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION OF THE 45. AR Rz EEEERER
COMPANY
Balance sheet information of the Company at the balance AARIREE B EEABERERBIE:

sheet date includes:

2009 2008
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and I ERE S
equipment 445 793
Investments in subsidiaries REEB AR ZRE 508,992 508,992
Available-for-sale financial AEHESREE
assets 25,521 -
534,958 509,785
Current assets MEEE
Other receivables H {th e I FRIB 697 669
Amounts due from JE U B [ A R ZRIB
subsidiaries 46 117,164 116,555
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss CREE - 102,042
Bank balances and cash SRITHEB MRS 21,499 46,129
139,360 265,395
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables H e {5 FROB 2,644 3,600
Tax liabilities RIEBAE - 5,042
Convertible notes EIEAY &8 162,374 =
165,018 8,642
Net current (liabilities) assets ne (AR EEFE (25,658) 256,753
Total assets less current BEERRBEE
liabilities 509,300 766,538
Capital and reserves IR K &
Share capital fi% 2 285,756 285,763
Reserves ] 47 223,544 322,897
Total equity AR 509,300 608,660
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE
Convertible notes Al 2 % E 5 - 157,878

509,300 766,538
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46. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

47.

The balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on

demand.

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The following table sets out the components of the reserves
of the Company and the movements thereof during the

current and prior year.

46. FEW KB A Bl K E

B REER 2ERRNEREEE-

47. KA T HE

TREHARA ZFEBZARBO RE
RAFERBEFEZES-

Share-based  Investment
Share  Contributed Capital compensation  valuation Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BB RE
R RE BEHER BhRffE  <BMekE HERA ZitER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL BETT BETL BETL BETT BETL BETL
At 1 April 2007 12007F4 418 297,782 101,688 7,482 10,912 - (390,708) 27,156
Loss for the year and total recognised ~ FRBERFAT ERZ
income and expenses for the year BRARET - - - - - (46,891) (46,891)
Issue of shares upon exercise of fIEERERETRG
share options 29,812 - - (6,663) - - 23,149
Issue of shares on conversion of HBRTRRERERTRE
convertible notes 287,932 - - - - - 287,932
Recognition of equity-settled IEHEERN AER Z AR
share-based payments - - - 31,551 - - 31,551
Effect on share options forfeited RRERE 2 - - - (1,425) - 1,425 =
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 #2008F3A318 K
20084718 615,526 101,688 7,482 34,375 - (436,174) 322,897
Loss on fair value changes of ARHESREEATE
available-for-sale financial assets 2B ER - - - - (69,014) = (69,014)
Loss for the year and total recognised ~ FRBBRFRTERLZ
income and expenses for the year BRARRZ - - - - - (32,002) (32,002)
Share repurchased and cancelled BRBE REHE 2z RH 3) = = = = = (€)}
Recognition of equity-settled NEREERNAER 2R
share-based payments - - - 1,666 - - 1,666
Effect on share options forfeited R EERRE 2 52 - - - (326) = 326 =
At 31 March 2009 72009534318 615,523 101,688 7,482 35,715 (69,014) (467,850) 223,544
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47. X TE)#EE (&)

GEE

47. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

BEHBBREAQAREEITROEERD WE
HENBRARZEAEFEZ 2B REGRE
1981F R AVE (K1EE])  RARIENR T ERT
AINAEEHAKTIRSRSRE L 5K :
mAaRHEHEEOARRREIR R HAE
IR % & ok m] BE R RE(E 1B B HB(ETS ¢ ()R &)
ZEENEHAETELIRNEEE BETR
AEBDHERZ B

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net
assets of the underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a company may not declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if
there are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the Company is,
or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; (ii) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

48. FTENE QT

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 M2009563A31H ARG ZEEHBA

March 2009 are as follows: AlFENT
Place of Capital Group
incorporation/ contributed effective
Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
EMAL rEE
ARER 33 B rEETE  HEBER E# BE  IEER
Brilliant China BVI Us$1 100 100 - Investment holding
SRRELHS E REAR
ERARREERAR PRC* US$60,000,000 100 100 - Investment holding
("Beijing Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.") R E* 60,000,000% 7T RAER
ERARARESERAF PRC HK$30,000,000 100 = 100 Investment holding
(“Zhongmin Zhongran I 7%30,000,0007T BREER
Trading Co., Ltd.)
BYTERARRERAR PRC* RMB1,000,000 100 - 100 Distribution and supply of
("Mian Zhu City Han Wang HE* ARH1,000,0007 Gas Fuel
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.") PHREERR
BUTARRARERERLRA PRC RMB16,308,800 100 - 100 Distribution and supply of
("Mian Zhu City Hong Sen e AR%16,308,8007 Gas Fuel
Natural Gas Co., Ltd.") DHREERE
ROMREBREZEBREERT  PRC RMB7,633,400 100 - 100 Installation of Gas Fuel
("Mian Zhu City Long Teng R AE#7,633,4007T distribution facilities

Gas Installation Co., Ltd.")

KRMREERIE




Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
Annual Report 2008-2009

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %2 & Bf & ¥R 3R Mf &%

For the year ended 31 March 2009 & 2200943 A31H It F /&

48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 48. TEMBAF (&)
Place of Capital Group
incorporation/ contributed effective
Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
BMAL/ A5H
AR B33t B AEEEE BERER EE M FEXH
H=hRRREERAR PRC* RMB5,000,000 100 - 100 Distribution and supply of
(ARE=EREMREREEAR) HE* ARH5,000,0007T Gas Fuel and installation
("Yan Ting Zhongmin Natural of Gas Fuel distribution
Gas Co., Ltd." facilities
(formerly known as PEREERER
“Longxing (Yan Ting) ERMAE BRI
Natural Gas Co., Ltd."))
LGP RREERD A PRC* RMB6,000,000 100 - 100 Distribution and supply of
(“Bei Chuan County Zhongmin R AR #6,000,00070 Gas Fuel
Gas Co., Ltd.") DHREERR
ERRRMEERAR PRC RIMB4,080,004 100 - 100 Distribution and supply of
("Chongging Zhongmin HEr AR4,080,0047 Gas Fuel and installation
Gas Co., Ltd.") of Gas Fuel distribution
facilities
PEREERER
ERXMAE BRI
ETETRMAERAR PRC* RMB10,000,000 80 - 80 Distribution and supply of
(“Fu Ping County Zhongmin HE* AK%10,000,0007C Gas Fuel
Gas Co., Ltd.") DHREERE
ARTRARERAE PRC RMB40,000,000 70 - 70 Sales and distribution of
(“Xi'an Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.") AR 40,000,000 Gas Fuel, design of Gas
Fuel pipeline and related
maintenance
BERETHEREE
Bl RREERAA PRC RMB18,180,000 55 - 55 Transportation, distribution
(“Huaihua Zhongmin Gas # AR%18,180,0007 and retail of bottled LPG
Co. Ltd.") RILAmRER R R
METE
EMRRBEERAR PRC RMB18,000,000 100 - 100 Transportation, distribution
("Guizhou Zhongmin Gas i AE#18,000,0007C and retail of bottled LPG
Co., Ltd.") RitRBRESRS R

BETE
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 48. FEME LT (&)

Place of Capital Group
incorporation/ contributed effective
Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
BRAL/ A5H
ARER B33t B AEEEE BERER =k M FEXH
ERRRMRERAR PRC RMB7,560,000 100 - 100 Transportation, distribution
("Yunnan Zhongmin Gas i AR7,560,0007 and retail of bottled LPG
Co., Ltd.") RLRRRER RO H R
BETE
Bl REBREHERAA PRC RMB26,000,000 100 - 100 Transportation, distribution
(“Huaihua Zhongmin Petroleum i AR #26,000,00070 and retail of bottled LPG
Gas Supply Co., Ltd.") RIcAmRERRD HER
BETE
BEERAREREBRRA PRC RMB220,000,000 100 = 100 Investment holding
(“Fujian Province An Ran 3 AR #220,000,0007T BREER
Gas Investment Co., Ltd.”)
BFRAMBERAR PRC RMB10,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
("Nanping An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.") ~ #E AR #10,000,0007T installation of Gas Fuel
distribution facilities
EBRIE
RETRMRERA A PRC RMB10,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
("Changle An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.") ~ #& AR #10,000,0007T installation of Gas Fuel
distribution facilities
EERIE
BNARERELZAEE PRC RMB600,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
MEERAR H AR #600,00070 installation of Gas Fuel
(“Fuzhou Development Area distribution facilities
Futie An Ran Pipe Gas Co., Ltd.") HERAREZRR
EERM
KRRREBRRERAR PRCH RMB10,000,000 90 - 90 Supply of Gas Fuel and
("Yong'an An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") R AE#10,000,0007T installation of Gas Fuel
distribution facilities
HERARRERMR
BERIE
BREMEAMEERDA PRC RMB3,550,000 51 - 51 Supply of Gas Fuel and
("Fuding City An Ran Gas H ARH3,550,0007C installation of Gas Fuel

Co. Ltd")

distribution facilities
HERTRERRE
BERIE
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 48. FEME LT (&)

Place of Capital Group
incorporation/ contributed effective
Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
2L/ S 3|
ARER B 3 5 AEEEE  ERER ¢ BE IEER
EERARRERAR PRCH RMB10,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Long Yan An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") A El* AK%10,000,0007 installation of Gas Fuel
distribution facilities
HERRARERMR
EERE
ERZACEMRBBRRA PRC RMB3,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Luoyuan An Ran Pipeline H AR3,000,0007 installation of Gas Fuel
Gas Co. Ltd") distribution facilities
HEMERERNE
BRI
BMRERZARRBERRA PRC RMB10,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Fuzhou Development Area i AK%10,000,0007 installation of Gas Fuel
An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") distribution facilities
HERRRERMR
EERE
ENRAREERAA PRC RMB90,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Zhangzhou An Ran Gas H AK%90,000,0007C installation of Gas Fuel
Co. Ltd") distribution facilities
HERRARERMR
BRI
EIRAMBERAR PRC RMB10,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Lianjiang An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") AK10,000,0007C installation of Gas Fuel
distribution facilities
HERARERMR
EER
HEEZARRBR AR PRC RMB20,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Mingging Guang An Natural H AR20,000,0007C installation of Gas Fuel
Gas Co. Ltd") distribution facilities
HERRREKRMRR
EERM
ERZARRERAR PRC RMB10,000,000 51 - 51 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Ningde An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") HE AR10,000,0007 installation of Gas Fuel

distribution facilities
HERAREZRR
e
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

48. T EMBE A7 (&)

49.

Place of Capital Group
incorporation/ contributed effective
Name of company establishment by the Group interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
BT/ A5E
ARER B 3 B AEEEE  ERER =8 BE  EEXH
ERRARRERAR PRC RMB1,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Zhangpu An Ran Gas Co. Ltd”) AR1,000,0007 installation of Gas Fuel
distribution facilities
BERIE
EBRAREERAA PRC RMB5,000,000 100 - 100 Supply of Gas Fuel and
(“Longhai An Ran Gas Co. Ltd") i AR5,000,0007 installation of Gas Fuel
distribution facilities
HERRARERMR
BBRIE
& Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC. # RAEZMZIINEEEDE-

s Sino-foreign joint equity enterprises registered in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year and at the end of the year.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
respective place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results or net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

The English names of the PRC companies referred to
above in this note represent management'’s best efforts in
translating the Chinese names of those companies as no
English names have been registered or available.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.

49,

o RPBEEMZFIREREDRE-

FAREEAFETHE WEARMER
TTERERSES -

i LB AR BERE SRR
BT/ PR ST b B A

ERMINZARRZMBRT  RHAE
BREXNEEFEEEATE - fMigH
HtBARIZHIE EFARREEE
FHERITE -

P AN P FE Y B 8 ) % R I A E T
Al 2 B XA - MU SR SR E) 1 B 4 18
REEBH AR R XAHENEE-
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The following is a summary of the published results and of the
assets, liabilities and minority interests of the Group for the five

financial years ended 31 March 2009.

AEBEBZE2009F3A31B IEAEFBFEEZ
BE AERJBBRREDS 2 TIREERZN

T

Year ended 31 March

BE3A3MBLEE
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT BT BT
RESULTS E¥
Turnover —E5 579,510 619,676 532,417 240,607 81,080
Profit (loss) before tax MR AR A (E5E) 51,283 (300,661) 49,381 (35,711) 27,435
Tax I (12,046) (8,739) (15,917) (19,400) (11,603)
Profit (loss) for the year REFERA (BE) 39,237 (309,400) 33,464 (55,111) 15,832
Attributable to: Tl fE4f :
Equity holders of AR EER
the Company FEA 35,902 (309,456) 22,123 (56,061) 15,336
Minority interests LR R 3,335 56 11,341 950 496
39,237 (309,400) 33,464 (55,111) 15,832
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND ¥E 86K
MINORITY INTERESTS DERRER
Total assets BERE 1,530,375 1,365,454 1,436,863 496,268 260,351
Total liabilities &R (828,237)  (648,469)  (867,309) (219,080) (92,952)
Net assets BEFE 702,138 716,985 569,554 277,188 167,399
Minority interests DHBRREER (68,810) (66,089) (66,033) (4,713) (1,834)



Egigid:

Distribution of business

(BLZE2009F3H31H)
(For the year ended 31 March 2009)

ong Min

Jb ¢l

Beijing City @

TERER

Zhong Min Zai Xia

it)I3EHE

Bei Ch Project

IE .

-
—y  KIEZEF
Yong Heng Le Cai

%y'lﬂi AEBEREEBMRIAE (BRLXAXBEBERES
Shenzhen City = OB R 9818 + A 20MEH A A7)
The Group’s investment on gas pipeline projects (The operation
of Fujian An Ran covers 8 out of 9 regions in Fujian
province, with a total of 29 project companies)

0 AEEERERECAMEIETEEAE (BLEE
BREELPRMECEHQAF2EER)
The Group’s investment on wholesale & retail of LPG projects
(Huai Hua project includes 2 projects: Huai Hua Zhong Min
& Huai Hua Petroleum Gas Supply Company)

© ~EEEREHMmER
(BREEZETR  HRER  KELFIEAR)
ANEBEBFEAT The Group’s other investment projects (including 3 projects:
The provinces in which the Group operates Yan Bian Zhong Min, Zhong Min Zai Xian and Yong Heng Le Cai)
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